
Scrutiny Children & 
Young People Sub-
Committee
Agenda

To: Councillor Robert Ward (Chair)
Councillor Sean Fitzsimons (Vice-Chair)
Councillors Sue Bennett, Mary Croos, Jerry Fitzpatrick, Maddie Henson, 
Helen Redfern, Leo Morrell, Elaine Jones, Dave Harvey, Paul O'Donnell and 
Victoria Maltby

Reserve Members: Margaret Bird, Sherwan Chowdhury, Patsy Cummings, 
Felicity Flynn, Patricia Hay-Justice, Ian Parker, Andy Stranack and 
David Wood

A meeting of the Scrutiny Children & Young People Sub-Committee which you 
are hereby summoned to attend, will be held on Tuesday, 5 February 2019 at 6.30 
pm in Council Chamber - Town Hall. A pre meet for Members only will take place 
in room F5 at 6:00pm

JACQUELINE HARRIS BAKER
Director of Law and Governance
London Borough of Croydon
Bernard Weatherill House
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA

Stephanie Davis 
02087266000 x84384
stephanie.davis@croydon.gov.uk
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings
Monday, 28 January 2019

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting.  
If you require any assistance, please contact the person detailed above, on the 
righthand side. 

N.B This meeting will be paperless. The agenda can be accessed online at 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings

Public Document Pack



2



AGENDA – PART A

1.  Apologies for absence 
To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the 
Committee.

2.  Minutes of the previous sub-committee meeting (Pages 5 - 10)
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 14 January 2019 as an 
accurate record.

3.  Disclosures of interest 
In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 
provisions of the Localism Act, Members and co-opted Members of the 
Council are reminded that it is a requirement to register disclosable 
pecuniary interests (DPIs) and gifts and hospitality to the value of which 
exceeds £50 or multiple gifts and/or instances of hospitality with a 
cumulative value of £50 or more when received from a single donor 
within a rolling twelve month period. In addition, Members and co-opted 
Members are reminded that unless their disclosable pecuniary interest 
is registered on the register of interests or is the subject of a pending 
notification to the Monitoring Officer, they are required to disclose those 
disclosable pecuniary interests at the meeting. This should be done by 
completing the Disclosure of Interest form and handing it to the 
Democratic Services representative at the start of the meeting. The 
Chair will then invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of Agenda item 3. Completed disclosure forms will be 
provided to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion on the Register of 
Members’ Interests.

4.  Urgent Business (if any) 
To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 
opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency.

5.  Action List Update 
Discussion on the actions arising from previous meetings.

6.  Cabinet Member Question Time: Cabinet member for Children 
Young People and Learning (Pages 11 - 24)
Question Time with the Cabinet Member for Children Young People 
Learning, Councillor Alisa Flemming.

7.  Education Quality and Standards (Pages 25 - 114)
To receive the summarised performance of children and young people 



4

in Croydon schools for the academic year 2017/2018.

8.  Education Budget 2019/20 (Pages 115 - 130)
To review the proposals for the Education Budget 2019/20.

9.  What Difference has this meeting made to Croydon's Children 
To discuss the finding of this meeting and the expectations for 
Croydon’s Children.

10.  Work Programme 2018/19 (Pages 131 - 134)
To note the Work Programme for the remainder of 2018/19 municipal 
year.

11.  Exclusion of the Press and Public 
The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 
to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting:

“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.”



Scrutiny Children & Young People Sub-Committee

Meeting of held on Monday, 14 January 2019 at 2.00 pm in The Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX

MINUTES

Present: Councillor Robert Ward (Chair);
Councillor Sean Fitzsimons (Vice-Chair);
Councillors Sue Bennett, Mary Croos, Jerry Fitzpatrick and Helen Redfern.
Paul O’Donnell and Elaine Jones

Also 
Present:

Di Smith, Independent Chair Croydon Safeguarding Children Board
Robert Henderson, Executive Director Children Families and Education 
Nicky Arrowsmith, Detective Chief Inspector Safeguarding South BCU
Elaine Clancy, Director of Quality and Governance, Croydon Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Apologies: Councillor Maddie Henson
Dave Harvey

PART A

1/19  Apologies for absence

Apologies received from Councillor Maddie Henson, Councillor Patsy 
Cummings attended in her absence.
Dave Harvey Co-Optee sent his apologies.

2/19  Minutes of the previous sub-committee meeting

The Minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2019 were signed as an 
accurate record.

3/19  Disclosures of interest

There was none.

4/19  Urgent Business (if any)

There was none.

5/19  Update on the development of Croydon's proposed new safeguarding 
arrangements

The Independent Chair of the Croydon Safeguarding Children Board (CSCB), 
Di Smith gave a presentation on the New Multi-agency Safeguarding 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Arrangements for Croydon as directed by the Children and Social Work Act 
2017.

The three named Statutory Safeguarding Partners (Police, Local Authority 
and Clinical Commissioning Group) would assume responsibilities previously 
held by the CSCB, with the new arrangements to be implemented by 
September 2019. Their role will be to lead and coordinate with each other to 
ensure that children and young people in Croydon were safe. Although the 
statutory guidance did not propose a requirement for education to be included 
in the partnership, the decision had been made for the Director of Education 
to be a member of the executive group as education was a key element in 
safeguarding children and young people. The partnership would also be 
responsible for publishing an evaluative annual report of the work carried out.

The purpose of the local arrangements was to ensure appropriate analysis of 
how the agencies worked together to ensure that children and young people 
in the borough were safeguarded. Information needed to be shared 
effectively, with learning from serious incidences embedded and that robust 
challenge took place as appropriate.

The partners will meet regularly and a decision had been made that having 
secured improvements over the last 18 months following the Ofsted 
Inspection and the subsequent implementation of the Children’s Improvement 
Plan, not to make drastic changes. Instead it would be used as an opportunity 
to improve safeguarding arrangements and to build upon what worked 
effectively by maintaining most of the current arrangements. Other Councils 
have taken a similar approach.

The partners had agreed to simplified processes through ensuring that their 
meetings were purposeful and led to stronger relationships with other 
partnerships such as the Safer Croydon Partnership, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Community Organisations. 

The proposal was for the partnership to lead by setting the safeguarding 
agenda and ensuring the relevant arrangements were in place. Meetings 
would be held throughout the year which will be learning led events to support 
multi-agency sharing of best practice and opportunity for scrutiny and 
challenge.

There will be three priority groups chaired by a member of the Safeguarding 
Partners Executive Group. In the first year they will be responsible for the 
development and delivery of the following priority areas:

 Neglect
 Vulnerable Young People, and 
 Children with Disabilities 

The partners would collaborate to ensure that the work around neglect was 
more effective. Children with Disabilities was an area that had not had enough 
focus with many issues identified in transitions. In relation to Vulnerable 
Young People, work was being done to address exploitation. The Vulnerable 

Page 6



Adolescence Review completed by the CSCB was due to be published 
following the meeting that took place to explore learning as a result of the 
cases that were reviewed.

A Member asked if there was any reason community groups were not 
included in the Executive Board. The work they were doing with young people 
in the borough was making a lot of difference to lives and in preventative work 
it would be beneficial to have their voice due to the impact they had in the 
community. Officers responded that the Executive Group would focus on 
challenges, drive the safeguarding arrangements as per legislation and would 
be where the detailed forensic conversations would take place. Broader 
partnership arrangements would include the groups that would be required to 
drive the aspirations of the partnership and it was anticipated that community 
organisations would be utilised within the priority groups. Including too many 
groups in the Executive Board was a problem of the old arrangement in that 
meetings became too cumbersome to manage.

It was questioned how the Sub-Committee would be able to assess the 
effectiveness of the partnership and how the partners would be able to hold 
each other to account. Officers replied that it was not prescribed in legislation 
to have an Independent Chair but Croydon had chosen to have this element 
as part of the arrangements in order to have external viewpoint. This structure 
would lend itself to the opportunity and ability for the partners to challenge 
each other and for an overseer to ensure accountability.

A Member questioned what mechanisms were in place for scrutiny of the 
partnership. Officers replied that the annual report that would be produced 
would be the mechanism to explore evidence of robustness. There would be 
themes that the Sub-Committee could challenge the partnership on such as 
the progress of the priorities for each year.

It was further asked how performance management would be measured. 
Officers responded that the current arrangements involved a learning and 
development activity with multi-agency staff trained and supported to conduct 
audits. They had found that by staff critiquing each other’s work, it enabled a 
positive approach to improvement and was a useful way to identify areas of 
development. The learning that professionals derived from the auditing 
process was valuable and key to driving changes. The idea behind the 
proposed broader partnership meetings would be uplifting events with 
opportunities to report and share good practices and outcomes.

A Member asked what thought has been given to issues such as gambling 
which should be encompassed under exploitation as it was a child protection 
concern and not a criminal one due to its addictive nature which could 
escalate to other serious issues. Officers responded that gambling was not an 
issue that had been identified as an area of risk but they were of the view that 
if a young person was identified as being affected, there were pathways of 
support available. Officers advised that they would follow up with the single 
point of contact teams to explore if there was an emerging issue. Officers 
further advised that the work of the CSCB was to share how to keep young 

Page 7



people safe and that partnerships can run campaigns where necessary to 
promote awareness.

In response to questions about how to appropriately embed learning at all 
levels of practice and co-ownership as it could be difficult to realise in 
actuality, officers acknowledged that the cascading of learning had been a 
challenge for the CSCB. The focus for the past 18 months had been on how 
to ensure learning was embedded by practitioners on a day to day basis. One 
of the key issues identified by the serious case review was that all agencies 
failed to appropriately recognise neglect. A new recording tool had been 
implemented to ensure that all partners were using the same framework and 
multiagency audits were being taken to ensure appropriate use and learning 
was taking place.

It was further questioned how the agencies would improve on identifying risks, 
effective use of information and sharing data given that the Wood Report 
identified the critical importance of effective and speedy sharing of information 
and data to protect and safeguard children with the expectation that unless 
there is specific legal impediment information must be shared

Officers responded that information sharing was one of the areas of focus for 
the Executive Board as it was imperative that the arrangements in place to 
ensure the sharing of information was robust and that the broader section of 
the partnership, i.e. health visitors, schools, voluntary organisations were 
confident on information sharing. Additionally, that the ability to pick up on 
serious issues were strong, intelligence to be triangulated and decisions made 
appropriately. Creating a culture amongst agencies to be more robust in their 
responses was an ongoing challenge. It was also pointed out that while 
information was shared and liaison took place with other authorities or 
agencies, only information that was proportionate or necessary as part of risk 
factors were shared.

The Chair thanked officers for their responses to questions and looked 
forward to welcoming them back at a future date to discuss progress once the 
safeguarding arrangements has been implemented.

 

What  difference has this meeting made to the children of Croydon

This meeting was an additional one item agenda meeting and the Chair was 
encouraged by the level of commitment displayed by Members of the Sub-
Committee and officers to attending an out of schedule meeting.

On reflection of the meeting itself, it was agreed that additional challenge of 
the proposed arrangements was worthwhile to remind those involved that new 
operating systems required appropriate robust challenge. Earlier input was 
good as it provided a chance to flag areas of concern at the earliest 
opportunity and this was crucial to improving outcomes for at risk children.

Page 8



The Sub Committee came to the following CONCLUSIONS:
1. The meeting was helpful as it enabled the Sub-Committee the opportunity 
to be informed and ask questions about the proposed Multi-agency 
Safeguarding Children Arrangements.
2. That it was important that the suggested format of the arrangements is 
acknowledged and endorsed
3. The format agreed evidenced the importance of the Executive Board to 
retain focus on challenges and drive safeguarding arrangements.
4.  That the points raised on effectiveness of learning and co-ownership be 
acknowledged.
5. It may be beneficial to scrutinise some of the themes of the priorities once 
the safeguarding arrangements had been implemented.

6/19  Work Programme 2018/19

The Chair raised a request for the Sub-Committee to convene a meeting at 
the end of the cycle of meetings to summarise the items that has been 
brought forward for scrutiny through the year, share lessons learned with 
areas identified for improvement and discuss possible items for scrutiny for 
the coming year.

The Sub-Committee NOTED the work programme for the remainder of the 
2018/19 municipal year.

The meeting ended at 3.21 pm

Signed:

Date:

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT/AMBITIOUS FOR CROYDON: 

The plans and recommendations in this report focus on ensuring that all Croydon’s 
children live a happy, healthy life, free from harm and that they have every 
opportunity to thrive and become fulfilled adults. 

For general release 

REPORT TO: Children and Young People Scrutiny Sub- 
Committee 

5 February 2019 

SUBJECT: Update on Children Social Care and Early Help, 
Families and Education Services 

LEAD OFFICER: Rob Henderson, Executive Director, Children, 
Families & Education 

CABINET MEMBER: Cllr Alisa Flemming, Cabinet Member for 
Children, Families and Learning 

PERSON LEADING AT 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MEETING: 

Rob Henderson, Executive Director, Children, 
Families & Education 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

This report sets out the successes, challenges and future plans for children’s 
social care and early help, alongside the key priorities and activities that will 
drive improvement. 

 
The Ofsted Inspection in July 2017 rated Croydon Children’s Services as 
inadequate. Since that time there has been significant and substantial activity to 
address the issues that were identified as well as build a sustainable service 
going forward which delivers to the needs of children, families and 
communities. This report will detail the progress which has been made, as well 
as the ongoing challenges. 

 
The report will also outline the budget context which is providing the necessary 
financial support to deliver improvement at pace, as well as support the long 
term sustainable delivery of high quality children services. 

 
2. Update on Children’s Social Care and Early Help 

 
2.1 Update on progress in Children Social Care and Early Help in last 12 

months 
 

Children and Early Help Services have made steady progress over the last 
year, particularly in certain areas of practice 

 
• Significantly caseloads are appropriate across the service, with averages 

below the targets set following the inspection in 2017. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



• Key performance indicators are improving in relation to assessment 
timeliness (reported as just 3% under target in December 2018) and the 
timeliness of social work visits to children on child protection plans (reported 
as 91% in December 2018), both of which  are moving in line with national 
averages.  However progress is inconsistent and still needs further work. 
There also needs to be a stronger focus on improving the quality 
assessments so that they result in purposeful plans which have an impact for 
children. 

 

• Adolescent Services and Leaving Care are areas of relative strength, with 
strong leadership and increasing permanent managers and staff. Staff morale 
has improved significantly in Leaving Care and this has had a direct impact on 
effectiveness. Positively, serious youth violence and knife crime incidents 
have reduced significantly over the past 12 months and at a faster rate than 
the majority of other London boroughs, for example, rolling figures for 2018 

show that in Croydon; 

• incidents of serious youth violence have reduced by 23% since 2017 
(compared with a 5% reduction across London) 

• youth violence incidents have reduced by 12% since 2017 (compared with a 
5% reduction across London) 

• knife crime incidents have reduced by 18% since 2017 (compared to a 1% 
increase across London. 

 

• The introduction of three managed teams of social workers in July 2018 
reduced caseloads and relieved duty pressures across the Assessment and 
Care Planning Services.  The Single Point of Contact / MASH and 
Assessment teams have grown in confidence and competence, and decision 
making, assessment and visit timeliness have improved, although this 
progress needs time to embed and consolidate. Staff recruitment and 
retention is a major issue in the Assessment Service although retention has 
improved slightly. 

 

• In the Children with Disability Service practice and morale is improving with 
improved performance on the timeliness of child protection and looked after 
children visits. An interim Head of Service has become permanent and more 
permanent staff are joining the service. 

 
• The new in house Family Group Conference (FGC) Service is now 

operational, and following significant investment a team of 7 conference 
coordinators are in post. The FGC team are focusing initially on convening 
conferences for children in care proceedings, to ensure that before we go to 
Court with plans we have engaged all significant family and friends to see if 
they can support the child and family long term. We are expecting to see the 
impact of this investment over the coming months. 

 
• There has also been investment in a new Court progression and tracking 

service to improve compliance and quality around court work and a family and 
friends assessment team to assess family members or friends as alternative 
carers. It is early days but we anticipate that these services together will keep 
more children within their families, reduce the numbers of children and 
families going to Court and, where this is unavoidable, ensure this is a more 
timely experience with appropriate permanency planning for children. 

Page 12



• A new Learning and Development offer has been established for all children’s 
social care and early help staff to support them in doing what is a highly 
complex and challenging job. This offer has been well received by staff with 
extensive and positive feedback from staff directly and through the staff 
reference group, although we will continue to improve the offer (you can view 
the programme here). Better career progression pathways for social workers 
have also been identified and a progression panel established to allow 
talented social workers to progress faster. 

 
• The Advocacy Service has been recommissioned to offer more hours of 

support for children and is proving more successful, with more children 
benefitting from having the support of an advocate and more referrals being 
made to the service (compared with the previous 6 months period). 

 
• Coram have been commissioned to deliver our fostering recruitment process 

with a view to bringing this in house in 2021. It is early days but it appears that 
Coram have added capacity and capability to this area and we are hoping that 
this will lead to a new pool of local foster carers caring for children and young 
people closer to their homes and communities. 

 
• There has been a new dedicated placements commissioning team 

established within the Corporate Commissioning Service. The service is 
supporting a needs analysis for locality based working but also helping with 
strategic and operational, day to day commissioning. Ofsted noted the 
improvements in the quality of placements. Over time the service will ensure 
that the commissioning of placements is efficient and that we are also 
delivering more local provision for our children and young people. 

 

• Early Help has moved into a new locality model. This builds on the locality 
vision of Croydon Council and the Local Strategic Partnership, and the 
gateway initiative in Croydon. It is an immensely ambitious and exciting 
strategic framework based on partnership prevention at the earliest point, 
working with families and communities. It is a strong model but it is very early 
days with a transitional plan. Staff will need significant support and strong 
management and leadership to make sure we deliver an outstanding early 
help and preventative offer. We now need to prioritise our work with partners 
including Schools, Public Health, community, faith and voluntary sector 
organisations and the Clinical Commissioning Group to really maximize the 
vision of integrated locality teams based on local need. The previous Interim 
Head of Early Help, Carolann James has been replaced by an experienced 
Head of Service Clive Seall who started on the 2nd January. He is 
undertaking a review of the service moving forward to ensure it has sufficient 
capability and capacity. 

 
• Significant investment has been made into youth voice and engagement 

activity, including. a £250,000 investment into a Youth Fund, support for the 
Youth Council, Youth Mayor and a revamped Children in Care Council; 
(rebranded by the children  as ‘Empire’) with increased membership of around 
20 young people. The Children in Care Council will deliver its own priorities 
for children in care and ensure that it becomes a truly representative and 
powerful voice. We are also currently working with young people to develop 
trained recruiters, young advisers on policy and practice and young 
commissioners. 

Page 13

https://lbccloudadcroydongov.sharepoint.com/sites/srv-147/Learning%20and%20Development/Children%27s%20Learning%20%26%20Development%20Offer.PDF


• The Croydon Safeguarding Children’s Board has undertaken a 
comprehensive review of 60 vulnerable young people to help us understand 
the common themes that have led to serious safeguarding incidents, as well 
as helping us shape services in the future to address these issues and 
prevent further incidences. Alongside this we are looking to develop a 
preventative service which identifies children at risk of offending and puts in 
interventions at the earliest opportunity. This will form part of the early help 
offer. 

 
• The Clinical Commissioning Group are investing an additional £630,000 per 

annum into emotional and mental health and this is to be welcomed and will 
support our early help service. 

 
2.2 Areas of ongoing concern 

 
• Recruitment and retention of staff continues to be a significant issue in high 

demand service areas (particularly Assessment and Care Planning). Whilst 
overall the vacancy rate is 35%, with the majority of these covered by agency 
staff, vacancies are not evenly distributed across the service.  As at December 
the Assessment Service had 78% of permanent posts vacant compared to 
12% in corporate parenting. This lack of stability undermines managers’ ability 
to grip the service to meet quality and performance standards consistently. 

 

• Performance is improving in most areas but in some areas of the service 
improvement is too slow. There are common themes of inconsistent 
improvement across teams in services. Although supervision timeliness has 
improved and is now at 77% within timescales for all staff, performance is 
inconsistent across service and teams and reflective high quality supervision is 
not happening as standard across the service. SMART plans, transfer of cases 
between teams, chronologies, genograms and life story work are also 
inconsistent and all need to be raised in terms of quality and consistency - 
embedding core expectations in all frontline staff and managers. 

 

• Care planning key performance data is improving but the quality of practice is 
still a concern. Court work in particular needs significant improvement and the 
Family Group Conference Service and Family and Friends Assessment Team 
have had insufficient time to make an impact. The work with high risk families 
needs to be more focused on support rather than using Court processes as an 
intervention. The new Early Help Service will help support this ambition. 

 

• Children in need are getting insufficient focus within the care planning service 
with poor assessment and planning, and service standards for visits to children 
in need not being met. Social workers are often prioritising the most at risk 
children and families over child in need work. The configuration of the service is 
currently under review and will be improved swiftly and significantly through 
developing a dedicated management focus on this area. 

 
• Corporate Parenting bar the Leaving Care Service is not improving as quickly 

as we would want, for example: 

 
• Health assessments, Personal Education and Pathway Plan performance 

needs improving. An action plan to improve performance on Personal 

Page 14



Education Plans (PEPs) was signed off at the Children, Families and 
Education Departmental Leadership Team meeting on 10th January and a 
new Virtual School Headteacher started on the 7th January 2019 to lead this 
work. 

• Following critical feedback at the last monitoring visit the UASC service 
have had a review.  There needs to be more management oversight and 
clearer assessment and planning for these children and young people. An 
action plan is being developed to respond to the review recommendations. 

• The Adoption Service will be regionalised but we are still focusing on 
improving our permanency practice in terms of the recruitment of adopters, 
matching and the timeliness of this process. 

• Children looked after numbers are too high and adolescents are entering 
t h e  system too often. We are currently developing a specialist service that 
will provide intensive support and intervention to families before it is too late, 
and support young people within their families in the community. This will be 
fully launched in June 2019, although we are starting to develop the service 
now. 

 
2.3 What are the priority things we are doing now to improve services 

 
1. We are prioritising performance and practice with Heads of Service, Service 

Managers and Team Mangers, raising expectations for children. We have 
established a rota of weekly performance and practice clinics starting on 
22nd January 2019. This will be a supportive process focusing on ensuring 
our children get the very best service and that our staff have the right 
environment and tools to make this happen. It will include strong challenge. 

 
2. Increasing business support by 16 full time equivalent posts to ensure that 

we maximize social work staff’s direct face to face work with children by 
reducing administrative tasks. 

 
3. Ongoing work with Camden, the Institute of Family Therapy and British 

Association of Social Work to support managers in delivering quality 
supervision and raising practice standards. Camden, as our Improvement 
Partner, will also be supporting us in our audit work and helping us to 
improve the process of transferring cases as well as attending the weekly 
performance and practice clinics to share their approach to this work in 
practice. 

 
4. As indicated a new service for supporting adolescents to stay within their 

families is being developed. This will include social work interventions, 
CAMHS, Youth Services, adult services regarding parental issues including 
adult mental health, substance misuse and domestic violence. 

 
5. Business case being developed for a separate UASC duty team as currently 

the duty throughput and pressures at front door are negatively impacting on 
the UASC core business. We will request that Home Office fund this facility 
and are currently communicating with them. 

 
6. Bringing in SEND Interim senior manager to support SEND transformation 

and the move to a more preventative service. 

Page 15



7. Head of Early Help changed to drive the localities strategy. We are 
introducing a social work spine into early help management and frontline to 
ensure that the service understands safeguarding thresholds and can 
manage risk outside of the statutory framework. 

 
2.4 Delivering outstanding services to children and families in Croydon. 

 

 We are looking to maximize the locality based model. I am working with the 
Commissioning Service to identify locality needs, map assets, schools and 
children centres so that we can ensure that the right services are in place 
locally to match the needs. We will be working with partners and 
commissioners to ensure that we all use the locality based early help 
resources to deliver an integrated localised service that meets the needs of 
the whole family. The locality model: 

 

• Builds relationships with Schools and communities, 

• Supports geographical knowledge and understanding and helps teams 
to work together better around needs and outcomes, 

• Allows variation of resource to meet specific needs, 
• Builds on Gateway in north Croydon as the blueprint, 

• Supports work with adult based services – domestic violence, adult 
mental health and adult substance misuse can be embedded in a think 
family based model, as we know most children at risk have parents and 
carers with one or more of this toxic trio. 

• Looks to work with Public Health and the Clinical Commissioning Group 
to commission health visiting, school nursing and emotional health 
services on a locality basis. 

 

 Developing the buy in of the whole staff group to service values and 
behaviours and how we do business - this will include our practice and 
management standards and our framework for service delivery - systemic 
practice and strengthening families. It will be driven by the principle of 
putting children and young people at the centre of all our decision making 
and be underpinned by the clear understanding that in order to have a 
positive impact on children and families we need to build strong 
relationships with children and families, each other and with partners. It is 
further based on a culture of strong support for staff and strong challenge 
with honest and open communication. A staff conference to start this 
conversation is planned on January 31st 2019. 

 

 Developing a recruitment and retention strategy to review what Croydon 
can offer in terms of pay and conditions, benefits, housing, parking and 
caseloads so we can benchmark and ensure we are competitive and attract 
the very best staff. This will dovetail with a stronger performance and 
quality practice culture with high and aspirational expectations. Croydon 
only wants staff who are committed to putting children first and are capable 
and willing to develop into outstanding social workers. We will ensure they 
get substantial support and a culture of innovation, creativity and energy, 
with a relentless focus on supporting children’s outcomes. A workshop in 
mid-January will start to develop our recruitment and retention strategy. 

Page 16



3. Update on Education and Youth Engagement 
 

 Outcomes for children and young people have continued to improve over 
the last year and are above national indicators at every Key Stage. At Early 
Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) and in the phonics screening check in Year 
1 Croydon’s pupils achieve in line with the rest of London and above 
statistical neighbours. At Key Stage 1 pupils achieve better than their peers 
in the rest of London in reading and writing and above statistical neighbours 
at Key Stage 2. 

 

 The percentage of schools judged to be good or better by Ofsted has 
remained stable over the last year. Overall, 86% of Croydon’s schools are 
judged good or better and 27% are outstanding. 89% of Croydon’s children 
attend a good or outstanding school, compared to 86.5% nationally. 

 

 There were 39 permanent exclusions from Croydon maintained schools 
during the 2017/18 academic year giving a Croydon exclusion rate of 
0.07%. This is a decrease in the number of actual permanent exclusions for 
the 2016/17 academic year when there were 41 permanent exclusions. 
Croydon’s permanent exclusion rate is lower than the average rate for 
statistical neighbours for 2016/17 (0.09%). It was also lower than the rates 
for England (0.10%) London (0.09%) and Inner London (0.08%) for the last 
published year. 

 

 Attendance rates for pupils in both primary and secondary schools are in 
line with national averages at 95.9% and 94.8% respectively. 

 

 The Local Authority is currently consulting on a new SEND Strategy. The 
strategy has been devised in consultation with parents, carers, children and 
young people. They told us that the things they would most like to see 
improved are: 

 

 Improved early identification 

 Improved joint working with health, social care and education 

 Better graduated response so that children have their needs met in the 
right way at the right time and, if and when, a child’s needs are met 
through an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP), the EHCP is co- 
produced and accurately reflects a child’s needs and provision. 

 Improved post 16 opportunities and outcomes with a greater number of 
young people with SEND gaining employment and having choices about 
how they achieve independence to stay in or near their family and local 
community. 

 

 The strategy is based on the principles of: 
 

 Inclusion – schools and colleges increase participation of young people 
in, and reduce their exclusion from, the curriculum and the everyday life 
of the school or college.  Schools and colleges respond to the diversity 
of students in their locality. Young people feel safe and are included in 
their community. 

Page 17



 Dignity and independence – children with SEND and their families feel 
welcomed. They have the right information and the right services at the 
right time so that they and their families can live a dignified life, as 
independently as possible, the same as any other child. 

 Choice – children, young people and parents are supported in 
participating fully in decisions that promote young people’s aspirations. 

 Best Value – effective use of resources for better outcomes, with pooled 
resources and integrated health, care and education pathways. Better 
partnership work across education, health and care, and with other 
partners e.g. housing and the voluntary sector. Increasing provision and 
places for children with SEND in state-funded mainstream and special 
education in Croydon, so that there are local pathways for young people, 
without the need to travel outside the borough. 

 Better outcomes – young people with SEND achieve sustained 
employment, entering supported internships and/or living independently 
in their community in Croydon. 

 

 The London Borough of Croydon maintains 2900 EHCP’s (September 2018) 
and has seen an increase in demand such that more than 300 new EHCP’s 
have been issued and less than 50 ceased during the period January 2018 
to October 2018. The funding allocated to Croydon through the Dedicated 
Schools Grant is set to increase by 2.2% over three years. There is an 
assumption that as schools find the financial climate increasingly 
challenging, this has driven demand for funding through EHCP’s. Croydon 
has historically placed a number of children and young people out of the 
borough and in the independent/non- maintained sector, in particular those in 
the older age range, due to a lack of suitable education and care provision 
pathways locally.  In the academic year 2018/19 55% of young people with 
an EHC Plan 16 years old and over are placed in schools and colleges 
outside of Croydon; this compares with 15% of under 16 year olds. 
Placement outside of the borough has financial implications with increased 
transport costs and does not support the long-term outcome of 
independence in or near a young person’s local community. 

 

 Croydon held its second annual Youth Congress event in October 2018. 
Attendees included students from 25 primary, secondary and special schools 
in the borough, as well as young representatives from other groups in 
Croydon, such as those who are home-educated as well as charities, 
community organisations and youth forums. During the day the delegates 
identified the three top priorities for children and young people, in order of 
priority, as crime and safety, mental health and employability, jobs and 
money. 

 

 The ‘Choose Your Future’ campaign featured heavily at the 2017 & 2018 
congress and was designed to celebrate the achievements of young people, 
and encourage them to be the best they can be and make positive life 
choices. The campaign works directly to support the issues that were 
identified as priorities, focusing particularly on crime and safety, and jobs and 
employment. In the past year the campaign has: 

 

 
 

 Facilitated engagement with over 3,000 young people 

Page 18



 Supported Croydon’s first Young Mayor election, engaging with 28 
candidates and over 12,000 young voters 

 Brought together 40 young ambassadors who have directly supported 
the campaign 

 Gained the support of over 100 organisations, that promote the 
campaign and often partner on joint projects 

 Supported the creation of 30 new apprentices in Croydon Council 

 Supported Croydon’s first Takeover Challenge day, engaging with 60 
young participants 

 Launched ‘You Choose’, a play commissioned by the police taken to 6 
schools in the borough 

 Been involved in several anti-knife crime events with Croydon Business 
Improvement District, the police and the Council’s youth engagement 
team 

 Amassed more than 1,000 followers on Instagram, a Facebook reach of 
over 120,000, and almost 500,000 impressions on twitter using 
#ChooseYourFuture 

 
 

 In March Croydon’s young people elected their first ever Young Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor. William Awomoyi and Shea Williams were elected by 12,000 
11-18 year olds to represent them and to pursue the manifesto pledges on 
which they stood. 

 

 In the summer of 2019 Croydon’s new Legacy OnSide Youth Zone will open 
its doors to children and young people across the Borough. Legacy, the 
name chosen by young people, has been made possible with a combination 
of council, business and individual investment totaling £6m. 

 
 
4. Priorities for improvement 

 

 In the coming year the Education and Youth Engagement team will be 
focusing on the following areas to improve outcomes for children and young 
people further: 

 

 We will continue to work with our schools to further improve Ofsted 
outcomes in conjunction with the school improvement team in Octavo. 
This will include the use of termly school progress review meetings to 
provide detailed challenge and the brokering of support for any schools 
causing concern. 

 We will work with our schools to continue to reduce exclusions by 
challenging schools where exclusion rates are comparatively high and 
by providing support so that staff have the skills necessary to meet the 
needs of all pupils 

 We will support schools to improve inclusive practice, particularly for 
children with SEND and have appointed a new Inclusion Adviser to help 
in this area. 

 We will work to reduce our reliance on the non-maintained and out of 
borough independent sector for children with SEND by developing our 
own in-borough provision which will ensure children are able to go to 

Page 19



good quality schools closer to home and will impact positively on the 
high needs budget overspend 

 We will develop our in-borough post-16 provision for young people with 
SEND so they are able to study close to home and make links with 
future employers 

 
5. BUDGET Update 

 
5.1 Strengths 

 

Early Help and CSC Directorate 
 

Delivering improvement as a result of the recent Ofsted inspection findings in 
Children’s Social Care. 

 
As a result of the Ofsted inspection in the summer of 2017 £10.784m was added 
to the budgets for Children’s Services for 2018/19 to cover costs associated with 
additional placements, additional staff resources for social work and legal costs. 
A further £11m growth will be added to the Children’s Services Budget in 
2019/20. 

 
Whilst Children’s Services is still continuing to see pressures due to the number 
of cases that are being dealt with but also as a result of the transition whilst the 
new teams are being put into place and recruitment to roles continues. Funding 
for transformation will continue to be utilised where possible to fund Children’s 
Services. 

 
5.2 Weaknesses 

Croydon Council remains under huge financial pressures, deriving notably from 
continued chronic underfunding of adult social care and children’s social care – 
the Local Government Association (LGA) has reported that three quarters of local 
authorities with responsibility for social care are showing overspends and 
estimates that, by 2019/20, there will be a £2billion funding gap for each of adult 
social care and children’s social care in England. 
This underfunding, coupled with significant demand led growth relating to 
increased pupil numbers; a significant increase in Education, Health and Care 
Plans, the arrival of Asylum Seeking Children given Croydon’s gateway status, 
has created a number of pressures within the Children, Families and Education 
department. 

 

Table 1 – Summary of forecast revenue outturn position at Quarter 21
 

 

Department Quarter 2 
Forecast 
Variance 

Quarter 1 
Forecast 
Variance 

 £’000s £’000s 

Early Help and CSC Directorate 7433 4506 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers (UASC), UASC 
Leaving Care and All Rights Exhausted associated 
costs 

 

2,279 
 

1,454 

Dedicated Schools Grant – High Needs Block 12,643 12,202 
   

1 Quarter 3 monitoring position is not yet available 

Page 20



Early Help and CSC Directorate 

Pressure on children’s social care is now becoming apparent. Research 
conducted by the LGA has revealed children’s services are at breaking point with 
75% of councils overspending to keep vital protections in place. The review found 
that in 2015/16 councils surpassed their children’s social care budgets by £605m 
in order to protect children at immediate risk of harm. There has been an increase 
of 140% in child protection enquiries over the last 10 years with enquiries up to 
more than 170,000 in 2015/16. 

The chair of the LGA’s Children and Young People Board, has recently said: “The 
fact that the majority of councils are recording high levels of children’s services 
overspend in their local areas shows the sheer scale of the funding crisis we face 
in children’s social care, both now and in the near future.” 

There are calls on the government to introduce a fairer funding system based on 
demand for services. Referrals to children’s services have increased and the 
number of children subject to child protection plans has doubled in the last 
decade. “Government needs to take note on this issue sooner rather than later, 
otherwise we are sleepwalking into another funding crisis for services that less 
fortunate young people rely on. LGA noted that a nationwide children’s services 
funding gap of £2bn will exist by 2020. As detailed in this report we are continuing 
to experience rising demand and costs. 

This year to date, Children’s Social Care residential assessments have increased 
by 80% (10 in Q2, 18 in Q2). Comparing the same period (Q2) last year, the 
number of children with a Child Protection Plan has also increased by 35%, 
contributing towards the reported overspend. 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers (UASC) 

The Council is continuing to lobby the government to fund overspend against the 
budget for UASC, leaving care costs for former UASC and Appeal Rights. The 
UASC pressure continues to be as a result of the Home Office continuing to only 
fund a fixed rate per child, which does not accurately reflect our costs for looking 
after those children, not the costs of acting as a ‘gateway’ authority. The fall in 
the number of UASC has exacerbated this issue. While our numbers of UASC 
are decreasing, direct and indirect service provision costs are not decreasing at 
the same rate. Options to reduce this funding gap through the reduction of costs 
and maximising Home Office income are still continuing to be explored. 

Additionally, Croydon acting as a ‘gateway’ authority continues to fund provision 
for UASC both leaving care and for those who have exhausted all appeal rights. 
This additional expenditure further increases the cost of exceptional items for the 
council. 

High Needs Provision 

The budget pressures are principally attributable to the increase in demand, 
which has led to an over-reliance on the independent / non-maintained sector, 
due to shortage of local state funded special schools and / or resourced provision. 
This is being addressed and a strategy developed to move to a more sustainable 
framework. 

Croydon Council has a long term plan to increase special schools, Enhanced 
Learning Provision and post 16 specialist places, including a new free special 
school with 150 places opening in September 2020.  Through this strategy the 

Page 21



intention is to provide an effective pathway of local education provision for young 
people which is an efficient use of resources and supports young people in 
becoming independent in or near their local community. 

Management of the high needs block and reducing the overspend requires that 
together there is an approach that manages reliance on EHCP plans for children 
with lower levels of SEND, reduces demand and ensure placements of children 
are delivered through the continuum of state-funded education provision at 
efficient values. 

5.3 Opportunities 

Early Help and CSC Directorate 

The Directorate is currently undertaking (has undertaken) a detailed needs 
analysis of the Looked after Children (LAC) population, identifying Croydon’s 
placement needs to inform commissioning priorities and drive engagement with 
the provider market as a means of tackling high unit costs for externally provided 
placements and improving outcomes delivered. 

Cross-department working is underway to support the standardisation of the 
systems used to track placements, costs and commitments. 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers (UASC) 

The Home Office have said that they are committed to reviewing funding rates 
and we have contributed to their call for evidence. At this stage there is no date 
for when there will be an outcome of that review. The Home Office have 
indicated, in a schedule the Council is required to complete regarding UASC that 
this year’s rates will be the same as last year and therefore our forecast reflects 
that. 

High Needs Provision 

The Education Secretary announced, on 16 December 2018, an additional £250 
million for high-needs funding for LAs over the next two years. The additional 
funding is split evenly over the current (2018/19) and next (2019/20) financial 
year. 

Croydon is the recipient of £0.998 million in both 2018/19 and 2019/20, receiving 
an additional £1.966 million over the two years. 

Prior to this announcement, the Schools Forum (November 2018) agreed to 
transfer funding of 0.5% in 2019/20 from the schools block to the high needs 
block. This equates to £1.235 million (based on the notional DSG allocation, full 
allocations confirmed December 2018). This decision will be implemented and 
the top slice applied against the high needs carry forward overspend. 

5.4 Tensions 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

Following a brief consultation period the Department for Education (DfE) has 
introduced, as a condition of the 2019/20 DSG, the requirement to provide 
recovery plans for DSG deficits. 

Where a LA has an overall deficit on DSG of one per cent or more at the end of 
the 2018/19 financial year, it must by 30th June 2019 submit a recovery plan to 
the DfE, setting out how it plans to bring the overall DSG account into balance 
within a maximum of three years. In exceptional cases the authority may propose 
to leave some of the accumulated deficit outstanding, where it is not practicable 

Page 22



to do otherwise. The recovery plan should be discussed and, if possible, agreed 
with the Schools Forum, and will require Chief Finance Officer sign off prior to 
submission to the DfE. Further guidance on the process and format for submitting 
the recovery plan will be issued in early 2019. 

 
 

CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND EDUCATION 
 
 

Division Explanation of variance Qtr 2 
Amount 
£’000s 

Qtr 1 
Amount 
£’000s 

Early Help and CSC 
Directorate 

Unachievable savings offset by underspends in 
staffing 

382 368 

 Sub-total Early Help and CSC Directorate 382 368 

Care Planning 
Service 

Increase in costs in relation to Section 17 
expenditure due to increased demand 

383 383 

 Other Minor Variances < £100k 93 83 
 Sub Total Care Planning Service 466 466 

Corporate Parenting Increase in legal costs in relation to 
assessments 

1,407 1,407 

 Increase in the number of external placements 
and court driven allowances 

1,734 1,274 

 Increase in payments for birthdays, holidays, 
subsistence care and fostering costs 

200 20o 

 Costs in relation to the number of agency and 
supernumerary staff in looked after children 

1,432 300 

 Other Minor Variances < £100k 1,089 235 
 Sub Total Corporate Parenting 5,862 3,416 

Safeguarding and 
LAC Quality 
Assurance 

Additional cost of locums in permanent posts 
within Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 

 

140 
 

113 

 Other Minor Variances < £100k 93 0 
 Sub-total Safeguarding and LAC Quality 

Assurance 
233 113 

MASH and 
Assessments 

Agency cover costs for maternity and long term 
sickness and increase in costs in relation to 
Section 17 expenditure due to increased 
demand 

 
274 

 
275 

 Early Help Service realignment costs (122) (352) 
 Other Minor Variances < £100k 132 119 
 Sub-total MASH and assessments 284 42 

Adolescent Services Unbudgeted costs in relation to the Safer 
London Contract 

126 126 

 Other Minor Variances < £100k 75 75 
 Sub-total Adolescent Services 201 201 

Education & Youth 
Engagement 

Other Minor Variances < £100k 24 0 

 Sub-total Education & Youth Engagement 24 0 

Children, Families & 
Education Directorate 

 

Other Minor Variances < £100k 
 

116 
 

0 

 Sub-total Children, Families & Education 116 0 

Page 23



 

 Directorate   

Early Years Services Other Minor Variances < £100k 
(36) (48) 

 Sub-total Early Years Services (36) (48) 
 CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND EDUCATION 7,542 4,558 

 

 

 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Robert Henderson, Executive Director, Children, Families and 
Education. 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 
Children’s Improvement Plan 

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/articles/downloads/Croydon%20C 
hildren%27s%20Improvement%20Plan%202018-19.pdf 

 
Learning and Development offer 

 
https://lbccloudadcroydongov.sharepoint.com/sites/srv- 
147/Learning%20and%20Development/Children's%20Learning%20&%20Develop 
ment%20Offer.PDF 

 
PEP Improvement Plan 
 
APPENDICES: None 

Page 24

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/articles/downloads/Croydon%20C


 
 
 
 
For General Release 
 

REPORT TO: SCRUTINY CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SUB-
COMMITTEE  

5 FEBRUARY 2019 

SUBJECT: Education Quality and Standards 

LEAD OFFICER: Robert Henderson – Executive Director, Children, 
Families and Education 

David Butler – Director, Education and Youth 
Engagement 

Shelley Davies – Head of Education Standards, 
Safeguarding and Inclusion 

CABINET MEMBER: Councillor Alisa Flemming, Cabinet Member for Children, 
Young People and Learning 

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT  

Corporate Plan 2018 - 2022 

The recommendations in this report are in line with the new operating model – ‘getting 
the basics right for residents’ and will contribute to the delivery of the following key 
priority / outcome: ‘Our children and young people thrive and reach their full potential: 

 Children and young people in Croydon are safe, healthy and happy, and aspire to 
be the best they can be 

 Every child and young person can access high quality education and youth 
facilities 

 Ensure there are high quality school places for Croydon’s increasing numbers of 
children and young people 

 

AMBITIOUS FOR CROYDON & WHY ARE WE DOING THIS: 

Education and Learning: working in partnership with all Croydon schools to deliver the 
very best for all our young people. Working with schools to ensure that resources are 
targeted at those social groups that currently under-perform in school exam attainment. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 

There are no financial considerations with this report. 

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO.: 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



This is not a key executive decision.  

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 It is recommended that the Children and Young People Scrutiny Sub-   
           Committee: 
 
1.1  Notes this report, commend the continued improvement in the percentage  of 

 schools judged good or better by OFSTED, and the actions being taken to secure 
           further improvement. Also to note improved pupil outcomes. 

 
 

 
 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 
This report summarises the performance of children and young people in Croydon schools 
for the academic year 2017/2018. The report covers attainment and progress in 
assessments, tests and examinations for 2018 in the Early Years Foundation Stage, Key 
Stages 1, 2, 4 and 5 (Post-16). The report is provided at this point of the year so that we can 
compare with the national average, London average and with similar areas (statistical 
neighbours). Our statistical neighbours are: Birmingham, Ealing, Enfield, Greenwich, Merton, 
Waltham Forest, Brent, Haringey, Lambeth and Lewisham. An explanation of statistical 
neighbours and how they are calculated can be found at Appendix 5. The report also provides 
up-to-date information on school attendance and exclusions. 
 
 
Borough Context 
 
In the last education year Croydon achieved some significant steps forward: above national 
attainment at the end of early years, phonics at both key stage one and key stage two and 
progress 8 figures above the national average.  This was achieved despite Croydon having 
a significant growing youth population, with large pockets of deprivation bringing challenges 
such as recruiting leaders and teachers that are able provide a high standard of education 
within challenging contexts, although school leaders are reporting that recruitment is 
improving. 

Our Youth Congress has been a significant event over the last two years and has enabled 
us to gauge the views of our pupils / young people in how to support them with ensuring 
that they become successful adults in our vibrant and developing borough. 

We have been able to engage with a range of young people via a variety of means and 
show them the changes that have been made.  

Summary of outcomes: 

The data included in this report is based on what is currently available, some of this data is 
validated i.e. EYFS, KS1 and KS2, however we do not currently have validated data for 
either KS4 or KS5, nor for our Children Looked After (CLA) pupils. 

The report sets out standards achieved in the 2017-2018 education year, which can be 
summarised as follows: 

Page 26



 Croydon’s performance in the Early Years Foundation Stage at age 4/5 has 
improved slightly from 2016/17 (73.4%) to 73.8% and is above our statistical 
neighbours (73.2%), significantly above the national average of 71.5% and in line 
with London (73.8%) 

 In the Phonics Screening check the outcomes for Croydon pupils are above the 
national and statistical neighbours average  and in-line with the London average. 

 At Key Stage 1 tests at age 7, the percentage of pupils achieving both the expected 
standard and the higher standard is above the national average in reading, writing and 
mathematics. We are also above the London average in reading and writing. 

 At Key Stage 2 tests at age 11, the percentage of pupils achieving the expected 
standard in combined reading, writing and mathematics remains above the national 
average and our statistical neighbour average.   

 Unvalidated progress 8 figures show that Croydon’s pupils are making better progress 
than pupils nationally from Key Stage 2 to Key Stage 4. We remain below both London 
and our statistical neigbours figures for this performance indicator. 

 At Key Stage 4, English and mathematics combined GCSE grade 9-4 were above both 
the national and our statistical neighbour averages, but below the London average 
based on unvalidated data. 

 At Key stage 4 Croydon’s attainment 8 average is above the national average and 
below our statistical neigbour and London averages. 

 At Key Stage 5 Croydon’s Level 3 (overall) learners achieve less well than statistical 
neighbours, regional and national averages.  

 Technical (vocational) Level 3 achievement continues to be good, with boys typically 
achieving higher grades that girls. 

 A level achievement is below average, with a Grade C- achieved on average 
compared to C+ nationally, with girls typically achieving higher grades than boys.  

 NEET rates are in line or better than London averages and substantially better than 
national, but ‘not knowns’ continue to be a challenge 

 We have a good proportion of Croydon secondary schools judged by Ofsted at good 
or better. 86% of these schools are good or better and 33% are outstanding. 86% of 
our secondary school pupils now attend a good or better school and almost 50% 
attend an outstanding school. 

 We have one secondary school that is inadequate and two that require improvement. 

 The percentage of primary schools that are good or better is 86% 

 We have no inadequate primary schools but we do have seven that require 
improvement Absence rates at primary schools in Croydon have increased slightly 
against a bigger national increase. 

 Absence rates at secondary schools are lower than the national average but have 
increased very slightly on the previous year. 

 Croydon’s rate of permanent exclusion from school is lower than the national, 
statistical neigbours and London averages. 

 
We continue to work hard as a local authority to make educational opportunities even better 
for all our children and young people. We are ambitious for all Croydon children to achieve 
the best that they can and that no child is left behind. We ensure that this message is 
shared with all of our schools through the close partnership we have with them and at 
regular meetings including the Primary Headteacher breakfast meeting and Secondary 
meeting. This report also sets out the key targets in our School Improvement Plan, (see 
appendix 7). 

Page 27



 

3. PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL RESULTS    
 
3.1 Early Years Foundation Stage  

The Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) is a teacher assessment of children’s 
development at the end of the EYFS (the end of the academic year in which the child turns 
five). The EYFSP requires practitioners to make a best-fit assessment of whether children 
are emerging, expected or exceeding against 17 Early Learning Goals (ELGs). 

Croydon continues to have one of the highest number of children at EYFSP of all 32 
London boroughs.  In June 2018 the total number of 4 and 5 year olds assessed in Croydon 
was 4,898. A child has a Good Level of Development (GLD) if they achieve (or exceed) the 
Early Learning Goals in Communication & language (3 ELGs); Physical Development (2 
ELGs); Personal, Social & Emotional Development (3 ELGs); Literacy (2 ELGs); and 
Mathematics (2 ELGs).  

 

 

The number of Croydon children achieving a GLD increased by 0.4% from the previous 
year.  This is higher than the national and our statistical neighbours’ figures and in line with 
the London figure. 

Table 1 shows how Croydon children compare to National, London (Inner and Outer) and 
Statistical Neighbours in achieving at least “Expected” in each of the 7 Areas of Learning 

Table 1 

All pupils 2018 GLD 
Communi-
cation & 

Language 

Physical 
Develop-

ment 

Personal, 
Social & 

Emotional 
Develop-
ment  % 

Literacy 
Mathe-
matics 

Under-
standing 
the World 

Expres-
sive Arts 
& Design 

  %             

England 71.5 (70.7) 82.4 (72.8) 87.4 (87.5) 85.2 (85.2) 70.9 (82.1) 78.3 (77.9) 84 (83.6) 87.2 (86.7) 

London 73.8 (73) 83 (82.6) 88.3 (88.2) 85.7 (85.7) 73.3 (75.3) 80.1 (79.7) 84.2 (83.8) 88.1 (87.8) 

Inner London 73.7 (72.8) 82.2 (81.8) 88.3 (88.1) 85.1 (85.3) 73.4 (75.2) 80.4 (79.7) 84 (83.3) 87.7 (87.4) 

Outer London 73.8 (73.2) 83.5 (83) 88.3 (88.3) 86 (85.9) 73.3 (75.3) 79.9 (79.6) 84.4 (84) 88.3 (88.1) 

Croydon 73.8 (73.4) 81.2 (75.8) 87.1 (87.1) 85.1 (85) 73 (81.7) 79.4 (79.6) 82.9 (82.3) 87.5 (86.4) 

71.5

73.8

73.8

73.2

70 70.5 71 71.5 72 72.5 73 73.5 74

National

Croydon

London

stat neighbours

GLD 2018

Page 28



          

Statistical Neighbour 
average 

73.2 (72.5) 81.9 (74.5) 87.8 (88) 85.2 (85.1) 72.8 (81.8) 78.9 (78.7) 83.6 (83) 87.6 (87.3) 

Diff Stat Neigh/Croydon 0.6 (0.9) -0.7 (1.3) -0.7 (-0.9) -0.1 (-0.1) 0.2 (-0.1) 0.5 (0.9) -0.7 (-0.7) -0.1 (-0.9) 

Diff England/Croydon 2.3 (2.7) -1.2 (3) -0.3 (-0.4) -0.1 (-0.2) 2.1 (-0.4) 1.1 (1.7) -1.1 (-1.3) 0.3 (-0.3) 

 

Fewest children achieve the ELGs for Literacy and Mathematics.  This is in line with the 
National trend each year. 

 

Another key indicator of attainment at age 4/5 is the difference between the lowest 
achievers and the average.  This difference is known as the Attainment Gap. The 
attainment gap in Croydon has widened slightly from 33.2% in 2017 to 33.3% in 2018 
against a national gap of 31.8%, also up from 31.7% in 2017 (See Table 2 below).                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

Table 2 

Year 

Average 

Median 

Average Percent 
attainment 

gap between  
all children 
and bottom 

20% 

(All Children) 
(Lowest 20% 

attaining 
children) 

2013 31.3 31.3 20.1 39.1 

2014 32.3 32.3 21.1 37.9 

2015 33.5 33.5 22.2 34.7 

2016 34 34 22.5 33.9 

2017 34 34.2 22.7 33.2 

2018 34.2 34 22.7 33.3 

 

The following tables show gender gaps; attainment by ethnicity; attainment by SEND group; 
and attainment of Pupil Premium Grant (PPG) funded pupils 

 

Further work is being undertaken to support vulnerable groups in targeted areas of the 

borough, including boys and those eligible for the PPG funding.                                    

31.8

33.3

31.4

32.8

30 30.5 31 31.5 32 32.5 33 33.5

National

Croydon

London

stat neighbours

Attainment Gap 2018

Page 29



Gender gap England London Outer London Inner London Croydon 
Stat neighbour 

average 

2015 15.6 14.5 14.4 14.7 14.8 14.7 

2016 14.7 13.4 13.5 13.1 13 12.9 

2017 13.7 12.7 13 12.1 15.1 12.5 

2018 13.5 12.8 13 12.3 15.3 13.1 

The gender gap in Croydon has widened due, in the main, to girls having raised attainment.   

2018 White Mixed Asian Black Chinese All pupils 

England 72 73 71 70 79 72 

London 75 77 76 72 84 74 

Inner London 78 76 73 72 83 74 

Outer London 74 77 77 71 85 74 

Croydon 75 77 75 71 71 74 

Stat neighbour average 75 76 74 71 80 73 

 

2018 
no identified 
SEN 

SEN Support 
SEN with a 
statement or 
EHC plan 

All pupils 

England 77 28 5 72 

London 80 32 5 74 

Inner London 81 31 7 74 

Outer London 80 33 4 74 

Croydon 79 28 4 74 

Stat neighbour average 79 32 6 73 

 

Croydon children who were eligible for free school meals out performed children nationally 

and in London, with 67% of them attaining the GLD (see table below).  

2018 

Pupils known to 
be eligible for 
free school 
meals 

All other pupils All pupils 

England 57 74 72 

London 64 75 74 

Inner London 65 75 74 

Outer London 63 75 74 

Croydon 67 76 74 

Stat neighbour average 64 75 73 

 

2018 
Pupils whose 
first language is 
English 

Pupils whose 
first language is 
other than 
English 

All pupils 

England 73 66 72 

Page 30



London 77 72 74 

Inner London 77 72 74 

Outer London 77 71 74 

Croydon 77 69 74 

Stat neighbour average 77 70 73 

 

The following table shows the percent of children who were assessed as having the GLD 

(Good Level of Development) by term of birth and gender.  It is worth noting that there is a 

6-11 month age difference between children born in the autumn term and those born in the 

summer term.   

Croydon   GLD by term of birth 
 

All pupils Girls Boys 

Autumn 83.0 88.9 76.7 

Spring 73.7 83.5 64.0 

Summer 64.8 71.8 58.4 

 

Inspection Outcomes for Early Years Providers: 

The Best Start Early Years team closely monitor inspection judgements for all day nurseries, 
pre-schools and child-minders so that there is a clear understanding about the quality of these 
settings. 

Quality of childcare in Croydon  

Ofsted inspect all registered Early Years provision and the table below shows the quality 
judgements recorded as at August 2018 and published in the 2018 Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment for Croydon. 

 Outstanding Good Requires 

Improvement 

Inadequate Awaiting 

Day nurseries 11 13% 69 78% 5 6% 3 3% 11 n/a 

Pre-school 11 26% 31 74% 0 0% 0 0% 5 n/a 

Schools with nursery 

classes  

17 36% 22 47% 8 17% 0 0% 11 n/a 

Childminders 42 13% 256 79% 5 1% 22 7% 85 n/a 

Out of School 11 17% 44 69% 6 9% 3 5% 16 n/a 

Holiday Play 

Schemes 

1 6% 17 94% 0 0% 0 0% 11 n/a 

 

 

Page 31



3.2  Areas for development and what are we doing to address them in the EYFS? 

1. To reduce the attainment gap between the average and lowest pupils  

2. Narrow the gender gap particularly in early literacy skills 

3. Further narrow the gap between children eligible for FSM and those 
not eligible 

4.  Ensure the Integrated  2 Year Old Review is fully embedded across 
the Borough 

 

 The Best Start Learning Collaboration, commissioned by the Local Authority, 
provides pedagogical leadership and encourages peer-to-peer support and self-
reflective practice for staff in the full range of Early Years settings.  The Collaboration 
works to ensure that all children have access to high quality early education through 
the analysis of EYFS Profile data and Ofsted reports, which leads to relevant training 
and support.                           

 The Early Language Development Programme (ELDP) project, which supports the 
development of children’s language and communication skills, is being delivered to 
settings across the LA. 

 We are working with our settings to support the identification of children eligible for 
Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP) funding (this has the same economic criteria as 
the eligibility for free school meals) to ensure that the gap between FSM and non-
FSM children closes rapidly.  

 The LA is looking at the attainment of boys in early years with an emphasis on boys’ 
early literacy and physical skills 

 A minimum of 25% of schools are moderated for the Early Years Foundation Stage 
assessments, in line with STA guidance and the statutory framework. 

 EYFS Profile data is shared with the Early Years sector to develop the 
understanding of the needs of Croydon children and to promote the best possible 
teaching and learning in all settings of early years provision. 

 The LA has introduced the 2 year old Integrated Review, working with health to 
ensure the early identification of additional needs.  This brings together the child’s 
family, education setting and health service to provide appropriate support in a timely 
fashion. 

 We are continuing to focus on early writing skills across the Early Years sector, both 
in schools and the private sector. 

 Best Start Early Learning Collaboration Early Years advisers continue to offer 
challenge and support for all Early Years settings through a range of programmes. 
These include structured programmes for settings in Ofsted categories of Requires 
Improvement or Inadequate; a pre-Ofsted programme; training for leaders and 
managers; and workforce development programmes for Early Years practitioners. 

 The LA is monitoring developments in Early Years (new baseline assessment for 4 
year olds; revised ELGs; revised Ofsted framework) to ensure that all settings are 
equipped with the correct information to deliver high quality education to our 
youngest children. 

 
 

 
 

Page 32



Phonics Screening check  
 
Percentage of year 1 pupils meeting the required standard of phonic decoding 
 
  

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 58 69 74 77 81 81 82 

London 60 72 77 80 83 84 85 

Inner London 60 73 78 81 84 84 85 

Outer London 61 72 77 79 83 84 85 

Croydon 63 71 75 76 79 82 85 

Statistical neighbour average 61 71 76 78 82 82 84 
       

 

Difference S/N ave Croydon 2 0 -1 -2 -3 0 1 

Difference England / Croydon 5 2 1 -1 -2 1 3 

 
 
 
 
Gender gap of year 1 pupils meeting the required standard of decoding  
 

  Gender Gap 
 

  2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) -8 -8 -8 -8 -7 -7 -7 

London -7 -7 -7 -6 -6 -7 -6 

Inner London -6 -7 -8 -6 -6 -7 -6 

Outer London -7 -7 -8 -6 -6 -6 -5 

        
Croydon -6 -6 -9 -7 -6 -6 -7 

Statistical neighbour average -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -6 -6 

 
 
 

2018 
Percentage of pupils meeting the expected standard of phonic 

decoding 

  All 
pupils 

White Mixed Asian Black Chinese 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 82 82 84 85 84 91 

London 85 85 86 88 84 94 

Inner London 85 84 86 89 84 95 

Outer London 85 86 86 87 84 92 

Croydon 85 83 84 90 86 x 

Statistical neighbour average 84 84 85 88 83 92 

Difference S/N ave Croydon 1 -1 -1 2 3 X 

 
 
 
 
 

  Percentage of pupils 
meeting the expected 

standard of phonic 
decoding 

Percentage of boys 
meeting the expected 

standard of phonic 
decoding 

Percentage of girls 
meeting the expected 

standard of phonic 
decoding 

 

Page 33



2018 
FSM 

eligible 

All 
other 
pupils 

All 
pupils 

FSM 
eligible 

All 
other 
pupils 

All 
pupils 

FSM 
eligible 

All 
other 
pupils 

All 
pupils 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 70 84 82 65 81 79 75 88 86 

London 77 86 85 73 84 82 81 89 88 

Inner London 75 86 85 71 84 82 80 89 88 

Outer London 78 87 85 75 85 83 82 89 88 

Croydon 76 87 85 70 84 81 83 89 88 

Statistical neighbour average 76 86 84 72 83 81 80 88 87 

Difference S/N ave Croydon 0 1 1 -2 1 0 3 1 1 

Difference England / Croydon 6 3 3 5 3 2 8 1 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  All Boys Girls 

2018 

SEN 

with a 

stateme

nt or 

EHC 

plan 

SEN 

support 

Pupils 

with no 

identifi

ed SEN 

All  

SEN 

with a 

stateme

nt or 

EHC 

plan 

SEN 

support 

Pupils 

with no 

identifi

ed SEN 

All 

Boys 

SEN 

with a 

stateme

nt or 

EHC 

plan 

SEN 

support 

Pupils 

with no 

identifi

ed SEN 

All 

Girls 

ENGLAND (state-

funded schools) 
19 48 89 82 20 49 87 79 16 48 90 86 

London 23 59 91 85 25 59 89 82 18 58 92 88 

Inner London 23 59 90 85 24 59 89 82 18 58 91 88 

Outer London 25 59 91 85 27 59 90 83 17 58 92 88 

Croydon 22 55 90 85 24 54 89 81 17 57 92 88 

Statistical neighbour 

average 
21 58 90 84 23 58 89 81 19 58 91 87 

Difference S/N ave 

Croydon 
1 -3 0 1 1 -4 0 0 -2 -1 1 1 

Difference England / 

Croydon 
3 7 1 3 4 5 2 2 1 9 2 2 

 
 

 
For Children Looked After, the year 1 phonics screening check shows that 50% of our 
pupils achieved the expected standard, a 10% increase on outcomes from the previous 
academic year. 
 
 

The results for the phonics test in Year 1 2017/18 academic year show continued 
improvement with a further 3% rise from the previous year. 

Alongside this continued improvement in phonics this year we are now above the national 
and our statistical neighbour average and in line with London averages.  

There is a gap between our pupils eligible for FSM and our non FSM pupils, although this 
gap is narrower than nationally. 

Page 34



Pupils with an EHC plan performed well in the phonics screening check against their peers 
nationally and statistical neighbours and pupils on SEN support performed in line with their 
peers nationally, although not as well as our statistical neighbours where there was a 3% 
gap. 

We need to continue to work with schools to ensure that our white and mixed pupils are 
doing as well in the phonics screening check as their peers nationally and as well as other 
ethnic groups in Croydon. 

 

3.3 Key Stage 1  

Key Stage 1 2018 percent of pupils reaching the expected standard in combined 
reading, writing and mathematics: 
 

2018 KS1 combined subjects RWM RWMS 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 65.3% 65% 

Croydon 68% 67.4% 

 

Cohort numbers eligible for assessment: KS1 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

3,943 4,104 4,315 4,371 4,630 4,861 4,753 4,830 4,822 

 

Key Stage 1 2018 percent of pupils reaching the expected standard  

                

2018 
Percent reaching the expected standard  Percent working at greater depth 

 
Reading  Writing Maths Science 

 
Reading  Writing Maths 

  2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

ENGLAND (state-

funded schools) 
75 76 70 68 76 75 83 83 

 
26 25 16 16 22 21 

London 78 78 73 72 79 79 84 84 
 

28 27 19 18 25 24 

Inner London 79 79 75 73 79 79 84 84 
 

27 27 19 19 25 24 

Outer London 78 78 73 71 79 78 84 85 
 29 28 19 18 26 24 

Croydon 79 77 75 69 79 76 84 85 
 

27 26 17 16 25 23 

                
Statistical neighbour 

average 
77 77 72 71 77 78 83 83 

 
27 26 18 17 24 23 

Difference S/N ave 

Croydon 
0 0 0 -2 1 -2 2 2 

 
0 0 -1 -1 1 0 

Difference England / 

Croydon 
2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 

 
1 1 1 0 3 2 

 

 

Page 35



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Stage 1 2018 gender gap (negative figures are percentage points boys less than girls, positive boys better than 

girls)  
  Reaching the expected standard   Working at greater depth 

2018 provisional gender gap Reading Writing Maths Science   Reading Writing Maths 

ENGLAND (state-funded 
schools) 

-9 -14 -2 -5   -7 -8 4 

London -7 -11 -2 -6   -7 -8 5 

inner London -8 -11 -3 -5   -6 -8 6 

Outer London -8 -12 -2 -5   -7 -8 3 

Croydon -7 -13 -2 -5   -7 -9 2 

                  

Statistical neighbour average -8 -12 -2 -5   -6 -8 4 

Difference S/N ave Croydon 1 -1 0 0   -1 -1 -2 

Difference England / Croydon 2 1 0 0   0 -1 -2 

 
KS1 ethnicity  comparisons:  

 
  English Reading 

 2018 All pupils White  Mixed Asian Black Chinese 

ENGLAND (state-funded 
schools) 

75 75 77 78 77 84 

London 78 77 80 82 78 87 

Inner London 79 79 80 80 78 83 

Outer London 78 77 80 83 78 89 

Croydon 77 76 77 81 79 x 

Statistical neighbour average 77 76 79 81 77 81 

 

75 76
70 68

76 75
8378 78 73 72

79 79 8479 79 75 73
79 79 84

78 78 73 71
79 78

8479 77 75
69

79 76
84

0

20

40

60

80

100

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018

Reading Writing Maths Science

Percent reaching the expected standard

Percent of pupils reaching the expected standard 2017-2018 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) London Inner London Outer London Croydon

Page 36



  English Writing 

 2018 All pupils White  Mixed Asian Black Chinese 

ENGLAND (state-funded 
schools) 

70 69 72 74 72 83 

London 73 72 74 79 73 86 

inner London 75 75 75 77 73 84 

Outer London 73 71 74 80 73 88 

Croydon 72 71 72 77 73 x 

Statistical neighbour average 72 71 73 77 71 80 

 

  Mathematics 

 2018 All pupils White  Mixed Asian Black Chinese 

ENGLAND (state-funded 
schools) 

76 76 77 78 74 91 

London 79 79 79 83 76 92 

inner London 79 81 80 81 76 89 

Outer London 79 79 79 84 76 95 

Croydon 78 79 77 83 77 x 

Statistical neighbour average 77 78 78 82 75 88 

KS1 Language Comparisions:  

 

 
 
 
Reading  
 

                 

2018  
Pupils whose first language is 

English 
Pupils whose first language is 

other than English 
All 

pupils 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 76 72 81 73 69 77 75 71 80 

London 80 77 84 77 73 81 78 75 82 

Inner London 81 77 84 77 73 81 79 75 83 

Outer London 80 77 84 77 73 81 78 74 82 

Croydon 80 76 84 74 70 78 77 74 81 

Statistical neighbour average 80 76 83 74 70 79 77 73 81 

 

Writing  
 

                 

2018 
Pupils whose first language is 

English 
Pupils whose first language is 

other than English 
All 

pupils 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 70 64 77 69 63 75 70 63 77 

London 74 68 80 73 68 79 73 68 79 

Inner London 76 70 81 74 69 80 75 69 80 

Page 37



Outer London 74 68 80 73 67 78 73 67 79 

Croydon 74 68 80 71 65 77 72 66 79 

Statistical neighbour average 73 68 80 71 65 77 72 66 78 

 

 

Mathematics  
 

                 

2018 
Pupils whose first language is 

English 
Pupils whose first language 

is other than English 
All 

pupils 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 76 75 78 75 74 77 76 75 77 

London 80 79 81 79 78 81 79 78 80 

Inner London 80 79 81 79 78 81 79 78 81 

Outer London 80 79 81 79 78 80 79 78 80 

Croydon 79 79 80 77 76 78 78 77 79 

Statistical neighbour average 79 78 80 77 75 78 77 76 79 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KS1 FSM  comparisons: 
 

Reading 
 

2018 
Pupils known to be eligible 

and claiming free school 
meals 

All other pupils 
All 

pupils 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded 
schools) 

60 55 66 78 74 82 75 71 80 

London 68 63 73 80 77 84 78 75 82 

Inner London 66 61 70 80 76 84 78 74 82 

Outer London 70 65 76 81 77 84 79 75 83 

Croydon 69 65 73 80 76 84 77 74 81 

Statistical neighbour average 67 62 72 79 75 82 77 73 81 

 

Writing 
 

2018 
Pupils known to be eligible 

and claiming free school 
meals 

All other pupils 
All 

pupils 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 53 45 61 73 66 79 70 63 77 

London 62 55 69 75 70 81 73 68 79 

Page 38



Inner London 65 59 72 77 72 82 75 69 80 

Outer London 58 51 66 75 69 81 73 67 79 

Croydon 62 56 68 75 69 81 72 66 79 

Statistical neighbour average 61 53 68 74 68 80 72 66 78 

 

Mathematics 
 

2018 
Pupils known to be eligible 

and claiming free school 
meals 

All other pupils 
All 

pupils 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 61 59 63 79 77 80 76 75 77 

London 68 66 69 81 80 82 79 78 80 

Inner London 70 69 72 82 80 83 79 78 81 

Outer London 66 64 67 81 80 82 79 78 80 

Croydon 68 67 69 81 80 82 78 77 79 

Statistical neighbour average 66 65 68 79 79 80 77 76 79 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KS1 SEND  comparisons: 
 

Reading 
 

2018 
SEN with a statement or 

EHC plan 
SEN support 

Pupils with 
no identified 

SEN 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 13 13 12 33 34 32 84 82 85 

London 15 15 14 43 43 41 86 84 87 

Inner London 17 17 18 42 43 41 87 86 88 

Outer London 13 14 11 43 44 42 85 84 87 

Croydon 13 14 10 43 44 41 84 82 86 

Statistical neighbour average 13 12 16 41 42 39 85 83 86 

 

Writing 
 

2018 
SEN with a statement or 

EHC plan 
SEN support 

Pupils with 
no identified 

SEN 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 9 9 9 25 24 26 79 74 83 

London 12 12 11 34 33 36 82 78 85 

Inner London 14 14 13 35 33 37 83 80 86 

Outer London 11 11 10 34 33 35 81 77 84 

Page 39



Croydon 11 11 13 34 33 35 80 76 83 

Statistical neighbour average 10 10 13 32 32 33 80 77 83 

 

Mathematics 
 

2018 
SEN with a statement or EHC 

plan 
SEN support 

Pupils with 
no identified 

SEN 
    

  All Boys Girls All Boys Girls All Boys Girls 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 13 14 10 36 40 29 84 85 83 

London 16 17 13 46 49 38 86 87 85 

Inner London 19 20 16 46 50 39 87 88 86 

Outer London 15 16 11 46 49 38 86 87 85 

Croydon 14 14 13 43 47 35 85 86 84 

Statistical neighbour average 15 14 15 44 48 35 85 86 84 

 

Schools’ performance at the end of KS1 2017/18 will be judged against the following 

indicators: the percentage of pupils achieving the combined expected standard in reading, 

writing and mathematics. This is the same indicator as the last academic year. 

A greater percentage of Croydon pupils achieved the expected standard in 2017/18 in 

combined reading, writing and mathematics than their peers nationally. 

Croydon’s  Key Stage 1 outcomes, across reading, writing and maths in 2017/18 were 
extremely positive against national figures. With 79% of our pupils achieving the expected 
standard in reading (a 2% improvement on last academic year) we are 4% above the 
national average, with 75% in writing we are 5% above the national average and with 79% 
in mathematics we are 3% above the national average. 

We are also above the London average in seperate reading and writing attainment and in 
line in mathematics. 

In reading, writing and mathematics Croydon continues to have a higher percentage of 
pupils working at a greater depth compared with national averages. In mathematics the 
percentage of pupils achieving the higher standards is above our statistical neighbours and 
in reading it is in line. Croydon is very slightly below our statistical neighbours in writing at 
this level. 

Girls outperformed boys in all subjects at all levels, this reflects the national picture but the 
gap is narrower for Croydon pupils compared with he national gap.  

The free school meals achievement gap for pupils achieving the expected standard is now 
better in Croydon (11% reading, 13% writing, 13% mathematics)  compared to national (17% 
reading, 19% writing, 18% mathematics) and we have narrowed the gap further from the 
previous academic year. Croydon schools alongside schools nationally need to continue put 
actions in to close this gap even further but have had impact from actions taken to close the 
gap from 2016/17. 

Page 40



 
Outcomes for pupils with SEN support at the end of key stage 1 in reading and writing is 
above the national average and significantly above in mathematics when compared with 
similar pupils nationally. Croydon’s pupils with an EHC plan perform as well as their peers 
nationally in all three subjects. 
 
Outcomes for pupils whose first language is other than English are above or in line with both 
the national, statistical neighbour and London average in reading and writing and there is 
only a very slight difference with the London average in mathematics (1%). 
 
Outcomes in reading at the end of KS1 were positive against national averages for our White, 
Asian, Mixed and Black pupils. 
 
Outcomes in writing at the end of KS1 were positive against national averages for Asian, 
White, Mixed and Black pupils. 
 
Outcomes in mathematics at the end of KS1 were positive against national averages for 
White and Asian,Black and Mixed pupils. 
 
Outcomes for our looked after children in 2017/18 were positive with 60% of these pupils 
meeting the expected standard in combined reading, writing and mathematics. This is slightly 
lower than the previous year. 
 

 
  

 
3.5 Key Stage 2  
 
2018 KS2 combined 

subjects 
RWM 

ENGLAND (state-funded 
schools) 

65% 

Croydon 67% 

 
The following tables include the performance of all Croydon children in both maintained 
schools and academies. 
 

Cohort Numbers eligible for assessment: KS2 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

2,385 3,873 3,777 3,776 3,920 4,102 4,226 4,172 4,460 

 
Key Stage 2 2018 percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard in reading 
writing and matematics combined 
 
Since 2016, the new more challenging national curriculum, which was introduced in 2014, is 
assessed by new tests and interim frameworks for teacher assessment. Results are no longer 
reported as levels: each pupil receives their test results as a scaled score and teacher assessments 
based on the standards in the interim framework. We are therefore able to make comparisons over 
the last three years data.  
 

Page 41



 
 

  
Percentage of pupils reaching the 

expected standard 
Percentage of pupils reaching a 

higher standard 

2018 Final  
All pupils 

2018 
All pupils 

2017 

Difference 
previous -

current 

All pupils 
2018 

All pupils 
2017 

Difference 
previous –

current 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools)5 65 62 3 10 9 1 

London 70 67 3 13 11 2 

Inner London 71 67 4 13 11 2 

Outer London 70 68 2 13 11 2 

Croydon 67 64 3 11 10 1 

        
 

    

Statistical neighbour average 67 65 2 12 10 2 

Difference S/N ave Croydon 0 -0.5 1 -1 0 -2 

Difference England Croydon 2 2 0 1 1 0 

 
Key Stage 2 2018 gender gap 
 

2018 final 
Percentage of pupils reaching the 

expected standard 
Percentage of pupils reaching a 

higher standard 

  All Boys Girls gap All Boys Girls gap 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools)5 65 61 69 -8 10 8 12 -4 

London 70 66 74 -8 13 11 15 -4 

Inner London 71 67 75 -8 13 11 15 -4 

Outer London 70 66 74 -8 13 11 15 -4 

Croydon 67 63 72 -9 11 9 13 -4 
         

Statistical neighbour average 67 63 71 -8 12 10 13 -4 

Difference S/N ave Croydon 0 0 1 -1 -1 -1 0 0 

Difference England Croydon 2 2 3 -1 1 1 1 0 

 
Key Stage 2 2018 test results   
 

2018 final 
Percentage reaching the expected 

standard 
Percentage achieving a high score 

  Reading 

Grammar, 
punctuation 

and 
spelling 

Mathematics Reading 

Grammar, 
punctuation 

and 
spelling 

Mathematics 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 76 78 76 28 35 24 

London 79 83 81 31 44 31 

Inner London 79 84 81 31 43 30 

Outer London 79 83 81 31 44 31 

Croydon 77 81 78 29 40 29 

              

Statistical neighbour average 77 81 78 30 40 27 

Page 42



Difference S/N ave Croydon 0 0 0 -1 0 2 

Difference England Croydon 1 3 2 1 5 5 

 
Key Stage 2 2018 teacher assessement  
 

TA Percentage reaching the expected standard 
Percentage 

working at 
greater 

depth in 
writing   Reading Writing Mathematics Science 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 81 79 79 83 20 

London 83 82 83 85 24 

Inner London 83 82 83 85 24 

Outer London 83 82 83 85 23 

Croydon 82 80 81 84 20 

Statistical neighbour average 82 79 80 84 21 

 
KS2 Test Contextual results  
 

Ks2 Final 2018 Percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard 

  All pupils White Mixed Asian Black Chinese 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools)1,5 65 64 66 69 64 82 

London 70 70 71 75 66 86 

Inner London 71 73 72 75 66 83 

Outer London 70 69 70 75 66 88 

Croydon 67 66 68 76 64 87 

Statistical neighbour average 65 65 66 72 60 83 

 

 KS2 Final 2018 

Pupils 
whose 

first 
language 
is known 

to be 
English 

All other 
pupils 
whose 

first 
language 

is not 
English 

All pupils 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 65 65 65 

London 70 70 70 

Inner London 71 71 71 

Outer London 70 69 70 

Croydon 66 70 67 

Statistical neighbour average 66 66 65 

 
 

   

    

 

KS2 Final 2018 
FSM 

Eligible 
All other 
pupils 

All pupils 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 46 68 65 

Page 43



London 56 73 70 

Inner London 59 74 71 

Outer London 53 73 70 

Croydon 55 71 67 

Statistical neighbour average 46 69 65 

 KS2 Final 2018 

Pupils 
with no 

identified 
SEN 

SEN 
support 

 
 

SEN with 
a 

statement 
or EHC 

plan 

All pupils 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 74 24 9 65 

London 79 33 11 70 

Inner London 81 36 12 71 

Outer London 78 31 10 70 

Croydon 77 29 7 67 

Statistical neighbour average 75 26 10 65 

 
 
KS1 - KS2 Progress 2018 

  
 

Reading 
Writing Mathematics 

ENGLAND (state-funded schools) 0 0 0 

London 0.8 0.8 1.3 

Inner London 1.2 1.2 1.6 

Outer London 0.6 0.6 1.2 

Croydon 0.7 0.6 1.1 

Statistical neighbour average 0.1 0.1 0.2 

 

No school will be confirmed as being below the floor until January 2019. Further statistical 
information on primary progress scores, including the number and percentage of schools 
below the floor in 2019, will be available on GOV.UK /ASP when revised data is published. 

 
The number of children in Croydon schools at KS2 has increased since 2016/17, with a higher 
number of children taking their KS2 tests in 2017/18 in comparison to 2016/17. As a borough 
we continue to have high mobility across all key stages in some areas of the borough; there 
are many challenges associated with this high mobility. As in all other local authorities across 
the country, we have previously found it challenging to recruit a larger number of high quality 
teaching and support staff to address the needs of our diverse and complex pupil population 
in terms of Special Educational Needs and English as an Additional Language but this has 
improved over the last academic year. Schools have reported that recruitment is becoming 
less challenging. 
 
 
 
The 2017/18 data included in this report has been validated by the DfE and as you will note 
in the charts it is possible to compare this year’s results with previous results as this is the 
third year of measuring pupil assessment in this way. 

Page 44



 
In 2018 the floor standard set by the government is expected to remain the same as 2017 - 
at at least 65% of pupils achieving the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics 
attainment and  the progress floor standard was a score below -7.0 in writing and -5.0 in 
reading and mathematics. A school is deemed to be below floor standard if their attainment 
was below 65% and their progress score was below the above figures in either reading, 
writing or mathematics. In 2015/16 Croydon had ten schools below the floor standard and in 
2016/17 we had only one school that was below. In 2017/18 we anticipate that only one 
school will be below the floor standard, this is a different school to the one that had been 
below for the previous two academic years. 
 
Croydon results in combined reading, writing and mathematics achieving the expected 
standard in 2017/18 was 67% compared to 65% nationally. This means that for the third time 
in at least 5 years Croydon’s outcomes at the end of KS2 are above the national average. 
We are now in line with our statistical neighbours and 3% below the London average. This 
represents a 3% improvement from the previous year. 
 
In spelling, grammar and punctuation, which is reported separately from the combined 
figures, the percentage of pupils achieving the expected standard is above the national 
figures for all pupils, in line with our statistical neighbours and a 2% gap with London in this 
outcome. This represents an improvement from the previous academic year where there was 
a gap with our statistical neighbours and a wider gap with London. 
 
Attainment at the higher standard in reading was slightly below the national average and our 
statistical neighbour average and 3% below London averages.  Writing was above the 
national average but below both our statistical neighbours and London average and 
mathematics was also above the national average, in line with our statistical neighbours and 
below London average.  
  
Girls outperformed boys in combined attainment both at the expected standard and the higher 
standard. The gap between boys and girls was similar to the national gap in combined 
attainment.  
 
Pupils in receipt of free school meals performed better than their peers nationally and our 
statistical neighbours but we remain below London averages by 1% and are narrowing this 
gap. 
 
Outcomes in combined reading, writing and mathematics for pupils with special educational 
needs and disabilities is  significantly above national averages and our statistical neighbour 
average but below London by 4% for pupils with SEN support and slightly below national, 
London and statistical neighbours average for pupils with an Education Health and Care Plan. 
 
Outcomes in combined reading, writing and mathematics for pupils whose first language is 
other than English is above both the national and statistical neighbour average and in line 
with  London averages. 
 
 
In terms of ethnicity all of our pupils (White, Mixed, Asian, Black and Chinese pupils) 
combined outcomes were either in line with or above the national average and our statistical 
neighbours but below London average. This represents an improvement from the previous 

Page 45



academic year. 
 

55% of our Looked After Children reached the expected standard or above in combined 
reading, writing and mathematics.This is a 19% increase from 2016/17.  
 
Croydon pupils are making on average better progress from KS1 – KS2 compared with 
pupils nationally and our statsitical neighbours however there is a gap with the progress 
pupils made on average in London. 
 
Seven of our primary schools were in receipt of targeted support and challenge from the Local 
Authority last year, through the SPRM process. This reflected a robust approach to improving 
standards against the rigorous inspection and testing regime that is in place. This approach 
proved highly successful last year in the schools that received additional support, in terms of 
both their improved outcomes and also in their Ofsted grading.One of these schools was 
judged as outstanding by Ofsted having previously been requiring improvement. 
 

The performance of academies at Key Stage 2:  
 
At the time of Key Stage 2 testing in May 2018, 43 of Croydon’s 75 primary schools (with 
year 6 pupils) were Academies.  
 
Where there are concerns about the performance of Academies it is the responsibility of the 
Regional Schools Commissioner (RSC) to challenge and seek assurance. The RSC has the 
same powers of intervention as a Local Authority in maintained schools, such as issuing 
warning notices and may ultimately require an Academy to be partnered with a new sponsor. 
 
We have regular meetings with the RSC to discuss any concerns that we have about any of 
Croydon’s academies. We are able to demonstrate the impact of the meetings that we have 
with the RSC through the responses that have been taken where we have shared concerns. 
 
Key stage 2 pupil migration of high achievers between primary and secondary 
schools 
 
A fifth of Croydon children who attained at the highest level at the end of Key Stage 2 did 
not enter Croydon maintained secondary schools and academies. This compares to over  
half not entering in the previous academic year.  
The table below shows the figures for pupils who have achieved a scaled score at or above 
the higher threshold in mathematics (the largest group of achievers) and their destination 
authorities. The three highest are Sutton (where there is selective education available), 
Bromley and Lambeth. This mobility inevitably impacts on the percentage of higher 
attainers at the end of Key Stages 4 and 5. 
 
 
 
 
 

Row Labels Destination LA All Pupils 
High 
achievers   

306 Croydon 3816 1882 81% 

319 Sutton 370 175 7% 

Page 46



305 Bromley 166 91 4% 

208 Lambeth 120 69 3% 

936 Surrey 101 60 3% 

315 Merton 55 29 1% 

210 Southwark 45 19 1% 

212 Wandsworth 9 5 0% 

886 Kent 7 2 0% 

205 Hammersmith and Fulham 3 2 0% 

887 Medway 2   0% 

209 Lewisham 2   0% 

207 Kensington and Chelsea 2 1 0% 

868 Windsor and Maidenhead 1 1 0% 

213 Westminster 1   0% 

881 Essex 1   0% 

203 Greenwich 1 1 0% 

204 Hackney 1   0% 

891 Nottinghamshire 1   0% 

800 
Bath and North East 
Somerset 1   0% 

938 West Sussex 1   0% 

302 Barnet 1   0% 

Grand Total   4707 2337 100% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Source: * Confirmed places September admissions 

 
3.6     Areas for development and what are we doing to address them at KS1 and  
          KS2? 
 

1.Close the gap in outcomes between our highest and lowest performing schools  
 

2. Work closely to support and challenge our schools that are not yet good 
 

3. Improve outcomes for boys at key stage 2 
 

4.Close the gap for our FSM pupils in the phonics screening check 
 

 
 

 As a result of the continued improvement at KS2 and the impact of our work we will 
continue to commission the link adviser role to Octavo Partnership. Our expectation is to 
ensure that challenging targets are set for pupils in KS2 and that schools use pupil 
progress meetings to ensure that all pupils, except those with the most complex needs, 
are achieving the expected standard, with an increasing proportion at the higher standard, 

Page 47



and that all schools address specific issues in reading, writing and mathematics. Quality 
assurance visits to schools are robust and provide key information about the progress of 
current KS2 pupils in all year groups. There is an expectation through the link adviser 
visits that schools will be challenged about how they are ensuring improved outcomes for 
any underachieving groups, including disadvantaged pupils.  
 

 A Pupil Preminum network for school leaders to learn from research and good quality 
practice in other schools in raising achievement for these pupils. 

 

 Learning walks are carried out in our most vulnerable schools and, increasingly, as a 
traded service to other schools. These can  include both lesson observations in KS2 
classes and book scrutiny for evidence of progress. This ensures that any issues are 
picked up quickly and school leaders supported with making improvements. All vulnerable 
maintained schools and a number of vulnerable academies are enrolled onto our School 
Progress Review Meeting (SPRM) programme. This ensures that appropriate challenge 
and support is given to the leadership and management of the school to ensure 
accelerated progress. An element of inspection readiness is introduced into the 
programme at the appropriate time, and often includes preparing middle leaders and 
governors for their part in the process. 
 

 The Octavo Partnership has bespoke training packages to target support to schools 
where there are concerns about pupil outcomes. This training provides tailored support in 
leadership, mathematics and literacy based on pupil outcomes and evidence of the 
schools’ needs. 

 

 The Octavo Partnership has a universal offer of training on current areas of priority such 
as vocabulary development and science leadership. Participation is monitored and 
encouraged to ensure vulnerable schools access this programme where necessary 

 

 We have continued to develop our model of KS2 writing moderation and ensure that we 
carry out  moderation visits to 25% of our schools. In addition the majority of schools 
attend moderation cluster meetings run by advisers in their localities to ensure 
consistency of judgements between schools. For Years 3, 4 and 5, Best Practice networks 
are run, with opportunities to moderate judgements with each other. Assessment leader 
briefings prepare schools for changes in assessment and accountability.  

 

 Subject leader network meetings in English and mathematics continue to be co-ordinated 
across Croydon, enabling teachers to work alongside one another, share best practice 
and keep up to date on current areas of priority for improvement. With the emhasis on the 
wider curriculum, briefings for Humanities and Arts leaders commenced in the Summer 
term 2018. 

 

 A Mathematics Coaching Project was implemented in 2017/18 with funding awarded from 
the Strategic School Improvement Fund  to impact on 2 teachers in each of the 17 schools 
participating. The majority of teachers are in KS2, and the programme has improved their 
subject knowledge and teaching methods. The project has involved close working with 
maths hubs, and this will develop further in 2018/19 in mastery readiness programmes 
and a SEND maths development group. 

 

 Teachers who are new to teaching in Year 6 are provided with training opportunities to 

Page 48



ensure there is accurate implementation of the expectations within the national 
curriculum and of the testing / moderation arrangements. 

 

 Teachers who are new to teaching in Year 2 are provided with training opportunities to 
ensure there is accurate implementation of the expectations within the national curriculum 
and of the testing / moderation arrangements. 

 
 

 A successful phonics roadshow was run in conjunction with the DfE, targetted at schools 
where performance in the phonics check in Y1 was below national averages. The LA 
average in this check in 2018 is now 3% above national averages. 

 
 

 We have appointed to the SEN adviser post, starting in January 2019, this role will have 
a focus on supporting our EHCP pupils in mainstream schools to ensure that their 
outcomes continue to improve. 

 

 We have revised the LA School Improvement Plan (Appendix 7) which sets aspirational 
targets and details specific actions to support improved English and mathematics 
outcomes, by securing differentiated, quality assured training and development. Our 
targets very specifically include closing the outcomes gaps for our looked after children 
and for our pupils with special educational needs and disabilities. This plan will be 
reflected in our work with schools and our commissioning of school improvement work to 
The Octavo Partnership, and our brokerage of teaching schools and other providers. 

 

 We continue to work with our Head Teacher Advisory Group, which comprises head 
teachers of maintained, church schools and Academies, to agree and take action on 
whole borough key priorities for improvement and co-ordinated, collaborative work to 
address those priorities. We monitor the impact against these key priorities through quality 
assurance of the school improvement work commissioned to Octavo. 

 

Link adviser visits are focused on challenging schools about in-year progress and tracking of 
pupils to ensure that they have improved outcomes by the end of the year. Schools are 
advised, where appropriate, to engage with bespoke support from a range of providers. In 
line with the new Ofsted Framework we will ensure that schools have an broad and balanced 
curriculum that meets the needs of all pupils in the school. 
 

 The school improvement service is working closely with schools to challenge any 
underachievement and support improvement, including through partnerships with 
Academy chains and other good or outstanding schools where necessary. These 
partnerships are designed to bring about rapid improvement and develop capacity for 
sustained improvement in standards, quality of teaching and effectiveness of leadership 
and management.  
 

 The Learning and Inclusion Board, whose membership includes the Lead Cabinet 
Member and the Executive Director of Children, Families & Education Department, 
provides challenge to the school improvement team about the effectiveness of actions 
that are being taken to improve outcomes in those schools judged by Ofsted to be less 
than good. 

 

Page 49



Actions being taken to improve Ofsted judgements: 

 We are commissioning training for school leaders and governors in relation to the Ofsted 
framework – Ofsted trained staff will deliver this training. We have be inviting schools that 
are due for an inspection to be part of this training. 

 The Local Authority has commissioned Octavo to give a number of targeted schools some 
additional funded support from the advisors and consultants.  All aspects of this will 
support the school to be prepared for any upcoming inspection. This support is across a 
range of areas and will be tailored to each school’s priorities. The support includes 
improving teaching and learning in schools by working alongside subject and middle 
leaders to audit needs and implement changes as well as using the subject knowledge of 
the consultants in whole school training in particular aspects of subjects. 

 Our new Inclusion Adviser will support the SENCO to review school needs in this area, 
which may include issues and current systems concerning pupils at risk of exclusion, the 
graduated response for pupils with SEMH (social, emotional and mental health) needs, 
or review of the effectiveness of mainstream provision currently in place for SEND pupils. 

 Additional Link Adviser time for leadership is offered where appropriate; this may involve 
analysis of in-school outcomes and of Teaching and Learning, and how this links in to the 
school’s development plan and aspirations. It may involve work with particular layers of 
leadership, as school needs dictate.  

 Ofsted continues to be an agenda item on all Headteacher Breakfast meeting agendas. 
We always share any information / training that we have received as qualified Ofsted 
inspectors to support schools with inspection activities and ensure they have up to date 
knowledge about the framework. 

 For those schools that are subject to the SPRM process we will include additional 
‘inspection readiness’ support and challenge. 

 
 

3.7 Key Stage 4  
 

Provisional 2018  English and  Average 
Attainment 8  
score  

Average 
progress 8 
score 

  maths GCSE 
 9-5 pass 

ENGLAND (state-
funded schools) 

43.5 44.3 -0.04 

Croydon 44.7 45.7 0.05 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The following tables include the performance of all Croydon children in both maintained 
schools and academies. 
 

Cohort numbers eligible for assessment: KS4 

2010 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Page 50



3,701 3,637 3,770 3,716 3,664 3,844 3,593 3,454 

 
 
 
Source: 2017/18 key stage 4 attainment data (Provisional) 

 
 

Provisional 2018 

Number 
of pupils 
at the 
end of 
key 
stage 4 

Average 
Attainm
ent 8 
score 
per 
pupil6 

English and maths GCSEs 
English 

Baccalaureate 
Progress 83   

Percenta
ge of 
pupils 

entered 
for 

compone
nts 

Percent
age of 
pupils 
who 

achieve
d a 9-5 
pass4 

Percenta
ge of 
pupils 
who 

achieved 
a 9-4 
pass 4 

Percenta
ge of 
pupils 

entered 
for all 

compone
nts 

Averag
e Point 
Score 

per 
pupil 

Number of 
pupils 

included in 
the measure 

Average 
Progres

s 8 
score3 

Lower 
confide

nce 
interval 

Upper 
confide

nce 
interval 

England1 285067 47.4 91.3 43.5 63.3 40.7 4.1 246086 0.17 0.17 0.18 

London 38027 52 97.7 51.4 70.7 57.5 4.67 34752 0.45 0.43 0.46 

Outer London 25111 52.5 97.9 52.5 71.5 57.5 4.72 22919 0.46 0.45 0.48 

Inner London 12916 50.9 97.3 49.4 69.1 57.4 4.57 11833 0.42 0.39 0.44 

Croydon 1783 48.9 97.3 44.7 66.7 51.7 4.29 1603 0.27 0.21 0.33 
            

Statistical neighbour 
average   49.4 97.6 46.2 66.2 55.8 4.4   0.4 0.3 0.4 

 
 

 

 

Average attainment 8 score per pupil 

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

England2 47.4 48.5 44.6 44.3 

London 51.1 51.9 48.9 49.2 

Inner London 51.5 52.3 49.2 49.8 

Outer London 50.2 51.3 48.2 48.1 

Croydon 49.9 48.5 45 45.7 

Statistical neighbour 49.2 50 46.2 47 

Attainment 8 and Progress 8 are part of the new secondary accountability system implemented for all schools from 2016. Attainment 8 is 
calculated for all schools, in 2014 /15 however the 2015 data does not reflect behavioural change in line with the new performance 
measures for the majority of schools. 

 
 

47.4

91.3

43.548.9

97.3

44.749.4

97.6

46.2

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Percentage of pupils entered for
components

Percentage of pupils who achieved a 9-
5 pass4

Average Attainment 8 score per pupil6 English and maths GCSEs

GCSE attainment 2018  provisional results 

England1 London Outer London Inner London Croydon Statistical neighbour average

Page 51



Provisional 2018 

Overall Progress 8 score Progress 8 score in English 
Progress 8 score in 

mathematics 

Score 
Lower 

confidence 
interval 

Upper 
confidence 

interval 
Score 

Lower 
confidence 

interval 

Upper 
confidence 

interval 
Score 

Lower 
confidence 

interval 

Upper 
confidence 

interval 

Total (State-funded 
sector) 

-0.03 -0.03 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.03 -0.02 -0.02 -0.02 

London 0.22 0.21 0.23 0.29 0.28 0.3 0.19 0.18 0.2 

Outer London 0.24 0.23 0.25 0.27 0.26 0.29 0.24 0.23 0.25 

Inner London 0.18 0.16 0.19 0.32 0.3 0.34 0.09 0.07 0.11 

Croydon 0.06 0.02 0.11 0.2 0.15 0.25 0.02 -0.03 0.07 

Statistical neighbours 0.142 0.091 0.194 0.216 0.153 0.277 0.122 0.065 0.178 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Boys Girls Gap 

2018 provisional 

Average 
Attainme

nt 8 
score 

per pupil 

English and maths GCSEs 

Average 
Attainment 
8 score per 

pupil 

English and maths 
GCSEs 

Average 
Attainment 
8 score per 

pupil 

English and maths 
GCSEs 

% 
entered 

for 
compo
nents 

% a 
9-5 

pass 

% 
achieved 

a 9-4 pass  

% 
entere
d for 
comp
onent

s 

% a 
9-5 

pass 

% 
achiev
ed a 9-
4 pass  

% 
entere
d for 
comp
onent

s 

% a 9-
5 pass 

% 
achiev
ed a 
9-4 

pass  

Total (state-funded 
sector) 

43.8 96.1 39.9 60.4 49.3 97.9 46.6 68 -5.5 -1.8 -6.7 -7.6 

England 41.3 88.5 36.4 55.1 47.4 91.3 43.5 63.3 -6.1 -2.8 -7.1 -8.2 

London 46.5 95.8 45.5 64.7 52 97.7 51.4 70.7 -5.5 -1.9 -5.9 -6 

Outer London 47.1 96 46.9 65.8 52.5 97.9 52.5 71.5 -5.4 -1.9 -5.6 -5.7 

Inner London 45.2 95.4 42.8 62.4 50.9 97.3 49.4 69.1 -5.7 -1.9 -6.6 -6.7 

Croydon 42.3 93.7 39.6 59.1 48.9 97.3 44.7 66.7 -6.6 -3.6 -5.1 -7.6 

Stat neighbour 
average  

44 95 40 60 49 98 46 66 -5.7 -2.2 -5.8 -6.3 

 

 

Key stage 4 pupils making expected progress KS2-KS4 
 
A Progress 8 score of 1.0 means pupils in the group make on average one grade more 
progress than the national average; a score of -0.5 means they make on average half a grade 
less progress than average. Progress 8 scores should be interpreted alongside the 
associated confidence intervals. If the lower bound of the confidence interval is greater than 
zero, it can be interpreted as meaning that the group achieves greater than average progress 
compared to pupils in mainstream schools nationally and that this is statistically significant. If 
the upper bound is negative, this means that the group achieves lower than average progress 
compared to pupils in mainstream schools nationally and that this is statistically significant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Provisional 2018 
Overall 

Progress 8 
score 

Progress 8 
score in 
English4 

Progress 8 
score in 

mathematics4 

Progress 8 
score in 
English 

Baccalaureate 
slots4 

Progress 8 
score in open 

slots5 

Total (State-funded 
sector)1 

-0.03 -0.04 -0.02 -0.03 -0.04 

London 0.22 0.29 0.19 0.27 0.15 

Outer London 0.24 0.27 0.24 0.29 0.18 

Inner London 0.18 0.32 0.09 0.22 0.09 

Croydon 0.06 0.2 0.02 0.02 0.05 

Statistical neighbour 
average 

0.13 0.21 0.11 0.20 0.03 

 
 

 
 
The number of children in Croydon schools at KS4 has remained relatively stabilised since 
2016/17, there was a very slight decrease in the number of children taking their GCSE tests 
in 2017/18. As noted at key stage two as a borough we continue to have high mobility across 
all key stages; in particular at key stage four it is important to note that a high percentage of 
our most able student that do not transfer from key stage two to Croydon secondary schools. 
 
This year the key indicators being used to measure the performance of schools at the end of 
key stage 4 remain the same as last academic year. These are Progress 8, Attainment 8 (see 
appendix 8 for an explanation) and percentage of students who achieved a level 9 - 4 pass 
in both English and mathematics.The only data available for comparision over time is 
Attainment 8 (2015/16 and 2016/17) and Progress 8 since 2016  
 
A positive Progress 8 score suggests that students achieved higher grades than expected, 
given their results at the end of primary school. Progress 8 is used by Ofsted and the DfE to 
judge schools and Local Authorities as it takes into consideration the starting points of the 
students (their results from the end of primary school) and their subsequent achievement in 
8 qualifications (GCSE or equivalent) including English and mathematics (which are double 
weighted).  
 

0

0.05

0.1

0.15

0.2

0.25

0.3

0.35

London Outer London Inner London Croydon Statistical
neighbour average

Provisional Progress 8 scores 2018 

Overall Progress 8 score Progress 8 score in English4

Progress 8 score in mathematics4 Progress 8 score in English Baccalaureate slots4

Progress 8 score in open slots5

Page 53



The Progress 8 score for Croydon is positive (0.05) and above the national score for state 
funded schools (-0.04) This was a slight decline from last year. 
 
The progress made in English GCSE (+0.2) is below London (at 0.29) and our statistical 
neighbours (0.27) but is significantly above the national (-0.04). Croydon’s outcomes 
represent an improvement from the previous year against a decline nationally and in London 
overall. 
 
The progress score for mathematics is above the national average score at 0.02 for Croydon 
students.  There remains a difference in that achieved by London overall (0.19) and the 
statistical neighbour average in mathematics. 
 
Thirteen of Croydon’s twenty five mainstream and SEN schools achieved a positive Progress 
8 score. Eight of the borough’s schools also achieved a progress score above London’s 
average of 0.22.  
 
Twelve of Croydon’s schools received a negative progress score, which means that the 
students achieved lower results than expected, given their results at the end of primary 
school. This was less than the previous academic year. (Refer to table in appendix 2 showing 
all schools results.) 
 
The floor or minimum standard for Progress 8 has not been set as yet, once we have been 
informed by the DfE what it will be we will be able to report on any schools falling below this. 
 
The percentage of Croydon pupils achieving a Level 9 – 4 pass in combined English and 
mathematics is 66.7%. Whilst our pupil outcomes in this measure are not as good as London, 
they are above the England and statistical neighbour average. 
 
A high Attainment 8 score indicates that students did well at a school in terms of the grades 
gained in 8 subjects including English and mathematics (which are double weighted). There 
has been an increase in our overall attainment 8 figures since 2016/17 (44.7 to 48.9), 
although it remains above England’s average, it is still below our statistical neighbours and 
London. 
 
Eight of the borough’s schools achieved an Attainment 8 score that was above the England 
average of 47.4. The highest Attaniment 8 score was achieved by Coloma Convent (61.5), 
with other notable achievement being made by a number of schools. (Refer to table in 
appendix 2 showing all schools results.) 
 
Girls outperformed boys in both attainment 8 and in the percentage of pupils achieving at 
level 9 – 4 in combined English and mathematics GCSEs. We have a larger gap in the 
attainment of our boys compared to both our statistical neighbours and London. 
 
It is not yet possible to report on the achievement of specific pupil groups such as those in 
reciept of free school meals, SEN and ethnicity at Key Stage 4 as the data was not yet 
available at the time of writing.  
 
3.8 Areas for development and what are we doing to address them at KS4? 
 

1.Close the gap in outcomes between our highest and lowest performing schools  

Page 54



 

2. Work closely to support and challenge our schools that are not yet good 
 

3. Improve outcomes for boys at key stage 4 so that the gap between them and the 
girls is narrowed 
 

4. Analyse the achievement of specific pupil groups and address where we have 
gaps in outcomes at key stage 4 
 

 
 

 The Local Authority has commissioned Octavo to provide link advisers to all publicly 
funded schools. They are challenging schools to achieve the very demanding targets set 
and monitoring their progress. The secondary improvement adviser has been 
comissioned to provide more bespoke in school support for our vulnerable schools and 
we will be quality assuring this work 

 

 We are continuing to ask schools to set targets for the percentage of pupils in receipt of 
the Pupil Premium Grant making at least expected progress, reflecting the importance of 
closing the gap between these learners and their peers.  The impact of any interventions 
put in place by schools that are  funded by the Pupil Premium Grant is carefully scrutinised 
and, where such interventions have not had the desired impact, head teachers are 
required to identify how their evaluations are informing future plans for spending this 
funding. 

 

 This year a number of our secondary schools have had termly School Progress Review 
Meetings with the Local Authority to review their progress against identified priorities.  
Each school identified for this support is subject to a LA led learning walk which informs 
the School Progress Review meeting. These meeting are supported by our ‘challenge’ 
improvement adviser from Octavo. 

 

 There is a key focus on supporting schools requiring improvement to become good, 
through targeted professional development.  This includes bespoke training for governors 
so that they are able to clearly demonstrate that they offer both challenge and support to 
schools by focusing on key areas for development whilst holding head teachers to 
account. 

 

 The Learning and Inclusion Board provides challenge to the school improvement team 
about the effectiveness of actions that are being taken to improve outcomes in those 
schools judged by Ofsted and the LA to be less than good. 

 

 We will ensure that schools continue to focus on underachieving groups. 
 

 
 
 
 
3.9 Post-16 (KS5) 
 

Page 55



At the time of writing validated performance data for 2018 has not been published, so 
information in this report cannot be considered accurate and therefore both data and 
narrative are subject to change.  
 

Approximately 50% of Croydon residents aged 16-19 study in Croydon schools and 
colleges with the remainder studying in neighbouring boroughs such as Sutton, Bromley 
and Surrey.  Data quoted below pertains to performance of Croydon schools and colleges, 
unless otherwise stated.   
 
Approximately 50% of level 3 students in Croydon undertake academic programmes (e.g. A 
levels) and 50% take general applied or technical programmes (previously referred to as 
vocational qualifications). This is not typical and is mainly due to the fact that Croydon has 
three colleges plus the BRIT School which have a strong focus on applied general and 
technical programmes, as well as a small number of school sixth forms having small but 
successful applied general/technical offers.  
 
Typically, students in Croydon school sixth forms and colleges have lower KS4/GCSE 
results on entry to level 3 courses than the national average, although this does vary greatly 
between our institutions, meaning that Progress scores are usually a better comparator 
Measure.  
 
Schools and colleges Level 3 attainment at the end of 16-18 study 2018 
 

 Level 3 Students A Level Students Academic 
Tech 
level 

students 

Applied 
General 
students 

Tech Bacc 

A Level results 
2018 Provisional 

APS10 per 
entry 

% least 2 
substanti
al level 3 
qualificat

ions  

APS 
per 

entry 

% at 
least 2 

A 
levels 

APS 
per 

entry, 
best 3 

% 3 A*-A 
grades 

or better 
at A level 

% 
grades 
AAB or 
better 
at A 
level 

% AAB 
or better 
at least 
two are 

in 
facilitatin

g 
subjects 

APS 
per 

entry 

% at 
least 2 

substanti
al level 3 
academi

c 
qualificati

ons 

APS per 
entry 

APS per 
entry 

Number of 
students 
achieving 
Tech Bacc 

England 32.88 80.3 33.05 77.2 33.28 12.5 20.6 15.9 33.38 77.2 28.33 28.26 153 

London 31.68 78.4 31.95 74.7 32.78 11.3 18.7 14.7 32.04 74.2 29.38 28.49 20 

Outer London 32.06 79.6 32.38 75.8 33.32 12 19.5 15.4 32.46 75.4 29.51 28.27 0 

Inner London 30.92 75.9 31.08 72.5 31.68 10 17.1 13.2 31.18 71.7 29.14 28.88 15 

Croydon 27.98 65.3 27.73 58.8 27.44 4.7 8.4 5.9 27.84 58.4 30.79 27.57 0 

Statistical 
neighbour 

30 76 31 71 31 9 15 12 31 70 30 29 1 

 
 

 

32.88 31.68 32.06 30.92
27.98

30

33.05 31.95 32.38
31.08

27.73 31
33.28 32.78 33.32

31.68

27.44

31

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

35.00

England London Outer London Inner London Croydon Statistical
neighbour ave

APS level 3 and A Level qualifications provisional 2018

Aps per entry L3 APS A level APS per entry, best 3

Page 56



 
The Average Point Score (APS) per entry at Level 3 shows that on average Croydon’s post-
16 level 3 learners fell and performed below regional, national and statistical neighbour 
averages. This is predominantly due to lower than average grades achieved at A level, 
although this needs to be considered in conjunction with lower than average KS4 (GCSE) 
results achieved by the student cohort. In 2018 Croydon achieved an average grade C- 
compared to C+ nationally. 
 
A small number of schools/colleges (4)  had particularly high A level fail rates which have 
impacted on the overall borough performance. Two of these instiutions have now ceased to 
offer A level courses. 
 
KS5 Progress data has not yet been published, but will provide a better benchmark 
comparison. For example, in 2017 the average A level grade achieved at one school was an 
E+ (compared to C+ nationally) but the Progress Score was well above average at +0.47 
meaning that students at this school achieved half a grade higher than was expected based 
upon their GCSE attainment. Whilst another (independent) Croydon school achieved an 
average grade of A- but a Progress Score of 0.00 meaning pupils achieved what was 
expected. 
A strength in Croydon, is Level 3 performance on technical (vocational) programmes. On 
average in 2018 Croydon students undertaking these programmes achieved a Distinction- 
compared to achievement of a Merit+ elsewhere, with higher APS than all benchmarked 
comparitors. In 2017 (most recent detailed validated data available) those institutions who 
were significantly above average were Woodcote High School, BRIT and Harris Federation.  
 
Applied General (L3) students performed in line with comparitor averages, achieving a Merit+. 
 
Girls in Croydon continue to achieve higher grades at A level than boys, with girls achieving 
an average grade C at A level compared to a C- by boys. This corresponds with the 
national/London trend. Conversely boys in Croydon achieve better (Distinction - ) than girls 
(Merit+) on techincial L3 courses. 
 
Post-16 students on L2 technical courses achieved in line with London and regional averages, 
gaining a Merit-.  
 
The current (Oct-2018) Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) rate for the cohort 
is 0.9% (improvement of 0.3% compared to Oct-2017) which is below both the London 
average (1.2%) and significantly better than national (2.1%). However, our not knowns are 
higher than comparitors (although significantly improved compared to 2017) and may include 
some unidentified NEET young people. 
 

Page 57



 
 
In summary,  

 Technical (previously vocational) level 2 & level 3 achievement continues to be good. 

 The average grade achieved at A level in 2018 was below the national average at C-  

 The achievement of high grades (A*-B) at A level, continues to be an area for development 
and progress (based on 2017 validated and 2018 unvalidated data) is an area of 
improvement for our more able students at a number of schools. 
 
3.10 Areas for development and what are we doing to address them at Post-16? 
 

1. Improve the attainment of our pupils at A level, in particular increase the 
percentage of pupils achieving high grades 
 

2. Improve outcomes for boys at key stage 5  
 

3. Improve the careers advice and guidance offer for our pupils  
 

4. Improved tracking and suport of our not known young people 
 

 
 

Commissioned challenge and support for all school sixth forms with Octavo (aligned to 
KS3/4 support), with a specific focus on quality and viability of their 6th form provision, 
progress being made by all learners and raising expectations and achievement of the most 
able learners.  

 Additional commissioned and LA support is targetted at those schools who are deemed to 
require greater levels of need, based upon detailed analysis of data and performance. This 
includes support with robust action planning and monitoring. 

 

 Croydon Council brokered a data management, analysis and monitoring tool (ALPS) for 
local post-16 centres, which includes training sessions. This tool is used to identify areas 
for improvement and strength, enabling sharing of good practice across centres. 

 

 Agreement that centres with particularly poor A level performance and low demand, 
closing, cease offering an A level curriuculum and/or focus on areas of strength.  

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

APS per entry, best 3 % 3 A*-A grades or
better at A level

% grades AAB or
better at A level

% AAB or better at
least two are in

facilitating subjects

APS per entry APS per entry applied
general studies

2018 Provisional Key  Stage 5

England London Outer London Inner London Croydon Statistical neighbour average

Page 58



 

 Support to improve the local careers advice and guidance offer, via faciliation of a termly 
careers leads network, regular newsletter and availability of careers events for both staff 
and students.  

 

 NEET prevention programme delivered in high NEET generating schools. One school 
piloted in Autumn 2018, with roll-out to 3 further schools in Spring 2019. 

 

 Additional resource being deployed to track not known young people aged 16/17 years 
and identify this who are NEET, enabling support to be offered. 

 
3.11 Outcomes for Children Looked After 
 
Phonics Screening Check 
 

 
Phonics 
Screening Check 

 

% achieving the 
expected 
standard in 
phonics at end of 
year 1 (CLA) 

 

% achieving 
expected 
standard in 
phonics at end of 
year 1 (Croydon) 

% achieving 
expected 
standard in 
phonics at end of 
year 1 (national) 

    

2017/18 50% 85% 82% 

 
 
In the 2017-2018 academic year there was an overall increase in those achieving the 
expected standard in phonics screening by 10%.   

 
Key Stage 1   

 
KS1 SATs Number in 

cohort  

 

Number 
eligible 

 

Number of 
CLA who 
achieving the 
combined in 
R,W &M,  

% of CLA 
achieving the 
expected 
standard in 
combined 
R,W & M 

KS1 - 2016/17 10 9 6 66% 

KS1 - 2017/18 19 10 6 60% 

 
% of CLA working at expected standard for the eligible cohort (2017-2018) 

 % 
Working at the expected standard in reading  70% 

Working at the expected standard in writing  60% 

Working at the expected standard in mathematics  70% 

Working at the expected standard combined 60% 

 
KS1 performance in 2017/18 SATs fell by 6% compared to the previous year, with 60% of 
children, gaining the required levels in combined reading, writing and mathematics. (6/10). 
 

Page 59



Key Stage 2 
 

KS2 SATs Number of 
CLA in cohort 

 

Number of 
CLA eligible 

 

Number of 
CLA achieving 
the combined 
in R,W & M 

% achieving 
the expected 
standard 

 

KS2 - 
2016/17 

18 14 5 36% 

KS2 - 
2017/18 

33 20 11 55% 

 
% of CLA working at expected standard for the eligible cohort 2017-2018 

 % 

Working at the expected standard in reading  55% 

Working at the expected standard in writing  55% 

Working at the expected standard in mathematics  60% 

Working at the expected standard combined 55% 

 
KS2 SATs 

 

% achieving expected 
standard in reading, 
writing and maths (CLA) 

% achieving expected 
standard in reading, 
writing and maths 
(Croydon) 

% achieving expected 

standard in reading, 

writing and maths 

(National) 

    

2017/18 55% 66% 64% 

 
 
KS2 performance in 2017/18  improved with an overall 55% of our looked after children 
achieving the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics.  

 
In 2017-2018 there was an overall increase in those achieving the expected standard by 19% 
in combined reading, writing and mathematics. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
4.5. Key Stage 4  
 

 Number in 
cohort 

Eligible 
Cohort 

% achieving 
4-9 in 

English & 

% achieving 
5+ 1-9 

% achieving 
at least 1 
grade 1-9 

Page 60



Maths 

2016/17 144 78 5.1% 39.7% 60.2% 

2017/18 145 84 7.1% 41.7% 63.1% 

 

 
 
The number of children achieving the expected standard of grade 4 and above in English & 
Maths has increased by 2% this year.  

 
Whilst the number of our cohort achieving the expected standard continues to be low 
compared to local and national outcomes, we continue to see an increase in the number of 
children achieving 5+ GCSEs. 
 
An increase is also seen in the attainment of 1+ GCSE grade which can be an exceptional 
achievement for some students, in particular our UASC cohort who often still have limited 
English at the end of Key Stage 4. 
 
When comparing the Croydon CLA attainment with local and national data, we see that 
whilst there remains an attainment gap Croydon CLA has made a 2% increase compared to 
0.9% nationally. 
 
Please note that validated data for Attainment 8 is not yet available for CLA outcomes 

 
Key Stage 5 

 

 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 

% A*-E 100 100 100 

% A*-C 78 100 50 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Cohort
Number

Eligible cohort % achieving 4-
9 in E & M

% achieving 5+
1-9

% achieving  5+
1-9

KS4 Attainment

2016/17 2017/18

Page 61



 
 
 
The trend of 100% pass rate at A Level has continued for the last 3 years. 
 
Attainment of Children Looked After by the Local Authority can vary widely from year to year 
due to cohort sizes and other factors that contribute significantly such as Special Educational 
Needs and the length of time children have been in care and the length of time in the country.   

In the analysis of our data we bear in mind the number of children looked after by Croydon 
who are UASC (unaccompanied asylum seeking children) as our numbers are significantly 
greater than our statistical neighbours.  

This difference in pupil numbers can make comparisons with other Local Authorities more 
complicated, nevertheless we do look at this data and ensure that we are aware of any gaps 
and what we can do to develop our practices . 

Although outcomes for Croydon CLA remain low, particularly at the end of key stage 4, it is 
important to reflect that those who contribute to the national statistics are only a small 
percentage, in many cases, of the total cohort within those year groups. Additionally, it is 
important to note that a large percentage of our KS4 cohort were UASC students, who are a 
welcome addition to our cohort but need to be supported differently as in many cases they 
have no prior education experience and limited or no English when they enter the care 
system. These learners do however go on to make considerable progress, achieving at a 
level appropriate to their starting points and are successfully supported into suitable courses 
post 16. The successes enjoyed by our post 16 learners are testament to this and a result of 
the heavy investment made into this area of work. 

The Virtual School work closely with our SEND colleagues to ensure the swift placement of 
CLA with statements or an EHCP, who require a new school to be identified due to 
placement changes. In many cases we act as the intermediary with other SEN teams or 
Virtual Schools for CLA with SEN moving into Croydon under the care of other local 
authorities or for Croydon CLA being placed out of borough.  
 
 
3.12      Challenge to underperforming schools 

0

20

40

60

80

100

2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018

A Level Outcomes for Croydon CLA
3 year comparison

% A*-E % A*-C

Page 62



 
Where schools are underperforming, a range of actions are taken to challenge them to 
improve. In the first instance challenge is provided by the school’s Link Adviser and followed 
up by the Head of Standards where necessary and appropriate. This will often have a positive 
impact on schools and support them with taking appropriate actions to improve outcomes. 
 
Where further intervention is judged to be necessary, for example where the school is not 
improving rapidly enough or when it is vulnerable in terms of an adverse OFSTED inspection, 
the school is subject to detailed termly school progress review meetings (SPRMs). In the 
most serious situations the LA uses its statutory powers of intervention to do one or all of the 
following: 

 Apply to the Secretary of State for the governing body to be replaced with an Interim 
Executive Board (IEB) 

 Withdrawal of delegated budget 

 Appointment of additional governors 

 Issue a Warning Notice 
 
We also issue non-statutory letters of concern which result in formal meetings with the head 
teacher and chair of governors. Where appropriate we support and challenge the governing 
body to follow necessary performance management / capability processes.  
 
In addition, schools are encouraged to collaborate with good and outstanding schools, 
through either informal or formal arrangements. 
 
Where we are concerned about the performance of academies we have formal conversations 
with the regional schools commissioner. 
 
4.  Attendance 
 
The most recent DfE validated data is for the autumn and spring terms of the 2017/18 
academic years and is used in this report unless indicated otherwise. Full academic year 
data for 2017/18 will be published in March/April 2019. 
 
There are two measures for absence from school. These are overall absence and 
persistent absence. Overall absence is the percentage of total school sessions that were 
recorded as an absence. Persistent absence is the percentage of pupils who are absent 
from school for more that 10% of the possible sessions.  
 
4.1 Overall absence from school 
 
Nationally the rate of primary school overall absence has increased by 0.2% from 3.9% to 
4.1%. In Croydon the percentage has increased by 0.1% and our rate of overall absence is 
now on a par with the percentage for England at 4.1%. 
 
Like the overall absence rate for primary schools, the Croydon secondary schools rate has 
seen a increase of 0.1% in overall absence, which now stands at at 5.2%. Nationally the 
overall absence rate has also increased by 0.2% to 5.3%, and therefore Croydon is 0.1% 
better than the national overall absence rate. 
 
The DfE attributes the increase in overall absence nationally  to increased levels of 

Page 63



unauthorised family holiday and other unauthorised absence. Illness remains the most 
common reason for absence and accounts for 2.8% of possible sessions, which is an 
increase of 0.1% on 2016/17. Nationally illness accounts for 60% of all absences. 
 
Overall Absence Trend 2002-2018 (Lower values are better in this table) 

Year 
Croydon 

Primary % 
England 

Primary % Year 
Croydon 

Secondary % 
England 

Secondary % 

2002/03 6.59 5.81 2002/03 8.92 8.28 

2003/04 6.19 5.49 2003/04 8.6 7.83 

2004/05 6.1 5.43 2004/05 8.32 7.82 

2005/06 6.5 5.18 2005/06 8.55 8.24 

2006/07 5.89 5.16 2006/07 8.16 7.87 

2007/08 5.91 5.26 2007/08 8.1 7.36 

2008/09 5.82 5.34 2008/09 7.29 7.25 

2009/10 5.9 5.34 2009/10 6.58 6.84 

2010/11 5.5 5.14 2010/11 6.06 6.52 

2011/12 4.5 4.4 2011/12 5.3 5.7 

2012/13 4.6 4.8 2012/13 5.2 5.8 

2013/14 3.9 3.9 2013/14 4.8 5.1 

2014/15 4.3 4 2014/15 4.9 5.2 

2015/16 4.1 3.9 2015/16 4.6 5 

2016/17 4.0 3.9 2016/17 5.1 5.1 

2017/18 4.1 4.1 2017/18 5.2 5.3 

  

 
 
 
 

3.5

4

4.5

5

5.5

6

6.5

7

Primary School Overall Absence % 2002-18 
Croydon vs England

Croydon Primary % England Primary %

Page 64



 
 
 
4.3 Persistent absence 
 
In the reporting period persistent absence was defined as a pupil missing more than 10% of 
possible sessions. Persistent absence is a serious issue for pupils as much of the missed 
learning is never made up and places pupils as a disadvantage compared to peers and 
impacts upon future attainment. There is evidence of a link between poor attendance and 
low levels of attainment. 
 
Croydon primary school persistent absence rate in 2017/18 was 9.8% and this was a 
decrease of 0.1% compared to the same period in 2016/17. This now stands at 0.2% higher 
than the national rate of 9.6%. Nationally there was a 0.9% increase in the rate compared 
to 2016/17. Therefore Croydon has reduced its percentage persistent absence rate against 
a significant rise in the same rate nationally and is now 0.2% higher than the England rate.  
 
Croydon secondary schools persistent absence rate in 2017/18 has increased 0.8% from 
12.4% in 2016/17 to 13.2%. This is the same as the increase nationally, which has risen 
from 12.7% to 13.5%. Croydon’s secondary school percentage rate for persistent absence 
therefore remains 0.3% better than the rate for England overall.  
 
Croydon vs Statistical Neighbour vs England PA Trend 2006-2018 
 
Persistent absence is when a pupil is absent for more than 10% of possible sessions. 
These absences cover both authorised and unauthorised absences. The tables below have 
been recalculated for the historic data and are based on the 10% threshold. The lower the 
figure the better in these tables and graphs. 
 
 
 
 
 

4.5

5

5.5

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

9.5

Secondary School Overall Absence % 2002-18 
Croydon vs England

Croydon Secondary % England Secondary %

Page 65



Primary School Persistent Absence 2006-18 

Year 
Croydon 

Primary % 
Statistical Neighbour 
Average Primary % 

England 
Primary % 

2006/07 18.9 17.7 15 

2007/08 18.5 18.7 15.5 

2008/09 18.9 18.3 15.8 

2009/10 18.4 16.7 15.2 

2010/11 14.4 15 13.9 

2011/12 11.9 11.5 11.1 

2012/13 12 12.2 12.6 

2013/14 9.3 9.5 8.8 

2014/15 10.3 9.9 9.2 

2015/16 9.6 9.4 8.8 

2016/17 9.9 9.2 8.7 

2017/18 9.8 9.6 9.6 

 
 

 
 
Secondary School Persistent Absence 2006-18 

Year 
Croydon 

Secondary % 
Statistical Neighbour 

Secondary  Average % 
England 

Secondary % 

2006/07 26.6 24.5 24.5 

2007/08 23.6 22.8 22.9 

2008/09 21.8 22.8 22.9 

2009/10 19.6 20.3 21 

2010/11 17.4 18.7 19.4 

2011/12 14.4 15.4 16.4 

2012/13 13.4 14.6 16.7 

2013/14 11.9 12.1 13.2 

2014/15 12.1 12.6 13.6 

2015/16 11.0 11.7 12.3 

2016/17 12.4 12.2 12.7 

2017/18 13.2 12.5 13.5 

8.5

10.5

12.5

14.5

16.5

18.5

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Primary School Persistent Absence at 10% since 2006 

Croydon Primary % Statistical Neighbour Average Primary % England Primary %

Page 66



 

 
 
4.3 Croydon’s overall and persistent absence in comparison to statistical 
neighbours 
 
Croydon primary school overall absence is the same as that of the average for our 
statistical neighbours at 4.1% and the percentage for persistent absence is 0.2% higher 
than the average of our statistical neighbours. 
 
Croydon’s secondary school overall absence is 0.3% higher than the average for our 
statistical neighbours and the percentage of persistent absence is 0.7% higher than the 
average for our statistical neighbours. 
 
Where as the gap at primary schools between Croydon, our statistical neighbours and 
national rates has narrowed since 2016/17 it has widened in secondary schools. 
 
4.4 What are we doing to improve overall and persistent absence? 
 
There is a strong correlation between good school attendance and achieving positive 
outcomes for young people. It is recognised that attending school regularly is also a 
protective factor for children and young people.  
 
The Department for Education, in September 2015, reduced the persistent absence 
threshold from 15% absences to 10% absences. 15% was in turn a reduction from 20%, 
which was the threshold when the measure was first introduced. This has led to a steady 
improvement in attendance as what is considered good attendance has go higher and there 
has been sharper focus on intervention to ensure ever greater numbers of young people 
are on the right side of the threshold.  
 
The creation of Octavo led to funding and responsibility for education welfare services 
being delegated to schools. Croydon Council retained responsibility for statutory 
enforcement services with schools assuming responsibility for improving attendance and 
casework around individual pupils. 
 

11

13

15

17

19

21

23

25

27

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Secondary School Persistent Absence at 10% since 2006

Croydon Secondary % Statistical Neighbour Secondary  Average % England Secondary %

Page 67



Schools either undertake this casework in house or commission independent education 
welfare providers to carry this out. There are two main independent education welfare 
providers operating in Croydon. Octavo ceased offering this as a traded service last 
academic year. 
 
Croydon Council’s Learning Access was restructured last year to provide us with a small 
team of school facing attendance improvement practitioners. This enables us to work with 
schools and parents to improve attendance in addition to our attendance enforcement work.  
 
The attendance improvement practitioners provide targetted support and challenge around 
attendance, holding them accountable for their actions around individual pupils; promote 
the use of the Early Help pathway and conducted reviews of whole school attendance 
practice in schools where this is a concern. 
 
The local authority also support schools by taking enforcement action, where this is 
appropriate, against parents who fail to ensure their children attend school regularly. In the 
2017/18 academic year 959 penalty notices were issued for unauthorised absence at 
school and 103 prosecutions were undertaken by the service. 
 
The service will continue to work to improve attendance through individual casework with 
appropriate cases; whole school support with priority schools; liaison with independent 
eduction welfare providers; raising awareness of attendance; and exploring opportunities 
provided by the new locality early help teams. 
 
5. Exclusions 
 
Pupils can be excluded from school either permanently or for a fixed period. These are 
formal sanctions that occur in response to breaches of the schools behaviour policy and 
there are regulations and guidance covering their use.  
 
Parents have various rights of representation in response to an exclusion. 
 
The national context 
 
The Department for Education publishes the national comparative rates for exclusions from 
academies and from local authority maintained schools. This data is published annually in 
the summer following each academic year once it has been validated. The most recent 
national data release was for the 2016/17 academic year, which was published in July 
2018. Validated data for the 2017/18 academic year will be published in July 2019.  
 
The data captures three measures, which are broken down by primary and secondary 
schools.  
These are:  

 The number of permanent exclusions and this as a percentage of total pupil 

numbers; 

 The number of fixed period of exclusions and this as a percentage of total pupil 

numbers; and 

 The number of pupils with one or more fixed period exclusions and this as a 

percentage of total pupil numbers. 

Page 68



The percentage of total pupil numbers is particularly key. This is because with the rising 
school age population the headline numbers of exclusions may rise but it may not actually 
rise as a proportion of the total number of pupils in the cohort.  
 
5.1 Permanent exclusions from Croydon schools during 2017/18 
 
There were 39 permanent exclusions from Croydon maintained schools during the 2017/18 
academic year giving a Croydon exclusion rate of 0.07%. This is decrease in the number of 
actual permanent exclusions for the 2016/17 academic year when there were 41 permanent 
exclusions. The Croydon exclusion rate remained the same at 0.07%. Three secondary 
schools accounted for 21 permanent between them; just over 50% of the borough’s total. 
 
There were 9 permanent exclusions of primary school pupils during 2017/18. This is the 
same as 2016/17. 
 
At further 10 permanent exclusions were subsequently withdrawn and two pupils were 
reintstated to the school by the governing body. 
  
Croydon’s permanent exclusion rate is lower than the average rate for statistical neighbours 
for 2016/17 (0.09%). It was also lower than the rates for England (0.10%) London (0.09%) 
and Inner London (0.08%) for the last published year. 
 
The table below shows the trend in the number of permanent exclusions from maintained 
Croydon schools, academies and free schools over recent years as well as the permanent 
exclusion rates compared with national, London and statistical neighbours. 
 

 
*Please note the figures for 2017/18 are not yet published. 
**SN average is the figure based on averages of averages.  
 
5.2 Fixed term exclusions from Croydon schools during 2017/18 
 
Validated fixed term exclusion data for 2017/18 will not be available until July 2019. The 
Croydon fixed term exclusion figure for 2017/18 are locally reported and should be 
considered provisional at this stage, which means any analysis based on locally reported 
data is subject to change once the validated data is published.  
 
The current local reported figure for all schools is 1522; with 1073 exclusions from 

  2
0

0
8

/0
9
 

2
0

0
9

/1
0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1
 

2
0

1
1

/1
2
 

2
0

1
2

/1
3
 

2
0

1
3

/1
4
 

2
0

1
4

/1
5
 

2
0

1
5

/1
6
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7
 

2
0

1
7

/1
8

* 
Number of PEx (Croydon) 81 75 77 65 65 13 24 22 41 39 

% of PEx (Croydon) 0.16 0.15 0.15 0.12 0.10 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.07 0.07 

% of PEx (England) 0.09 0.08 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.06 0.07 0.08 0.10 * 

% of PEx (London) 0.11 0.10 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.09 * 

% of PEx (SN Average**) 0.07 0.07 0.06 0.08 0.08 0.09 0.07 0.08 0.09 * 

Page 69



secondary schools, 390 from primary schools and 59 from AP & special school. This figure 
is almost certain to increase on previous years. 
 
Primary Fixed Term Exclusion 2012-17 (Source: DfE statistical data) 

 

2
0

1
2

/1
3
 

2
0

1
3

/1
4
 

2
0

1
4

/1
5
 

2
0

1
5

/1
6
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7
 

No. of FTEx (Croydon) 273 223 264 396 402 

% of FTEx (Croydon) 0.86 0.69 0.80 1.17 1.18 

% of FTEx (England) 0.88 1.02 1.10 1.21 1.37 

No of 1+ FTEx (Croydon) 145 122 141 206 205 

No of 1+ FTEx (Croydon) 0.46 0.38 0.42 0.61 0.60 

No of 1+ FTEx (England) 0.45 0.49 0.52 0.56 0.62 

 

 
 
 
Secondary Fixed Term Exclusion 2012-17 (Source: DfE statistical data) 

 

2
0

1
2

/1
3
 

2
0

1
3

/1
4
 

2
0

1
4

/1
5
 

2
0

1
5

/1
6
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7
 

No. of FTEx (Croydon) 1303 1245 1400 1452 1689 

% of FTEx (Croydon) 5.90 5.63 6.36 6.54 7.61 

% of FTEx (England) 6.72 6.62 7.51 8.46 9.40 

No of 1+ FTEx (Croydon) 908 822 944 1042 1142 

No of 1+ FTEx (Croydon) 4.11 3.72 4.29 4.70 5.14 

No of 1+ FTEx (England) 3.77 3.64 3.92 4.26 4.62 

 

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Primary Fixed Term Exclusions 2012-17 (%)

% of FTEx (Croydon) % of FTEx (England)

No of 1+ FTEx (Croydon) No of 1+ FTEx (England)

Page 70



 
 
5.3 Exclusions by ethnicity 2017/18 
 
Black Caribbean pupils made up 23% of permanent exclusions (at a rate of 0.15%) and 24.7% 
of fixed term exclusions (at a rate of 6.31%) from Croydon schools during the 2017/18 
academic year. Black Caribbean pupils account for 10.5% of the Croydon school age 
population.  
  
Like with England as a whole, Black Caribbean pupils in Croydon have the greatest level of 
disproportionately when it comes to exclusion from school. However the level of disproptionality 
in Croydon schools compares favourably to the levels found in England. Croydon’s permanent 
exclusion rate (0.15%) is nearly half the national rate for 2016/17 (0.28%) and our fixed term 
exclusion rate (6.31%) is two thirds of the 2016/17 national rate (10.2%). 
  
White British pupils account for 23% of permanent exclusions and 21.8% of fixed term 
exclusions from Croydon schools, academies and free schools during the 2017/18 academic 
year. White British pupils account for 27.2% of the Croydon school age population. 
  
Black African pupils account for 17.9% of permanent exclusions and 14.9% of fixed term 
exclusions from all schools in Croydon during the 2017/18 academic year. Black African pupils 
make up 15.1% of the Croydon school age population. 
  
 

ETHNICITY FPEX PEX 
PEx 

Reinstated 
PEx 

Withdrawn 
Grand 
Total 

ABAN - Bangladeshi 2       2 

AIND - Indian 5       5 

AOTH - Any Other Asian b'ground 24       24 

APKN - Pakistani 12 1     13 

BAFR - Black African 227 7   2 236 

BCRB - Black Caribbean 377 9   2 388 

BOTH - Any Other Black b'ground 64 1   2 67 

3.5

4.5

5.5

6.5

7.5

8.5

9.5

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Secondary Fixed Term Exclusions 2012-17 (%)

% of FTEx (Croydon) % of FTEx (England)

No of 1+ FTEx (Croydon) No of 1+ FTEx (England)

Page 71



CHNE - Chinese 1       1 

MOTH - Any Other Mixed b'ground 72 3     75 

MWAS - White and Asian 16 2     18 

MWBA - White and Black African 23 1     24 

MWBC - White & Black Caribbean 191 5 1 1 198 

NOBT - Info not yet obtained 79     1 80 

OOTH - Any other Ethnic Group 15       15 

REFU - Refused 23 2     25 

WBRI - White British 332 8 1 2 343 

WIRI - White Irish 1       1 

WIRT - Traveller - Irish Herit 2       2 

WOTH - Any Other White b'ground 55       55 

WROM - Gypsy/Roma 1       1 

Grand Total 1522 39 2 10 1573 

 
 

5.4 Exclusions of pupils with an EHCP 2017/18 
 
There were five permanent exclusions (3x primary & 2x secondary) from Croydon 
secondary schools of pupils with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) during 
2017/18. This is an increase from the three permanent exclusions the previous year 
(2016/17). In addition to this two pupils had permanent exclusions withdrawn.  Permanent 
exclusions of pupils with an EHCP account for 13% of the total permanent exclusions for 
the borough. 
  
There were 169 fixed term exclusions from Croydon mainstream schools for pupils with an 
EHCP during 2017/18, with a further 31 from AP and special schools. This takes the total to 
200 fixed term exclusions, which accounts for 13.1% of Croydon’s total fixed term 
exclusions. 
 
 
5.5 Exclusions of Looked After Children 
  
There were two permanent exclusions and 80 reported fixed term exclusions of ‘Looked 
After Children’ (LAC) during the 2017/18 academic year, an increase in both permanent 
and fixed term exclusions on the previous year. 
  
This data relates to children ‘looked after’ to any local authorities; not just Croydon LAC. 
The significant factor is that they attend a Croydon school. 
 
The Virtual School officers follow up on all cases of permanent and fixed term exclusions in 
relation to any LAC pupils that are looked after to Croydon. 
 
5.6 Fair Access Panel 
 

Since 2013 Croydon has utilised its Fair Access Panels to support primary and secondary 
schools to prevent the need for permanent exclusions.  
 

Page 72



Primary Fair Access 
 
The Primary Fair Access panel was established as a forum to provide advice to schools 
and acted as gatekeeper to primary PRU places at Bramley Bank. Primary schools could 
refer pupils to the panel to see if a place could be offered at Bramley Bank as an alternative 
to permanent exclusion. The panel consisted of a number of head teachers from Croydon 
primary schools; the head teacher from Bramley Bank; and the appropriate specialist 
officers from the local authority.  
 
In 2016/17 55 pupils were referred to the Primary Fair Access Panel. Five of these were 
hard to place pupils who required a mainstream school place. The remainder were cases 
presented by schools of pupils who were considered at risk of permanent exclusion. Only a 
small proportion of these were offered a place at Bramley Bank. 
 
A lack of available places at Bramley Bank meant it was decided to review the existing 
primary fair access process  at the end of the autumn term of 2017/18 and revise the 
model. Working with a group of primary school leaders a new staged approach was 
developed.  
 
The new staged approach was launched to head teachers in the summer term of 2018 and 
separates the advice to schools stage from the stage that enables access to primary PRU 
places at Bramley Bank. The new Primary Inclusion Forum is a collaborative meeting where 
schools meet as a group to discuss pupils of concern, devise strategies and offer mutual 
support and advice. Feedback from those schools that have attended the forum has been 
positive. 
 
Places at Bramley Bank will continue to be offered through the Primary Fair Access Panel 
to suitable cases. These will be for a time-limited intervention. All referrals to the panel 
require the consents of the child’s parents/carers before they can be discussed. 
 
At present, priority for places is for pupils who have been permanently excluded from 
school. Arrangements were recently put in place to create additional places, which became 
available in January 2019. These will be both at Bramley Bank and at a new provision, 
which will be known as The Beck. Both these provisions are part of the Beckmead Family of 
Schools. 
 
Secondary Fair Access 
 
Since 2013 Croydon’s Secondary Fair Access Panel has been successful in reducing the 
number of permanent exclusions from Croydon secondary schools.  
 
Prior to the panel there were in the region of 70 to 80 permanent exclusions a year from 
Croydon schools. In addition to this schools used to arrange managed moves between 
themselves as alternatives to permanent exclusions. The number of managed moves that 
occurred was not recorded as this was arranged at school to school level so it is not 
possible to compare data.  
 
The Fair Access Panel formalised much of the managed moves that had previously 
occurred between secondary schools. The panel acts in part as a managed move 
brokerage for Croydon schools and provides a greater level of scrutiny, transparency and 

Page 73



accountability than the previous system where managed moves were individually 
negotiated at school level. All referrals to the panel must have the consent of the pupil’s 
parent/carer before they can be considered.  
 
The panel can offer pupils who have been referred either a place at another mainstream 
secondary school or a place either at Saffron Valley Collegiate, our secondary PRU, or in 
another alternative provider. Parents can decline the offer from the Fair Access Panel if 
they wish. In those circumstances it would be for the head teacher of the school to decide 
whether or not they then wish to proceed with the formal permanent exclusion process. 
 
The panel also considers hard to place pupils from admissions. These could be pupils who 
are new to Croydon who are in need of a school place but whose personal histories make 
securing a school place more challenging or they could be pupils considered ready for 
reintegration to a mainstream school from Saffron Valley Collegiate or other alternative 
providers. 
 
The panel is coordinated by the local authority and chaired by a senior leader from a 
Croydon academy. Senior representatives from most Croydon secondary schools attend as 
do key people from the police, children’s social care and the youth offending service 
ensuring that there is a holistic multi-agency approach to deliberations and the decision on 
any new placement is informed by a range of information from panel members. 
 
Referrals to the Fair Access Panel are considered under one of the following categories:  

 Cases – hard to place pupils who are unable to secure a school place through 

normal admission procedures and need to be placed under the Fair Access Protocol 

 Alternative to exclusion – referrals from schools as an alternative to permanent 

exclusion 

 Prevention – referrals from schools for other reasons (i.e. a breakdown in 

relationships) where a managed move is felt to be desirable 

 Breakdown – referrals from schools that are referred back to the panel after a 

placement has broken down 

 
In 2017/18 the number of pupils discussed at the Secondary Fair Access Panel had 
reduced to 309. These broken down as follows: 

 Cases – 101 

 Alternative to exclusion – 115 

 Prevention – 79 

 Placement breakdown - 14 

 
This was a reduction on 2016/17 when a total of 375 pupils were discussed at the 
Secondary Fair Access Panel.  
 
71% of the offers made by the panel were offers of a place in a mainstream school. 
 
Conscious steps have been taken in recent years to reduce the number of referrals to the 
panel; particularly referrals for ‘alternative to exclusion’ by tightening up the referral criteria. 
These have successfully led to a reduction in referrals and the data shows that there has 
not been a corresponding rise in the number of permanent exclusions  
 

Page 74



5.7 What are we doing to reduce exclusions? 
 
A number of steps are being taken to work with schools to reduce their need to exclude 
pupils. These include: 
 

 At primary level to promote collaborative working through the Primary Inclusion 
Forum and offer respite AP placements through the Primary Fair Access Panel 

 At secondary level continue to utilise the the Secondary Fair Access Panel as a 
forum to broker managed moves to other schools and offer AP placements for pupils 
at riks of permanent exclusion; whilst also providing greater challenge to schools 
around the referrals they seek to make to the panel. 

 Exclusions prevention officer to provide support for individual cases where 
appropriate before the permananet exclsuion is given 

 Promote the use of devolved cluster funding to support pupils with additional needs 
who are at risk of exclusion. 

 Pro-actively indentify from fixed term exclusion data pupils who are becoming at risk 
of exclusion and seek to work with schools regarding those pupils. 

 Work with schools where they identify a pupil at risk of exclusion and seek to find 
alternative solutions that prevent the need to exclude. 

 Provide challenge and support to targetted high excluding schools to seek to reduce 
those school’s use of exclusions. 

 
 

6.   OFSTED INSPECTION OUTCOMES 
 

6.1 There were no major revisions made to the Ofsted Framework from September 2017 
and the Section inspections remained as they had in the previous year. Section 8 
inspections changed slightly during 2017/18 as they were no longer converting to 
section 5 inspections if the Lead Inspector had judged that things had changed 
significantly since the last inspection. 

           
There will be a new Ofsted Framework in place from September 2019 

 
6.2 At the beginning of January 2018 87% of all Croydon’s schools were judged by 

OFSTED to be good or better. The current percentage is 86%. 
 
          Recent inspections of our RI schools have been positive with one being judged as 

outstanding and one as good. 
 
          We have had one secondary school judged as Inadequate and we are working closely 

with the Academy Trust to ensure rapid and robust action is being taken to make the 
necessary improvements. 

 
7.  CONSULTATION 
 
 There are no needs for consultation arising from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 75



8. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 

There are no direct financial considerations or risks associated with this report. 
Approved by Lisa Taylor – Director of Finance, Investment and Risk. 

 
 
  

1. COMMENTS OF THE COUNCIL SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

The Solicitor to the Council comments that there are no legal implications arising 
from this report. 
 
Approved by J Harris Baker, Director of Law and Governance 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 

10. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 
 There are no direct Human Resources considerations arising from this report for 

Council employees.  Should there be a future need to make any changes within the 
schools workforce, as a result of School Improvement Plan, then this would be 
handled by the relevant schools’ governing body in accordance with their HR policy 
and procedures.   

 
           Approved by Debbie Calliste, Head of HR for Health, Wellbeing and Adults, on 

behalf of the Director of Human Resources 
 

 
 
11. EQUALITIES IMPACT   

 
 As the quality of Croydon’s schools continues to improve there is a positive impact for 

all pupil groups, including the most disadvantaged. Schools continue to be challenged 
to set demanding targets for the achievement of pupils in receipt of the pupil premium 
grant and are expected to demonstrate the impact this funding has to close the gap 
between these pupils and their peers.  

 
 The work, commissioned through Octavo, of the inclusion team supports achievement 

amongst the most vulnerable groups of pupils, including white working class boys and 
girls, those with English as an Additional Language, traveller children and asylum 
seekers / those newly arrived to the country. The evidence shows that whilst there is 
still a gap between white working class children, children of Carribbean heritage and 
white / Caribbean dual heritage children and their peers the gap is narrowing. The 
team is focusing on closing the gap for Black Caribbean and Pupil Premium pupils in 
the borough at KS2.  

 
 Children Looked After by the Local Authority make good progress from often low 

starting points. Whilst attainment for this cohort of pupils appears low this includes the 
very large number of young people recently arrived from overseas. Funding for the 
Virtual School for Children Looked After will continue to provide support, guidance and 

Page 76



challenge for this group of learners and their schools in order to continue the upward 
trajectory in the progress they make. 

 
12. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT  
 
 There are no direct implications contained in this report.  
 
13. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT  
 
 There are no direct implications contained in this report. 
 
14. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS/PROPOSED DECISION 

 
14.1 This report is for information and there are no recommendations other than to note 

its contents.  The report has been included on the agenda for the next relevant 
scrutiny committee. 
 

15. OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  
 

15.1 Not relevant. 
  

 
Contact Officer:  David Butler, Director of Education and Youth Engagement.  
                             Shelley Davies – Head of Standards, Safeguarding and Learning Access. 
 
Background Documents: None 
 
Appendices : 
 
Appendix 1: KS2 Test results for RWM at expected standard AY 2015/2016 
Appendix 2:  Secondary School GCSE results 2016 
Appendix 3: Exclusions from Croydon maintained schools and academies for the 2015/16 

academic year 
Appendix 4:  Exclusions from maintained schools and academies for 2015/16 for children 

with SEN, Children Looked After and by ethnic group 
Appendix 5:  Explanation and identification of Statistical Neighbours 
Appendix 6: Explanation of and information on Fair Access Panel 
Appendix 7:  Croydon School Improvement Plan 
Appendix 8: Definition of Attainment and Progress 8 
 

Page 77



Appendix 1 KS2 Floor standard for AY 2017/18 Final data 
 
In 2017, a school was above the floor if: 
 
 • at least 65% of pupils meet the expected standard in English reading, English writing and 
mathematics; 
 Or 
 • the school achieves sufficient progress scores in all three subjects: At least -5 in English 
reading, -5 in mathematics and -7 in English writing.  
 
The attainment element is a combined measure. This means an individual pupil needs to 
meet the ‘expected standard’ in English reading, English writing and mathematics, in order 
to be counted towards the attainment element. 
 

       

  Progress   

  
Reading Writing Maths 

 Attainment  

Estab. Name Cohort 

Avg. 
Prog. 
Score 

Avg. 
Prog. 
Score 

Avg. 
Prog. 
Score  

%  RWM 
Expected 
standard 

National Threshold - -5.0 -7.0 -5.0  65% 

Aerodrome Primary Academy 90 -0.9 -0.1 +0.5  59% 

All Saints CofE Primary School 59 -0.3 -0.5 +0.7  61% 

Applegarth Academy 58 +9.9 +5.4 +9.8  93% 

Ark Oval Primary Academy 57 -3.0 +2.5 +0.0  47% 

Atwood Primary Academy 60 +2.0 +1.8 +3.7  83% 

Beaumont Primary School 31 +4.7 +4.4 +4.5  97% 

Beulah Junior School 88 -0.7 +0.2 +1.3  60% 

Broadmead Primary School 78 +1.1 +0.1 +0.2  42% 

Castle Hill Academy 61 -1.1 +0.6 -0.1  49% 

Chipstead Valley Primary School 59 +3.2 +2.7 +1.8  83% 

Christ Church CofE Primary School (Purley) 53 -1.1 +0.9 -1.6  70% 

Coulsdon CofE Primary School 29 +3.7 -2.3 +1.5  72% 

Courtwood Primary School 32 -2.5 +0.0 -2.7  63% 

Cypress Primary School 88 +0.8 +2.0 +1.0  66% 

David Livingstone Academy 30 +2.7 +1.7 +3.2  83% 

Davidson Primary Academy 65 +1.2 +1.2 -1.0  63% 

Downsview Primary and Nursery School 60 +1.7 -0.4 +2.5  83% 

Ecclesbourne Primary School 54 -1.1 -0.8 +0.9  70% 

Elmwood Junior School 118 -1.0 -0.2 +0.8  65% 

Fairchildes Primary School 61 +0.9 +0.7 +2.2  77% 

Forest Academy 69 -2.0 -0.5 -1.3  68% 

Forestdale Primary School 28 +3.2 +1.8 +4.3  82% 

Gilbert Scott Primary School 28 -6.0 -2.1 -1.8  43% 

Gonville Academy 59 +3.0 +1.0 +3.4  63% 

Page 78



Good Shepherd Catholic Primary and 
Nursery School 31 +1.0 +1.5 +2.4  74% 

Greenvale Primary School 32 -0.4 +1.1 -0.1  71% 

Gresham Primary School 32 -0.7 +1.5 +0.2  75% 

Harris Primary Academy Benson 53 +0.3 +2.5 +1.6  77% 

Harris Primary Academy Kenley 53 +1.6 -0.7 +0.6  77% 

Heavers Farm Primary School 108 -1.8 +1.4 -1.6  69% 

Howard Primary School 29 +1.9 +3.4 +2.6  86% 

Kenley Primary School 28 +0.3 -1.6 +2.0  57% 

Kensington Avenue Primary School 88 +2.5 +1.9 +3.2  68% 

Keston Primary School 59 +1.6 +1.9 +0.9  66% 

Kingsley Primary Academy 115 -2.7 -0.8 -2.2  43% 

Margaret Roper Catholic Primary School 32 -0.8 +1.2 +1.3  69% 

Monks Orchard School 60 -3.9 -4.3 -2.9  60% 

New Valley Primary School 27 +3.5 +2.2 +2.8  70% 

Norbury Manor Primary School 51 +4.6 +2.0 +7.2  63% 

Oasis Academy Byron 49 +3.4 +2.5 +4.0  88% 

Oasis Academy Ryelands 57 +2.3 +2.0 +3.3  65% 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park 60 +3.6 +3.1 +4.1  88% 

Orchard Way Primary School 30 -2.1 -0.1 -0.4  73% 

Park Hill Junior School 88 +1.0 -3.1 +2.4  73% 

Purley Oaks Primary School 86 +3.3 +2.0 +2.4  65% 

Regina Coeli Catholic Primary School 58 +4.9 +3.3 +3.4  83% 

Ridgeway Primary School 90 -0.3 -1.8 -0.7  66% 

Rockmount Primary School 57 -0.4 +0.5 +1.6  74% 

Rowdown Primary School 44 +1.8 +4.6 +3.3  52% 

Selsdon Primary and Nursery School 89 +0.7 +1.4 +2.1  56% 

Smitham Primary School 57 -0.3 -0.2 -1.4  65% 

St Aidan's Catholic Primary School 32 +2.3 +0.4 +1.6  75% 

St Chad's Catholic Primary School 58 +3.0 +3.0 +1.9  76% 

St Cyprian's Greek Orthodox Primary 
Academy 65 +0.8 +0.8 +3.7  88% 

St James the Great RC Primary and Nursery 
School 57 +4.8 +0.9 +2.7  81% 

St John's CofE Primary School 32 +3.8 +2.9 +0.9  78% 

St Joseph's RC Junior School 54 +2.5 +6.3 +2.5  74% 

St Mark's Church of England Primary 
Academy 21 +1.3 +1.4 +1.3  71% 

St Peter's Primary School 60 +1.6 -3.1 +0.7  52% 

St Thomas Becket Catholic Primary School 58 +0.1 +0.9 -0.1  74% 

St. Mary's Catholic Junior School 57 +0.8 -0.8 +4.4  70% 

The Crescent Primary School 141 -0.7 -6.6 -3.5  34% 

The Hayes Primary School 55 +3.0 +0.4 +0.4  76% 

The Minster Junior School 87 +1.8 +1.0 -0.1  68% 

The South Norwood Academy 71 +0.2 -1.4 +0.9  59% 

Page 79



The Woodside Academy 112 +2.8 +1.3 +3.1  76% 

Tudor Academy 86 -2.3 -1.7 -2.7  71% 

West Thornton Primary Academy 90 -1.0 -1.0 +0.6  68% 

Whitehorse Junior School 83 -1.0 -1.8 -0.1  71% 

Winterbourne Boys' Academy 74 +2.3 +5.2 +5.4  61% 

Winterbourne Junior Girls' School 88 +2.8 +8.4 +3.8  69% 

Woodcote Primary School 89 -1.5 +0.5 -0.8  70% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 80



Appendix 2: Secondary School GCSE results 2018 by school  
Provisional results  
 

 
NB: Data for 2018 is not yet validated and may change. 
 
Academies 
The Council has not shied away from enacting structural solutions where local authority 
schools have been significantly underperforming. The results for the academies (in bold) in 
the chart can be compared and contrasted with the non-bold results for its predecessor 

  Progress 8 9-5 

Estab. Name   Cohort Att. 8 Cov. 
Avg. 

Score 

EBac
c 

 Eng. 
LL 

EBac
c 

 Mat. E&M 

5+ 
Includin

g  
E&M¹ 

National (all schools)  584340 44.3 86.2% -0.08 56.5% 46.1% 39.9% 55.2% 

National (state-funded schools)  523760 46.4 94.5% -0.02 60.1% 49.1% 43.0% 59.7% 

DfE Region - London  76280 49.2 91.1% 0.23 66.6% 53.6% 48.5% 63.8% 

LA (state-funded schools) - Croydon  3454 45.7 89.1% 0.07 62.5% 47.4% 42.2% 58.0% 

Archbishop Tenison's CofE High School  106 52.3 93.4% 0.35 75.5% 52.8% 50.9% 69.8% 

Beckmead School  37 5.5 94.6% -2.45 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.7% 

Bensham Manor School  24 1.2 79.2% -1.6 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

BRIT School for Performing Arts and Technology  187 50.8 85.0% -0.13 83.4% 47.6% 46.0% 69.5% 

Coloma Convent Girls' School  148 61.5 95.9% 0.9 87.8% 70.9% 68.2% 87.2% 

Harris Academy Purley  150 45.2 96.7% 0.1 50.7% 51.3% 38.0% 58.7% 

Harris Academy South Norwood  246 46.8 90.2% 0.29 66.7% 51.6% 46.7% 58.1% 

Harris City Academy Crystal Palace  169 55.9 95.3% 0.44 73.4% 63.3% 59.2% 77.5% 

Meridian High School  76 36 90.8% -0.5 51.3% 25.0% 22.4% 36.8% 

Norbury Manor Business and Enterprise College for Girls  191 52.5 95.8% 0.41 80.6% 47.1% 44.0% 69.1% 

Oasis Academy Coulsdon  139 45.5 87.8% 0.12 65.5% 51.1% 46.8% 51.1% 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park  158 42.3 95.6% 0.04 50.6% 42.4% 34.8% 51.9% 

Orchard Park High (Croydon)  204 43.2 86.3% -0.04 54.4% 38.2% 31.9% 50.5% 

Priory School  11 0 90.9% -1.34 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Riddlesdown Collegiate  307 54.9 95.8% 0.6 83.4% 64.2% 61.9% 73.9% 

Shirley High School Performing Arts College  173 40.6 96.5% -0.6 55.5% 36.4% 30.1% 48.0% 

St Andrew's C of E School  129 37.6 86.0% -0.63 46.5% 40.3% 31.0% 38.0% 

St Giles School  3 0 100.0% -1.34 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

St Joseph's College  165 53.5 95.8% 0.35 72.7% 63.0% 57.6% 77.6% 

St Mary's Catholic High School  107 31.8 56.1% -0.62 31.8% 24.3% 20.6% 25.2% 

The Archbishop Lanfranc Academy  98 42.2 86.7% -0.01 52.0% 33.7% 30.6% 48.0% 

The Quest Academy  112 41.4 84.8% 0.16 54.5% 41.1% 30.4% 54.5% 

Thomas More Catholic School  136 46.3 82.4% 0.08 66.9% 52.2% 46.3% 60.3% 

Virgo Fidelis Convent Senior School  106 43.7 81.1% -0.15 51.9% 38.7% 33.0% 50.9% 

Woodcote High School  210 48.1 95.2% 0.07 62.9% 55.7% 47.1% 64.3% 

 
1 Pupils achieving A*-C/9-4 in 5 or more subjects 
including English and Maths 
         

Significantly above         

Significantly below         

Page 81



school. The move to academy status remains one of the strategies the local authority is 
ready and willing to use, where appropriate, to effect rapid improvement in its schools. The 
Council continues to support and challenge all schools, regardless of status (for example 
through the link adviser mechanism). 
 
Schools which have only recently become academies may not yet show improved 
outcomes.  Where the local authority is concerned that improvement is not sufficiently rapid, 
the local authority holds to account the Regional Schools Commissioner (responsible for 
standards in academies) through regular discussion. 
 

Page 82



 

 

Appendix 3:  Exclusions from maintained schools and academies for 2017/18 
 

School FPEx PEx 
PEx 
Withdrawn 

PEx 
Reinstated 

Total 

Aerodrome Primary Academy 3     3 

All Saints CofE Primary School 11     11 

Applegarth Academy 9 1   10 

Archbishop Tenison's CofE High School 57     57 

Atwood Primary Academy 2     2 

Beckmead School 24     24 

Bensham Manor School 1     1 

Beulah Junior School 5     5 

Broadmead Primary Academy 7     7 

Castle Hill Academy 15     15 

Chestnut Park Primary School 6     6 

Christ Church CofE Primary School (Purley) 1     1 

Cypress Primary Academy 2     2 

David Livingstone Primary Academy 6     6 

Downsview Primary and Nursery School 8     8 

Fairchildes Primary Academy 2 1   3 

Forest Academy 1     1 

Gilbert Scott Primary School 5     5 

Gonville Academy 6     6 

Harris Academy Purley 108 1 1  110 

Harris Academy South Norwood 1 5 3  9 

Harris City Academy Crystal Palace 13 2   15 

Harris Invictus Academy Croydon   1   1 

Harris Primary Academy Benson 3 1   4 

Harris Primary Academy Haling Park 3 2   5 

Harris Primary Academy Kenley 1     1 

Heavers Farm Primary School 61 2   63 

Howard Primary School 2     2 

Kenley Primary School 5     5 

Kensington Avenue Primary School 4     4 

Kingsley Primary Academy 31     31 

Meridian High School 15 2   17 

Monks Orchard Primary School and Nursery 16     16 

New Valley Primary School 5     5 

Norbury Manor Bus. & Enterprise College  33     33 

Norbury Manor Primary School 8     8 

Oasis Academy Arena 110 1   111 

Oasis Academy Ryelands 4     4 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park 94     94 

Orchard Park High School 167 6 3 1 177 

Park Hill Infant School 3     3 

Purley Oaks Primary School 3     3 

Riddlesdown Collegiate 36     36 

Ridgeway Primary School 11     11 

Rockmount Primary School 11     11 

Rowdown Primary Academy 4     4 

Page 83



 

 

Saffron Valley Collegiate 38     38 

Selsdon Primary and Nursery School 8     8 

Shirley High School Performing Arts College 27     27 

Smitham Primary School 23 1   24 

St Andrew's CofE Voluntary Aided High School 123     123 

St Cyprian's Greek Orthodox Primary Academy 3     3 

St John's CofE Primary School 4     4 

St Joseph's College 66     66 

St Joseph's RC Infant School 15     15 

St Mark's CofE Primary Academy 4     4 

St Mary's Catholic High School 42 1 3  46 

St Mary's Catholic Junior School 4     4 

St Peter's Primary School 1     1 

The Archbishop Lanfranc Academy - Coloma Trust 15     15 

The Crescent Primary School 2     2 

The Minster Junior School 3     3 

The Quest Academy   1   1 

The Robert Fitzroy Academy 2     2 

The Woodside Academy 4 1   5 

Thomas More School 108 10   118 

Virgo Fidelis Convent Senior School 52     52 

West Thornton Academy 14     14 

Whitehorse Manor Infant - Pegasus Academy Trust 5     5 

Whitehorse Manor Junior - Pegasus Academy Trust 2     2 

Wolsey Infant School - closed 3     3 

Wolsey Junior Academy - closed 26     26 

Woodcote Primary School 4    1 5 

Grand Total 1522 39 10 2 1573 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



 

 

Appendix 4:  Exclusions from maintained schools and academies for 2017/18 for 
children with SEN, Children Looked After and by ethnic group. 
 

Exclusions by SEN Source: local data 

             

  2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 

  Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm 

Non-SEN 659 39 996 3 1379 20 816 10 663 16 744 6 

School Action  208 4 92 6 60 2 56 0 29 2 25   

School Action Plus 391 16 273 3 122 1 47 4 12 1 18 1 

Statemented 245 6 91 1 74 1 50 0 4 0 1   

EHCP             159 3 155 3 199 5 

Support             581 5 467 11 535 27 

Total Numbers 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

 
 

Exclusions by looked after children (LAC) Source: local data 
 

 

  2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 

  Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm 

Not Looked After 1461 64 1423 13 1613 24 1597 20 1276 33 1442 37 

Looked After Children 42 1 29 0 22   112 2 54 0 80 2 

Total Numbers 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

 

 

Exclusions by Ethnicity Source: local data 
 

  2011/12 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2017/2018 

  Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm 

ABAN - Bangladeshi 5   7 0 7 1 7 1 3   2   

AIND - Indian 12   6 0 11   11 0 2   5   

AOTH - Any other Asian background 23   23 0 17 1 17 1 19   24   

APKN - Pakistani 25   14 0 15   15 0 8   12 1 

BAFR - African 240 11 215 3 247 4 247 4 212 3 227 7 

BCRB - Black Caribbean 310 11 350 2 450 4 450 4 345 3 377 9 

BOTH - Any other Black background 61   66 2 106 3 106 3 92 1 64 1 

CHNE – Chinese   2 0 0 0   0 0 0   1   

MOTH - Any other Mixed background 82 2 73 0 76 1 76 1 80 2 72 3 

MWAS - White/Asian 13   15 0 14   14 0 10 1 16 2 

MWBA - White/Black African 22 2 25 0 37   37 0 23 1 23 1 

MWBC - White/Black Caribbean 127 5 114 1 152 1 152 1 119 3 191 5 

NOBT - Info not obtained 5 1 29 1 32   32 0 36 3 79   

OOTH - Any other Ethnic Group 36   9 0 7 1 7 1 19 1 15   

REFU – Refused 17   18 0 36 2 36 2 14 1 23 2 

WBRI – British 459 26 419 4 433 4 433 4 304 12 332 8 

WIRI – Irish 6   14 0 6   6 0 4   1   

WIRT - Traveller - Irish Heritage 8 2 1 0 57   57 0 1   2   

Page 85



 

 

WOTH - Any other White background 49 2 49 0 6   6 0 37 2 55   

WROM - Roma/Roma Gypsy 3 1 5 0 0   0 0 2   1   

Total Exclusions 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

 
Exclusions by BME (Black African, Black Caribbean and Black Other) Source: local data 
 

  2011/12 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2017/2018 

  Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm 

BME Groups 611 22 631 7 744 12 803 11 649 7 669 17 

Other  892 43 821 6 891 12 906 11 681 26 853 22 

Total exclusions 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

 
 

Reasons for exclusions Source: local data 

 

  2011/12 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2017/2018 

  Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm Fixed  Perm 

Bullying 34   33 0 35 0 28 1 13 0 14   

Damage 58   54 0 63 1 44 0 36 3 39 2 

Drug and alcohol related 54 3 53 0 68 1 58 1 33 3 38 2 

Other 115 2 112 0 135 2 201 0 238 2 155 2 

Persistent disruptive behaviour 295 26 333 3 400 3 457 6 242 12 376 11 

Physical assault against adult 160 9 126 2 151 1 170 1 198 2 203 8 

Physical assault against pupil 354 6 316 3 328 3 394 6 305 3 401 5 

Possession of Offensive Weapon 15 8 25 3 29 5 22 3 15 4 10 4 

Racist abuse 11   14 0 15 0 17 0 7 0 11   

Sexual misconduct 31 3 33 0 20 2 14 0 15 3 16 1 

Theft 61 1 34 0 42 0 34 1 19 0 26   

Verb abuse/threat behaviour adult 233 3 237 1 259 4 176 3 151 1 165 4 

Verb abuse/threat behaviour pupil 82 4 82 1 90 2 94 0 58 0 68   

Total Exclusions 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

 

Page 86



 

 

Excluded pupils as percentage of school population Source: local data 

 

  2018 EXCLUSIONS BY ETHNIC GROUP Pupils on roll 
Jan 2018 
census  

Excluded pupils as percentage of 
school population 2018 

  Fixed Perm Total  Fixed Perm Total 

ABAN - Bangladeshi 2   2 606  0.33 0.00 0.33 

AIND - Indian 5   5 2844  0.18   0.18 

AOTH - Any Oth Asian b'ground 24   24 3013  0.80 0.00 0.80 

APKN - Pakistani 12 1 13 2585  0.46   0.50 

BAFR - Black African 227 7 236 8586  2.64 0.08 2.75 

BCRB - Black Caribbean 377 9 388 5970  6.31 0.15 6.50 

BOTH - Any Oth Black b'ground 64 1 67 1596  4.01 0.06 4.20 

CHNE - Chinese 1   1 312        

MOTH - Any Oth Mixed b'ground 72 3 75 3630  1.98 0.08 2.07 

MWAS - White and Asian 16 2 18 1118  1.43   1.61 

MWBA - White and Black African 23 1 24 1101  2.09   2.18 

MWBC - White & Black Caribbean 191 5 198 2667  7.16 0.19 7.42 

NOBT - Info not yet obtained 79   24 377  20.95   6.37 

OOTH - Any other Ethnic Group 15   15 1146  1.31 0.00 1.31 

REFU - Refused 23 2 25 557  4.13 0.36 4.49 

WBRI - White British 332 8 343 15459  2.15 0.05 2.22 

WIRI - White Irish 1   1 209  0.48   0.48 

WIRT - Traveller - Irish Herit 2   2 36  5.56     

WOTH - Any Oth White b'ground 55   55 4844  1.14   1.14 

WROM - Gypsy/Roma 1   1 74  1.35   1.35 

Grand Total 1522 39 1573 56730  2.68 0.07 2.77 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 87



 

 

Appendix 5:  Explanation and identification of Statistical Neighbours 
 
The National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) was commissioned in 2007 
by the Department to identify and group similar LAs in terms of the socio-economic 
characteristics. Each LA was assigned 10 such neighbours. The original set of statistical 
neighbours was calculated from the following factors: 

• 2001 Census 

• Annual population surveys between 2001 and 2005 

• Labour force survey four quarterly averages – June 2004 to May 2005 

• Annual survey of hours and earnings 2005 

• The ODPM (Office of the Deputy Prime Minister) indices of multiple deprivation 

• The DfE local authority data matrix 

• DVLA information on vehicle numbers and ages 

• CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) information on 
availability of services 

Statistical neighbours were reviewed in 2014 using information from the 2011 census. 
This resulted in changes to Croydon’s neighbours which shows we are increasingly 
compared with inner London Boroughs and therefore suggests a change in our 
demographic to becoming increasingly similar to inner London Boroughs. 

Long term statistical 
neighbours 

New statistical 
neighbours 

Previous statistical 
neighbours 

Birmingham Brent (Outer London) Hillingdon (Outer 
London) 

Ealing (Outer London) Haringey (Inner 
London) 

Luton 

Enfield (Outer London) Lambeth (Inner 
London) 

Reading 

Greenwich (Outer London) Lewisham (Inner 
London) 

Redbridge (Outer 
London) 

Merton (Outer London)   

Waltham Forest (Outer 
London) 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

 

Appendix 6:Explanation of  Fair Access Process and breakdown of school 
referals. 
 
The School Admissions code requires each Local Authority to agree a fair access 
protocol with the majority of schools in its area to ensure that the most vulnerable 
children are found a place in a school without delay. The code instructs Local Authorities 
that the list of children considered under the protocol should be agreed locally but must 
include the following that can have difficulty obtaining a school place 
 
a) children from the criminal justice system or Pupil Referral Units who need to be 
reintegrated into mainstream education;  
b)  children who have been out of education for two months or more;  
c)  children of Gypsies, Roma, Travellers, refugees and asylum seekers;  
d)  children who are homeless;  
e)  children with unsupportive family backgrounds for whom a place has not been 
sought;  
f)  children who are carers; and  
g) children with special educational needs, disabilities or medical conditions (but 
without a statement or Education, Health and Care Plan) 
 
Cases presented at Secondary Fair Access Panel by School in 2017/18 
 
309 pupil referrals were considered by the Fair Access Panel during the 2017/18 
academic year. 101 cases were presented at panel as pupils requiring school places 
who were unable to be placed though the normal admissions procedures 
 
When cases were presented at panel by schools in 2017/18 they were considered 
under the following categories: 
 

A. Avoidance. Cases were presented in this category when a pupil was at risk of 
permanent exclusion 
 

B.  Prevention. Cases were presented in this category when it was judged by the 
school that a pupil would benefit from a fresh start in another setting 

 
C. Breakdown. Cases were presented in this category when placement peviously 

agreed at the Fair Access Panel had not been successful. 
 

In 2017/18 115 cases were presented by schools under the avoidance category; 79 
cases were under the category of prevention; and 14 were placement breakdowns. 
 

Page 89



 

 

The following table gives the number of cases presented by Croydon secondary 

schools in each category during the 2017/18 academic year. 

 
Secondary Fair Access - Referrals and Offers 2017/18 

Croydon Establishment No. of Offers No. of Referrals 

Archbishop Lanfranc 7 8 

Archbishop Tenison 3 1 

Beckmead CLT (AP) 9 0 

BRIT School 0 0 

CACFO (AP) 0 2 

Coloma Convent 0 0 

Harris Crystal Palace 0 3 

Harris Invictus 2 12 

Harris Purley 12 4 

Harris South Norwood 17 20 

John Ruskin 1 0 

Meridian High School 9 21 

Norbury Manor BEC 9 2 

Oasis Academy Arena 10 10 

Oasis Academy Coulsdon 4 8 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park 8 7 

Orchard Park 12 19 

Riddlesdown Collegiate 15 8 

Shirley High School 8 4 

St Andrews 33 19 

St Joseph's 6 5 

St Mary's Catholic 10 6 

Saffron Valley (AP) 72 38 

The Quest Academy 10 13 

Thomas More Catholic 4 3 

Virgo Fidelis 14 3 

Woodcote High 12 3 
 
  

Page 90



 

 

Appendix 7: Croydon School Improvement Plan 
 
Croydon Council and its partner agencies working with children, young people and 
families in Croydon share high aspirations and ambition for their future. To secure our 
ambition, we need to deliver the very best services. The progress made by Croydon 
schools in terms of inspection outcomes has been heartening: nevertheless we 
continue to press for all schools to be good or outstanding and for children to achieve 
outcomes in line with their peers in London at all key stages. 
 
There are two key strands to our vision: 

1. Every school a school of choice: every pupil in Croydon educated in a school providing 

at least a good standard of education 

2. Excellent outcomes for children and young people: every child becoming the best they 

can be, with high comparative outcomes and vulnerable groups in line with their peers 

 
Our School Improvement Plan sets the framework for this work, presenting a clear 
direction of travel and explicit priorities for action. The key priorities have been 
developed as a result of a detailed analysis of our local authority data, they form the 
basis for some aspirational targets. The key priorities are as follows: 

 

 Promote high standards in all schools, particularly where areas of weakness 
have been identified i.e. Outcomes for CLA, outcomes for pupils with an EHCP 
and close the difference between our highest attaining and lowest attaining 
schools 

 Ensure that vulnerable schools and schools causing concern, including 
academies, improve rapidly by building on the success of the SPRM process 
and robustly challenging any slow progress, making full use of statutory powers 
when required. Where appropriate hold challenging conversations with the 
RSC and Diocese 

 To enable schools to improve English and mathematics outcomes at a faster 
rate, in all key stages, by securing differentiated, quality assured training and 
development. Monitor closely the impact of any projects (SSIF). Particularly 
boys attainment at KS4 

 Support and challenge post-16 collaboration to strengthen post-16 curriculum, 
viability and standards 

The following page sets out our vision, key priorities, targets and improvement partners 
to ensure we achieve the best outcomes for all our children and young people. The 
Council’s governance mechanism for school improvement, its Learning and 
Improvement Board, will monitor the delivery and impact of the action plan that sets out 
how we will deliver these priorities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



 

 

 

 

Croydon council vision for school quality and standards 
1. Every school a school of 

choice: every pupil in 

Croydon educated in a 

school providing at least 

a good standard of 

education 

2. Excellent outcomes for 
children and young people: 

every child becoming the best 
they can be, with high 

comparative outcomes and 
vulnerable groups in line with 

their peers 

School Improvement Plan:  Targets  
 

To enable schools to improve English and 
mathematics outcomes at a faster rate, in all key 

stages, by securing differentiated, quality 
assured training and development. In particular 

outcomes for boys at KS4 
Monitor closely the impact of any projects. 

 

Promote high standards in all schools, 
particularly where areas of weakness have 

been identified i.e. Outcomes for CLA, 
outcomes for pupils with an EHCP and close 
the difference between our highest attaining 

and lowest attaining schools 

 

Sustain EYFS outcomes so that we are in line 
with London averages and remain on an 

upward trajectory beyond 2017 

Improve / sustain KS1 attainment in reading, 
writing and mathematics so that we remain 

above national and narrow gaps with London 
where appropriate. 

 

Maintain the percentage of pupils achieving the expected level of 

combined attainment at the end of KS2 to be above national. Close the 

gaps in outcomes with other London boroughs 

 

Sustain the reduction in the number of 
schools falling below floor standards 

 

Close the progress gap, at key stages 4 and 5, between 

Croydon’s schools and our statistical neighbours and 

towards London averages 

 

Increasing post-16 participation in 
education, employment and 

training. 
Close the gaps in attainment by age 

19 

 

Reduce the number of schools judged 
as requiring improvement by Ofsted 

School Improvement Plan:  Key Priorities 

Ensure that vulnerable schools and schools causing 
concern,including academies, improve rapidly by 
building on the success of the SPRM process and 

robustly challenging any slow progress, making full 
use of statutory powers when required. 

Where appropriate hold challenging conversations 
with the RSc and Diocese 

Increase the number of pupils achieving a combined 
English and mathematics grade Level 9 -4 so that Croydon 

pupils do as well as their peers across London 

School Improvement Plan: Enablers 

Local Authority Octavo Partnership Teaching Schools Other quality assured providers 

P
age 92



 

 

Appendix 8 
Definition of Progress 8 / Attainment 8: 
 
Progress 8 and Attainment 8 are two measures that schools have been judged against since 2016. They are designed to encourage 
schools to offer a broad and balanced curriculum at KS4. 
 
Progress 8 aims to capture the progress a pupil makes from the end of primary school to the end of compulsory secondary school 
education. It is a type of value added measure, which means that pupils’ results are compared to the actual achievements of other pupils 
with the same prior attainment. It is based on a pupil’s progress measured across 8 subjects: 
 

 English 

 Mathematics 

 Three other English Baccalaureate (EBacc) subjects (sciences, computer science, geography, history and languages) 

 Three further subjects, which can be from the range of EBacc subjects, or can be any other GCSE or approved academic or 
vocational qualification 

 
Attainment 8 will measure the average achievement of a pupil across 8 qualifications including mathematics (double weighted) and English 
(double weighted), 3 further qualifications that count in the English Baccalaureate (EBacc) measure and 3 further qualifications that can be 
GCSE qualifications (including EBacc subjects) or any other non-GCSE qualifications on the DfE approved list. 
 
 

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 KS2 Floor standard for AY 2017/18 Final data 

In 2017, a school was above the floor if: 

• at least 65% of pupils meet the expected standard in English reading, English writing and
mathematics; 
 Or 
• the school achieves sufficient progress scores in all three subjects: At least -5 in English

reading, -5 in mathematics and -7 in English writing. 

The attainment element is a combined measure. This means an individual pupil needs to 
meet the ‘expected standard’ in English reading, English writing and mathematics, in order 
to be counted towards the attainment element. 

Progress 
Reading Writing Maths 

Attainment  

Estab. Name Cohort 

Avg. 
Prog. 
Score 

Avg. 
Prog. 
Score 

Avg. 
Prog. 
Score 

%  RWM 
Expected 
standard 

National Threshold - -5.0 -7.0 -5.0 65% 

Aerodrome Primary Academy 90 -0.9 -0.1 +0.5 59% 

All Saints CofE Primary School 59 -0.3 -0.5 +0.7 61% 

Applegarth Academy 58 +9.9 +5.4 +9.8 93% 

Ark Oval Primary Academy 57 -3.0 +2.5 +0.0 47% 

Atwood Primary Academy 60 +2.0 +1.8 +3.7 83% 

Beaumont Primary School 31 +4.7 +4.4 +4.5 97% 

Beulah Junior School 88 -0.7 +0.2 +1.3 60% 

Broadmead Primary School 78 +1.1 +0.1 +0.2 42% 

Castle Hill Academy 61 -1.1 +0.6 -0.1 49% 

Chipstead Valley Primary School 59 +3.2 +2.7 +1.8 83% 

Christ Church CofE Primary School (Purley) 53 -1.1 +0.9 -1.6 70% 

Coulsdon CofE Primary School 29 +3.7 -2.3 +1.5 72% 

Courtwood Primary School 32 -2.5 +0.0 -2.7 63% 

Cypress Primary School 88 +0.8 +2.0 +1.0 66% 

David Livingstone Academy 30 +2.7 +1.7 +3.2 83% 

Davidson Primary Academy 65 +1.2 +1.2 -1.0 63% 

Downsview Primary and Nursery School 60 +1.7 -0.4 +2.5 83% 

Ecclesbourne Primary School 54 -1.1 -0.8 +0.9 70% 

Elmwood Junior School 118 -1.0 -0.2 +0.8 65% 

Fairchildes Primary School 61 +0.9 +0.7 +2.2 77% 

Forest Academy 69 -2.0 -0.5 -1.3 68% 

Forestdale Primary School 28 +3.2 +1.8 +4.3 82% 

Gilbert Scott Primary School 28 -6.0 -2.1 -1.8 43% 

Gonville Academy 59 +3.0 +1.0 +3.4 63% 

Page 95



Good Shepherd Catholic Primary and 
Nursery School 31 +1.0 +1.5 +2.4 74% 

Greenvale Primary School 32 -0.4 +1.1 -0.1 71% 

Gresham Primary School 32 -0.7 +1.5 +0.2 75% 

Harris Primary Academy Benson 53 +0.3 +2.5 +1.6 77% 

Harris Primary Academy Kenley 53 +1.6 -0.7 +0.6 77% 

Heavers Farm Primary School 108 -1.8 +1.4 -1.6 69% 

Howard Primary School 29 +1.9 +3.4 +2.6 86% 

Kenley Primary School 28 +0.3 -1.6 +2.0 57% 

Kensington Avenue Primary School 88 +2.5 +1.9 +3.2 68% 

Keston Primary School 59 +1.6 +1.9 +0.9 66% 

Kingsley Primary Academy 115 -2.7 -0.8 -2.2 43% 

Margaret Roper Catholic Primary School 32 -0.8 +1.2 +1.3 69% 

Monks Orchard School 60 -3.9 -4.3 -2.9 60% 

New Valley Primary School 27 +3.5 +2.2 +2.8 70% 

Norbury Manor Primary School 51 +4.6 +2.0 +7.2 63% 

Oasis Academy Byron 49 +3.4 +2.5 +4.0 88% 

Oasis Academy Ryelands 57 +2.3 +2.0 +3.3 65% 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park 60 +3.6 +3.1 +4.1 88% 

Orchard Way Primary School 30 -2.1 -0.1 -0.4 73% 

Park Hill Junior School 88 +1.0 -3.1 +2.4 73% 

Purley Oaks Primary School 86 +3.3 +2.0 +2.4 65% 

Regina Coeli Catholic Primary School 58 +4.9 +3.3 +3.4 83% 

Ridgeway Primary School 90 -0.3 -1.8 -0.7 66% 

Rockmount Primary School 57 -0.4 +0.5 +1.6 74% 

Rowdown Primary School 44 +1.8 +4.6 +3.3 52% 

Selsdon Primary and Nursery School 89 +0.7 +1.4 +2.1 56% 

Smitham Primary School 57 -0.3 -0.2 -1.4 65% 

St Aidan's Catholic Primary School 32 +2.3 +0.4 +1.6 75% 

St Chad's Catholic Primary School 58 +3.0 +3.0 +1.9 76% 

St Cyprian's Greek Orthodox Primary 
Academy 65 +0.8 +0.8 +3.7 88% 

St James the Great RC Primary and Nursery 
School 57 +4.8 +0.9 +2.7 81% 

St John's CofE Primary School 32 +3.8 +2.9 +0.9 78% 

St Joseph's RC Junior School 54 +2.5 +6.3 +2.5 74% 

St Mark's Church of England Primary 
Academy 21 +1.3 +1.4 +1.3 71% 

St Peter's Primary School 60 +1.6 -3.1 +0.7 52% 

St Thomas Becket Catholic Primary School 58 +0.1 +0.9 -0.1 74% 

St. Mary's Catholic Junior School 57 +0.8 -0.8 +4.4 70% 

The Crescent Primary School 141 -0.7 -6.6 -3.5 34% 

The Hayes Primary School 55 +3.0 +0.4 +0.4 76% 

The Minster Junior School 87 +1.8 +1.0 -0.1 68% 

The South Norwood Academy 71 +0.2 -1.4 +0.9 59% 

Page 96



The Woodside Academy 112 +2.8 +1.3 +3.1 76% 

Tudor Academy 86 -2.3 -1.7 -2.7 71% 

West Thornton Primary Academy 90 -1.0 -1.0 +0.6 68% 

Whitehorse Junior School 83 -1.0 -1.8 -0.1 71% 

Winterbourne Boys' Academy 74 +2.3 +5.2 +5.4 61% 

Winterbourne Junior Girls' School 88 +2.8 +8.4 +3.8 69% 

Woodcote Primary School 89 -1.5 +0.5 -0.8 70% 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2: Secondary School GCSE results 2018 by school 
Provisional results  

NB: Data for 2018 is not yet validated and may change. 

Academies 
The Council has not shied away from enacting structural solutions where local authority 
schools have been significantly underperforming. The results for the academies (in bold) in 
the chart can be compared and contrasted with the non-bold results for its predecessor 

Progress 8 9-5 

Estab. Name  Cohort Att. 8 Cov. 
Avg. 

Score 

EBac
c 

 Eng. 
LL 

EBac
c 

 Mat. E&M 

5+ 
Includin

g 
E&M¹ 

National (all schools)  584340 44.3 86.2% -0.08 56.5% 46.1% 39.9% 55.2% 

National (state-funded schools)  523760 46.4 94.5% -0.02 60.1% 49.1% 43.0% 59.7% 

DfE Region - London  76280 49.2 91.1% 0.23 66.6% 53.6% 48.5% 63.8% 

LA (state-funded schools) - Croydon  3454 45.7 89.1% 0.07 62.5% 47.4% 42.2% 58.0% 

Archbishop Tenison's CofE High School  106 52.3 93.4% 0.35 75.5% 52.8% 50.9% 69.8% 

Beckmead School  37 5.5 94.6% -2.45 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.7% 

Bensham Manor School  24 1.2 79.2% -1.6 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

BRIT School for Performing Arts and Technology  187 50.8 85.0% -0.13 83.4% 47.6% 46.0% 69.5% 

Coloma Convent Girls' School  148 61.5 95.9% 0.9 87.8% 70.9% 68.2% 87.2% 

Harris Academy Purley  150 45.2 96.7% 0.1 50.7% 51.3% 38.0% 58.7% 

Harris Academy South Norwood  246 46.8 90.2% 0.29 66.7% 51.6% 46.7% 58.1% 

Harris City Academy Crystal Palace  169 55.9 95.3% 0.44 73.4% 63.3% 59.2% 77.5% 

Meridian High School  76 36 90.8% -0.5 51.3% 25.0% 22.4% 36.8% 

Norbury Manor Business and Enterprise College for Girls  191 52.5 95.8% 0.41 80.6% 47.1% 44.0% 69.1% 

Oasis Academy Coulsdon  139 45.5 87.8% 0.12 65.5% 51.1% 46.8% 51.1% 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park  158 42.3 95.6% 0.04 50.6% 42.4% 34.8% 51.9% 

Orchard Park High (Croydon)  204 43.2 86.3% -0.04 54.4% 38.2% 31.9% 50.5% 

Priory School  11 0 90.9% -1.34 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Riddlesdown Collegiate  307 54.9 95.8% 0.6 83.4% 64.2% 61.9% 73.9% 

Shirley High School Performing Arts College  173 40.6 96.5% -0.6 55.5% 36.4% 30.1% 48.0% 

St Andrew's C of E School  129 37.6 86.0% -0.63 46.5% 40.3% 31.0% 38.0% 

St Giles School  3 0 100.0% -1.34 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

St Joseph's College  165 53.5 95.8% 0.35 72.7% 63.0% 57.6% 77.6% 

St Mary's Catholic High School  107 31.8 56.1% -0.62 31.8% 24.3% 20.6% 25.2% 

The Archbishop Lanfranc Academy  98 42.2 86.7% -0.01 52.0% 33.7% 30.6% 48.0% 

The Quest Academy  112 41.4 84.8% 0.16 54.5% 41.1% 30.4% 54.5% 

Thomas More Catholic School  136 46.3 82.4% 0.08 66.9% 52.2% 46.3% 60.3% 

Virgo Fidelis Convent Senior School  106 43.7 81.1% -0.15 51.9% 38.7% 33.0% 50.9% 

Woodcote High School  210 48.1 95.2% 0.07 62.9% 55.7% 47.1% 64.3% 

1 Pupils achieving A*-C/9-4 in 5 or more subjects 
including English and Maths

Significantly above 

Significantly below 

Page 99



school. The move to academy status remains one of the strategies the local authority is 
ready and willing to use, where appropriate, to effect rapid improvement in its schools. The 
Council continues to support and challenge all schools, regardless of status (for example 
through the link adviser mechanism). 

Schools which have only recently become academies may not yet show improved 
outcomes.  Where the local authority is concerned that improvement is not sufficiently rapid, 
the local authority holds to account the Regional Schools Commissioner (responsible for 
standards in academies) through regular discussion. 

Page 100



Appendix 3:  Exclusions from maintained schools and academies for 2017/18 

School FPEx PEx 
PEx 
Withdrawn 

PEx 
Reinstated 

Total 

Aerodrome Primary Academy 3 3 

All Saints CofE Primary School 11 11 

Applegarth Academy 9 1 10 

Archbishop Tenison's CofE High School 57 57 

Atwood Primary Academy 2 2 

Beckmead School 24 24 

Bensham Manor School 1 1 

Beulah Junior School 5 5 

Broadmead Primary Academy 7 7 

Castle Hill Academy 15 15 

Chestnut Park Primary School 6 6 

Christ Church CofE Primary School (Purley) 1 1 

Cypress Primary Academy 2 2 

David Livingstone Primary Academy 6 6 

Downsview Primary and Nursery School 8 8 

Fairchildes Primary Academy 2 1 3 

Forest Academy 1 1 

Gilbert Scott Primary School 5 5 

Gonville Academy 6 6 

Harris Academy Purley 108 1 1 110 

Harris Academy South Norwood 1 5 3 9 

Harris City Academy Crystal Palace 13 2 15 

Harris Invictus Academy Croydon 1 1 

Harris Primary Academy Benson 3 1 4 

Harris Primary Academy Haling Park 3 2 5 

Harris Primary Academy Kenley 1 1 

Heavers Farm Primary School 61 2 63 

Howard Primary School 2 2 

Kenley Primary School 5 5 

Kensington Avenue Primary School 4 4 

Kingsley Primary Academy 31 31 

Meridian High School 15 2 17 

Monks Orchard Primary School and Nursery 16 16 

New Valley Primary School 5 5 

Norbury Manor Bus. & Enterprise College  33 33 

Norbury Manor Primary School 8 8 

Oasis Academy Arena 110 1 111 

Oasis Academy Ryelands 4 4 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park 94 94 

Orchard Park High School 167 6 3 1 177 

Park Hill Infant School 3 3 

Purley Oaks Primary School 3 3 

Riddlesdown Collegiate 36 36 

Ridgeway Primary School 11 11 

Rockmount Primary School 11 11 

Rowdown Primary Academy 4 4 

Page 101



Saffron Valley Collegiate 38 38 

Selsdon Primary and Nursery School 8 8 

Shirley High School Performing Arts College 27 27 

Smitham Primary School 23 1 24 

St Andrew's CofE Voluntary Aided High School 123 123 

St Cyprian's Greek Orthodox Primary Academy 3 3 

St John's CofE Primary School 4 4 

St Joseph's College 66 66 

St Joseph's RC Infant School 15 15 

St Mark's CofE Primary Academy 4 4 

St Mary's Catholic High School 42 1 3 46 

St Mary's Catholic Junior School 4 4 

St Peter's Primary School 1 1 

The Archbishop Lanfranc Academy - Coloma Trust 15 15 

The Crescent Primary School 2 2 

The Minster Junior School 3 3 

The Quest Academy 1 1 

The Robert Fitzroy Academy 2 2 

The Woodside Academy 4 1 5 

Thomas More School 108 10 118 

Virgo Fidelis Convent Senior School 52 52 

West Thornton Academy 14 14 

Whitehorse Manor Infant - Pegasus Academy Trust 5 5 

Whitehorse Manor Junior - Pegasus Academy Trust 2 2 

Wolsey Infant School - closed 3 3 

Wolsey Junior Academy - closed 26 26 

Woodcote Primary School 4 1 5 

Grand Total 1522 39 10 2 1573 

Page 102



Appendix 4:  Exclusions from maintained schools and academies for 2017/18 for 
children with SEN, Children Looked After and by ethnic group. 

Exclusions by SEN Source: local data 

2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 

Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm 

Non-SEN 659 39 996 3 1379 20 816 10 663 16 744 6 

School Action 208 4 92 6 60 2 56 0 29 2 25 

School Action Plus 391 16 273 3 122 1 47 4 12 1 18 1 

Statemented 245 6 91 1 74 1 50 0 4 0 1 

EHCP 159 3 155 3 199 5 

Support 581 5 467 11 535 27 

Total Numbers 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

Exclusions by looked after children (LAC) Source: local data 

2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 

Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm 

Not Looked After 1461 64 1423 13 1613 24 1597 20 1276 33 1442 37 

Looked After Children 42 1 29 0 22 112 2 54 0 80 2 

Total Numbers 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

Exclusions by Ethnicity Source: local data 

2011/12 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2017/2018 

Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm 

ABAN - Bangladeshi 5 7 0 7 1 7 1 3 2 

AIND - Indian 12 6 0 11 11 0 2 5 

AOTH - Any other Asian background 23 23 0 17 1 17 1 19 24 

APKN - Pakistani 25 14 0 15 15 0 8 12 1 

BAFR - African 240 11 215 3 247 4 247 4 212 3 227 7 

BCRB - Black Caribbean 310 11 350 2 450 4 450 4 345 3 377 9 

BOTH - Any other Black background 61 66 2 106 3 106 3 92 1 64 1 

CHNE – Chinese 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

MOTH - Any other Mixed background 82 2 73 0 76 1 76 1 80 2 72 3 

MWAS - White/Asian 13 15 0 14 14 0 10 1 16 2 

MWBA - White/Black African 22 2 25 0 37 37 0 23 1 23 1 

MWBC - White/Black Caribbean 127 5 114 1 152 1 152 1 119 3 191 5 

NOBT - Info not obtained 5 1 29 1 32 32 0 36 3 79 

OOTH - Any other Ethnic Group 36 9 0 7 1 7 1 19 1 15 

REFU – Refused 17 18 0 36 2 36 2 14 1 23 2 

WBRI – British 459 26 419 4 433 4 433 4 304 12 332 8 

WIRI – Irish 6 14 0 6 6 0 4 1 

WIRT - Traveller - Irish Heritage 8 2 1 0 57 57 0 1 2 

Page 103



WOTH - Any other White background 49 2 49 0 6 6 0 37 2 55 

WROM - Roma/Roma Gypsy 3 1 5 0 0 0 0 2 1 

Total Exclusions 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

Exclusions by BME (Black African, Black Caribbean and Black Other) Source: local data 

2011/12 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2017/2018 

Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm 

BME Groups 611 22 631 7 744 12 803 11 649 7 669 17 

Other 892 43 821 6 891 12 906 11 681 26 853 22 

Total exclusions 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

Reasons for exclusions Source: local data 

2011/12 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2017/2018 

Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm Fixed Perm 

Bullying 34 33 0 35 0 28 1 13 0 14 

Damage 58 54 0 63 1 44 0 36 3 39 2 

Drug and alcohol related 54 3 53 0 68 1 58 1 33 3 38 2 

Other 115 2 112 0 135 2 201 0 238 2 155 2 

Persistent disruptive behaviour 295 26 333 3 400 3 457 6 242 12 376 11 

Physical assault against adult 160 9 126 2 151 1 170 1 198 2 203 8 

Physical assault against pupil 354 6 316 3 328 3 394 6 305 3 401 5 

Possession of Offensive Weapon 15 8 25 3 29 5 22 3 15 4 10 4 

Racist abuse 11 14 0 15 0 17 0 7 0 11 

Sexual misconduct 31 3 33 0 20 2 14 0 15 3 16 1 

Theft 61 1 34 0 42 0 34 1 19 0 26 

Verb abuse/threat behaviour adult 233 3 237 1 259 4 176 3 151 1 165 4 

Verb abuse/threat behaviour pupil 82 4 82 1 90 2 94 0 58 0 68 

Total Exclusions 1503 65 1452 13 1635 24 1709 22 1330 33 1522 39 

Page 104



Excluded pupils as percentage of school population Source: local data 

2018 EXCLUSIONS BY ETHNIC GROUP Pupils on roll 
Jan 2018 
census 

Excluded pupils as percentage of 
school population 2018 

Fixed Perm Total Fixed Perm Total 

ABAN - Bangladeshi 2 2 606 0.33 0.00 0.33 

AIND - Indian 5 5 2844 0.18 0.18 

AOTH - Any Oth Asian b'ground 24 24 3013 0.80 0.00 0.80 

APKN - Pakistani 12 1 13 2585 0.46 0.50 

BAFR - Black African 227 7 236 8586 2.64 0.08 2.75 

BCRB - Black Caribbean 377 9 388 5970 6.31 0.15 6.50 

BOTH - Any Oth Black b'ground 64 1 67 1596 4.01 0.06 4.20 

CHNE - Chinese 1 1 312 

MOTH - Any Oth Mixed b'ground 72 3 75 3630 1.98 0.08 2.07 

MWAS - White and Asian 16 2 18 1118 1.43 1.61 

MWBA - White and Black African 23 1 24 1101 2.09 2.18 

MWBC - White & Black Caribbean 191 5 198 2667 7.16 0.19 7.42 

NOBT - Info not yet obtained 79 24 377 20.95 6.37 

OOTH - Any other Ethnic Group 15 15 1146 1.31 0.00 1.31 

REFU - Refused 23 2 25 557 4.13 0.36 4.49 

WBRI - White British 332 8 343 15459 2.15 0.05 2.22 

WIRI - White Irish 1 1 209 0.48 0.48 

WIRT - Traveller - Irish Herit 2 2 36 5.56 

WOTH - Any Oth White b'ground 55 55 4844 1.14 1.14 

WROM - Gypsy/Roma 1 1 74 1.35 1.35 

Grand Total 1522 39 1573 56730 2.68 0.07 2.77 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5:  Explanation and identification of Statistical Neighbours 

The National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) was commissioned in 2007 
by the Department to identify and group similar LAs in terms of the socio-economic 
characteristics. Each LA was assigned 10 such neighbours. The original set of statistical 
neighbours was calculated from the following factors: 

• 2001 Census

• Annual population surveys between 2001 and 2005

• Labour force survey four quarterly averages – June 2004 to May 2005

• Annual survey of hours and earnings 2005

• The ODPM (Office of the Deputy Prime Minister) indices of multiple deprivation

• The DfE local authority data matrix

• DVLA information on vehicle numbers and ages

• CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) information on
availability of services 

Statistical neighbours were reviewed in 2014 using information from the 2011 census. 
This resulted in changes to Croydon’s neighbours which shows we are increasingly 
compared with inner London Boroughs and therefore suggests a change in our 
demographic to becoming increasingly similar to inner London Boroughs. 

Long term statistical 
neighbours 

New statistical 
neighbours 

Previous statistical 
neighbours 

Birmingham Brent (Outer London) Hillingdon (Outer 
London) 

Ealing (Outer London) Haringey (Inner 
London) 

Luton 

Enfield (Outer London) Lambeth (Inner 
London) 

Reading 

Greenwich (Outer London) Lewisham (Inner 
London) 

Redbridge (Outer 
London) 

Merton (Outer London) 

Waltham Forest (Outer 
London) 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6:Explanation of  Fair Access Process and breakdown of school 
referals. 

The School Admissions code requires each Local Authority to agree a fair access 
protocol with the majority of schools in its area to ensure that the most vulnerable 
children are found a place in a school without delay. The code instructs Local Authorities 
that the list of children considered under the protocol should be agreed locally but must 
include the following that can have difficulty obtaining a school place 

a) children from the criminal justice system or Pupil Referral Units who need to be
reintegrated into mainstream education; 
b) children who have been out of education for two months or more;
c) children of Gypsies, Roma, Travellers, refugees and asylum seekers;
d) children who are homeless;
e) children with unsupportive family backgrounds for whom a place has not been
sought; 
f) children who are carers; and
g) children with special educational needs, disabilities or medical conditions (but
without a statement or Education, Health and Care Plan) 

Cases presented at Secondary Fair Access Panel by School in 2017/18 

309 pupil referrals were considered by the Fair Access Panel during the 2017/18 
academic year. 101 cases were presented at panel as pupils requiring school places 
who were unable to be placed though the normal admissions procedures 

When cases were presented at panel by schools in 2017/18 they were considered 
under the following categories: 

A. Avoidance. Cases were presented in this category when a pupil was at risk of 
permanent exclusion 

B.  Prevention. Cases were presented in this category when it was judged by the 
school that a pupil would benefit from a fresh start in another setting 

C. Breakdown. Cases were presented in this category when placement peviously 
agreed at the Fair Access Panel had not been successful. 

In 2017/18 115 cases were presented by schools under the avoidance category; 79 
cases were under the category of prevention; and 14 were placement breakdowns. 

Page 109



The following table gives the number of cases presented by Croydon secondary 

schools in each category during the 2017/18 academic year. 

Secondary Fair Access - Referrals and Offers 2017/18 

Croydon Establishment No. of Offers No. of Referrals 

Archbishop Lanfranc 7 8 

Archbishop Tenison 3 1 

Beckmead CLT (AP) 9 0 

BRIT School 0 0 

CACFO (AP) 0 2 

Coloma Convent 0 0 

Harris Crystal Palace 0 3 

Harris Invictus 2 12 

Harris Purley 12 4 

Harris South Norwood 17 20 

John Ruskin 1 0 

Meridian High School 9 21 

Norbury Manor BEC 9 2 

Oasis Academy Arena 10 10 

Oasis Academy Coulsdon 4 8 

Oasis Academy Shirley Park 8 7 

Orchard Park 12 19 

Riddlesdown Collegiate 15 8 

Shirley High School 8 4 

St Andrews 33 19 

St Joseph's 6 5 

St Mary's Catholic 10 6 

Saffron Valley (AP) 72 38 

The Quest Academy 10 13 

Thomas More Catholic 4 3 

Virgo Fidelis 14 3 

Woodcote High 12 3 

Page 110



Appendix 7: Croydon School Improvement Plan 

Croydon Council and its partner agencies working with children, young people and 
families in Croydon share high aspirations and ambition for their future. To secure our 
ambition, we need to deliver the very best services. The progress made by Croydon 
schools in terms of inspection outcomes has been heartening: nevertheless we 
continue to press for all schools to be good or outstanding and for children to achieve 
outcomes in line with their peers in London at all key stages. 

There are two key strands to our vision: 
1. Every school a school of choice: every pupil in Croydon educated in a school providing

at least a good standard of education

2. Excellent outcomes for children and young people: every child becoming the best they

can be, with high comparative outcomes and vulnerable groups in line with their peers

Our School Improvement Plan sets the framework for this work, presenting a clear 
direction of travel and explicit priorities for action. The key priorities have been 
developed as a result of a detailed analysis of our local authority data, they form the 
basis for some aspirational targets. The key priorities are as follows: 

 Promote high standards in all schools, particularly where areas of weakness
have been identified i.e. Outcomes for CLA, outcomes for pupils with an EHCP
and close the difference between our highest attaining and lowest attaining
schools

 Ensure that vulnerable schools and schools causing concern, including
academies, improve rapidly by building on the success of the SPRM process
and robustly challenging any slow progress, making full use of statutory powers
when required. Where appropriate hold challenging conversations with the
RSC and Diocese

 To enable schools to improve English and mathematics outcomes at a faster
rate, in all key stages, by securing differentiated, quality assured training and
development. Monitor closely the impact of any projects (SSIF). Particularly
boys attainment at KS4

 Support and challenge post-16 collaboration to strengthen post-16 curriculum,
viability and standards

The following page sets out our vision, key priorities, targets and improvement partners 
to ensure we achieve the best outcomes for all our children and young people. The 
Council’s governance mechanism for school improvement, its Learning and 
Improvement Board, will monitor the delivery and impact of the action plan that sets out 
how we will deliver these priorities. 

Page 111



Croydon council vision for school quality and standards 
1. Every school a school of

choice: every pupil in 

Croydon educated in a 

school providing at least 

a good standard of 

education

2. Excellent outcomes for
children and young people: 

every child becoming the best 
they can be, with high 

comparative outcomes and 
vulnerable groups in line with 

their peers

School Improvement Plan:  Targets 

To enable schools to improve English and 
mathematics outcomes at a faster rate, in all key 

stages, by securing differentiated, quality 
assured training and development. In particular 

outcomes for boys at KS4 
Monitor closely the impact of any projects. 

Promote high standards in all schools, 
particularly where areas of weakness have 

been identified i.e. Outcomes for CLA, 
outcomes for pupils with an EHCP and close 
the difference between our highest attaining 

and lowest attaining schools

Sustain EYFS outcomes so that we are in line 
with London averages and remain on an 

upward trajectory beyond 2017 

Improve / sustain KS1 attainment in reading, 
writing and mathematics so that we remain 

above national and narrow gaps with London 
where appropriate. 

Maintain the percentage of pupils achieving the expected level of 

combined attainment at the end of KS2 to be above national. Close the 

gaps in outcomes with other London boroughs 

Sustain the reduction in the number of 
schools falling below floor standards 

Close the progress gap, at key stages 4 and 5, between 

Croydon’s schools and our statistical neighbours and 

towards London averages 

Increasing post-16 participation in 
education, employment and 

training. 
Close the gaps in attainment by age 

19 

Reduce the number of schools judged 
as requiring improvement by Ofsted 

School Improvement Plan:  Key Priorities 

Ensure that vulnerable schools and schools causing 
concern,including academies, improve rapidly by 
building on the success of the SPRM process and 

robustly challenging any slow progress, making full 
use of statutory powers when required. 

Where appropriate hold challenging conversations 
with the RSc and Diocese 

Increase the number of pupils achieving a combined 
English and mathematics grade Level 9 -4 so that Croydon 

pupils do as well as their peers across London 

School Improvement Plan: Enablers

Local Authority Octavo Partnership Teaching Schools Other quality assured providers 

P
age 112



Appendix 8 
Definition of Progress 8 / Attainment 8: 

Progress 8 and Attainment 8 are two measures that schools have been judged against since 2016. They are designed to encourage 
schools to offer a broad and balanced curriculum at KS4. 

Progress 8 aims to capture the progress a pupil makes from the end of primary school to the end of compulsory secondary school 
education. It is a type of value added measure, which means that pupils’ results are compared to the actual achievements of other pupils 
with the same prior attainment. It is based on a pupil’s progress measured across 8 subjects: 

 English

 Mathematics

 Three other English Baccalaureate (EBacc) subjects (sciences, computer science, geography, history and languages)

 Three further subjects, which can be from the range of EBacc subjects, or can be any other GCSE or approved academic or
vocational qualification

Attainment 8 will measure the average achievement of a pupil across 8 qualifications including mathematics (double weighted) and English 
(double weighted), 3 further qualifications that count in the English Baccalaureate (EBacc) measure and 3 further qualifications that can be 
GCSE qualifications (including EBacc subjects) or any other non-GCSE qualifications on the DfE approved list. 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 REPORT TO: SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE 

 

5 February 2019 

SUBJECT: EDUCATION BUDGET – 2019/20 

 

LEAD OFFICER: Kate Bingham, Head of Finance – Children, Families 
and Education 

CABINET MEMBER: 

 

Councillor Alisa Flemming – Cabinet Member for 

Children, Young People and Learning 

Councillor Simon Hall, Cabinet Member for  

Finance and Resources 

 

ORIGIN OF ITEM This item is contained in the Sub-Committee’s work 
programme 

BRIEF FOR THE 

COMMITTEE 

To scrutinise the proposed 2019/20 Education Budget 

 

 

1.  INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND TO FUNDING 

1.1  The report sets out the various components of the 2019/20 Education Budget 
to enable this committee to review the proposals for the coming year. 

1.2  The Education budget can broadly be split into two areas, which are: 
 

 Revenue expenditure, funded via the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), for 
the day to day running costs of schools, the provision for children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities as well as two, three 
and four years olds in addition to the services to fulfil the statutory services 
of the council; and    
 

 Capital expenditure in relation to the requirement to provide school places 
and essential maintenance. 
 

1.3 The report will cover each area in turn. 
 

2.  DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT 

2.1  In March 2016 the Department for Education (DfE) announced the National 
Funding Formula (NFF) proposals and in the two consultations that followed 
set out the intentions for school funding going forward. The intention was to 

Page 115

Agenda Item 8



implement the NFF by December 2016, however due to delays the government 
announced in May 2017 that the NFF would be in place from April 2018 with a 
soft implementation of the NFF being available to Local Authorities (LAs) for 
2018/19 and 2019/20. A further announcement in July 2018 extended this 
implementation period by an additional year, in light of the significant progress 
in the first year of the NFF, and to continue to support a smooth transition, LAs 
will continue to determine local formulae in 2020/21.   

2.2 This option allows LAs, following Schools Forum authorisation, to apply local 
rates / amounts to each of the factors that determine the allocation (such as 
Minimum Funding Guarantee and income deprivation affecting children) prior 
to the distribution of funding to schools.  Croydon’s School Forum finalised 
those decisions on 21st January 2019. 

2.3 The majority of funding for education in Croydon comes from the DfE in the 
form of the DSG - a grant that is received by the local authority on a financial 
year basis and funds all aspects of education that relate directly to children. The 
grant is split into four blocks: a schools block, a high needs block, an early 
year’s block and a central schools services block. The 2019/20 DSG allocation 
was published on the 17th December 2018. 

2.4 Funding for mainstream and special Academies is included within the DSG 
allocation for the LA for transparency but is not actually paid to the LA as it is 
passed directly to academies by the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA). The removal of funding from the DSG allocation for academies is 
known as recoupment and it is anticipated the 2019/20 DSG allocation will be 
recouped by more than £166 million against the schools and high needs block 
allocation. 

2.5 The total 2019/20 DSG allocation for Croydon is £341.667 million and is 
detailed in table 1 below. 

 

Table 1 - DSG allocation 
Financial Year 
 

Schools 
block  

(before 
recoupment) 

Early 
years 
block 

High needs 
block 

(before 
recoupment) 

Central 
Services 
Schools 

block 

Total  
DSG 

allocation 

 (£million) (£million) (£million) (£million) (£million) 

Final 2018/19 243.874 26.697 60.211 6.177 336.959 

2019/20 247.512 26.691 61.347 6.117 341.667 

Movement between 
2018/19 and 2019/20 

3.638 -0.006 1.136 -0.060 4.709 

 
 

2.4  In 2019/20, Croydon will see an increase in the level of DSG funding of £4.709 
million compared to 2018/19.  Reasons for the increases are detailed below:  

  

Page 116



2.5.1 Schools Block (before recoupment) net increase of £3.638 million 

There has been an increase in pupil numbers by 260 to 51,037 in 2019/20. As 
a result there is an increase in funding of £5.999 million offset by a reduction in 
the growth, premises and mobility factors of £2.361 million, the latter two due 
to changes in the local formula allocation in 2018/19 and the growth element 
now being allocated on observed differences of changes in pupil numbers as 
opposed to being based on previous year’s allocation amounts. 

 

2.5.2 Early Years Block – £0.006 million decrease 

There is a slight reduction in the indicative funding levels for 2019/20 from the 
2018/19 final grant and work is continuing on the allocation Early Years Block 
and could be subject to further adjustment following the finalisation of the 
January 2019 census. 

 

2.5.3 High Needs Block – £1.136 million increase 

There is a net increase of £1.14 million in the High Needs Block. 

The funding for High Needs through the NFF for 2019/20 is based on three 
elements; the NFF allocation, the basic entitlement factor and the import/export 
adjustments.  

NFF allocation 

There has been an increase in the NFF allocation of £0.949 million (based on 
population increases and proxy indicators including a free school meals (FSM) 
factor; an income deprivation affecting children index (IDACI) factor; a bad 
health factor; a disability factor and Key Stage 2 and 4 low attainment factors. 

Basic entitlement 

There is also additional growth in the basic entitlement as, whilst the per pupil 
element remains the same as that in 2018/19 at £4,348.33, there is an increase 
of 43 in the number of pupils at special schools/academies, resulting in 
additional funding of £0.187 million. 

Import/export adjustments  

The import/export adjustments element currently remains the same as that 
calculated in 2018/19 and will be updated in May/June 2019 with the January 
2019 Census data and the February 2019 Individualised Learner Record data. 
The intention is to reflect more precisely the movement of pupils and students, 
and therefore the funding. 

Additional funding 

The Education Secretary announced, on 16 December 2018, an additional 
£250 million for high-needs funding for LAs over the next two years.  The 
additional funding is split evenly over the current (2018/19) and next (2019/20) 
financial year. 

Croydon is the recipient of £0.998 million in both 2018/19 and 2019/20, 
receiving an additional £1.966 million over the two years.  

Page 117



Prior to this announcement, the Schools Forum (November 2018) agreed to 
transfer funding of 0.5% in 2019/20 from the schools block to the high needs 
block. This equates to £1.235 million (based on the notional DSG allocation, full 
allocations confirmed December 2018).  This decision will be implemented and 
the top slice applied against the high needs carry forward overspend. 

 

2.5.4 Central Services Schools Block – £0.060 million decrease 

In 2018/19, the NFF created a fourth block within the DSG called the Central 
Services Schools Block (CSSB). This block is made up of two parts –Reported 
spend on Ongoing Functions and Reported spend on Historic Commitments. 

Ongoing Functions  

The Reported spend on Ongoing Functions includes services such as School 
Improvement and Education Welfare, totals £2.905 million. 

The 2019/20 allocation for ongoing functions has reduced by £0.059 million 
(despite pupil numbers increasing by 260) based on a reduction in the CSSB 
unit of funding decreasing from £58.37 per pupil in 2018/19 to £56.91 in 
2019/20. 

Historic Commitments  

The Reported spend on Historic Commitments consists of the prudential 
borrowing costs for a PFI contract and historic teacher pension costs, totals 
£3.21m, which remains unchanged from 2018/19 

 

2.6 Recovery plans for DSG deficits 

2.6.1 Following a brief consultation period the DfE has introduced, as a condition of 
the 2019/20 DSG, the requirement to provide recovery plans for DSG deficits. 

2.6.2 Where a LA has an overall deficit on DSG of one per cent or more at the end 
of the 2018/19 financial year, it must by 30th June 2019 submit a recovery plan 
to the DfE, setting out how it plans to bring the overall DSG account into balance 
within a maximum of three years. In exceptional cases the authority may 
propose to leave some of the accumulated deficit outstanding, where it is not 
practicable to do otherwise. The recovery plan should be discussed and, if 
possible, agreed with the Schools Forum, and will require Chief Finance Officer 
sign off prior to submission to the DfE. Further guidance on the process and 
format for submitting the recovery plan will be issued in early 2019.   

2.6.3 For these purposes, a deficit should be calculated against gross DSG for 
2018/19 before recoupment, as most recently notified to the authority by the 
DfE.  For Croydon, one percent of the gross 2018/19 DSG allocation (as set out 
in Table 1) equates to £3.370 million.  Table 4 illustrates the current projected 
deficit as at the end of the 2018/19 financial year as £12.643 million. 

2.6.4 Croydon has set out a five year strategy for its high needs with key areas to be 
targeted. The intention is to improve the provision while reducing the 
expenditure in order to ensure that we can fulfil our statutory duty to be meet 
the needs of all pupils with special education needs. 

Page 118



2.6.5 Both the consultation proposal and the final conditions of the 2019/20 DSG are 
silent on any sanctions that may imposed as a consequence of non-compliance 
or, in fact, what non-compliance would look like. 

2.6.6 The full consultation question and Croydon’s response to the consultation is 
included in Appendix 1 of this report where it should be noted that a case was 
put forward for the recovery plan to be based on a more realistic and strategic 
time frame of five years. 

 

2.7 DSG Funding Formula 

2.7.1 The DSG funding formula is maintained by the finance function of the LA and 
agreed by the Schools Forum and its working groups. The Schools Forum is 
actively involved in working with the LA to agree the principles of the DSG local 
funding formula and there are dedicated working groups for schools, early years 
and high needs funding blocks. These working groups are attended by 
representatives from all education establishments in the borough. 

2.7.2 From 2018/19 the NFF provides two per pupil funding rates, one for primary 
pupils and one for secondary pupils.  The 2018/19 rates per pupil were 
£4,238.50 for primary pupils and £5,317.93 for secondary pupils.  In 2019/20, 
the respective funding rates are £4,293.34 and £5,460.88. 

2.7.3 The above rates are multiplied by the number of primary and secondary pupils 
on roll to determine the LA’s schools block allocation shown in Table 1 above. 
The LA then applies local factors that have been set by Schools Forum in order 
to determine the actual allocation per pupil and the individual schools budgets. 
Local factors include growth, de-delegation and deprivation. Therefore the 
amounts set out above will change to smooth out the transition to NFF rates as 
per the decisions made by Schools Forum.  

 Schools block 

2.7.4 The Schools Block funding formula was submitted to the DfE on the 21st 
January 2019 using the budget principles authorised by the Schools Forum 
over the autumn period. Once agreed by the DfE the detailed school budgets 
will be finalised and these will be issued to schools in March 2019.  

2.7.5 Tables 2 and 3 below set out the 10 highest and 10 lowest schools block funded 
LAs in London on a per pupil basis for primary and secondary pupils, with 
Croydon ranked 25th out of 32 London boroughs. Whilst the all ten boroughs 
within the bottom 10 have remained the same, Croydon’s ranking has slipped 
one place since 2018/19 – mainly due to the changes introduced to the 
calculation of the growth element of the Schools Block. 

2.7.6 Although Croydon has seen an increase in its funding allocation the amount 
which other boroughs have received has increased and this results in the 
continuation of the gap between how much extra a pupil in one of our nearest 
neighbours for example Lambeth is funded compared to Croydon.  The tables 
starkly illustrate the funding differentials between inner and outer London 
boroughs with the latter experiencing many of the same cost, provision and 
recruitment pressures as the former. 

 

Page 119



Table 2 - DSG 2019/20 Schools block allocations per pupil – Highest Funded 
London Authorities 
 

Rank 
 

Local Authority 
 

2019/20 schools 
block primary 
unit of funding 

(£s) 
 

2019/20 schools 
block secondary 
unit of funding 

(£s) 
 

1 Tower Hamlets 5,922.81 7,861.06 

2 Hackney 5,908.79 7,872.97 

3 Southwark 5,537.79 7,756.04 

4 Lambeth 5,471.45 7,394.57 

5 Camden 5,389.25 6,928.20 

6 Islington 5,250.48 6,962.29 

7 Newham 5,363.43 6,711.34 

8 Hammersmith and Fulham 5,208.92 7,011.63 

9 Westminster 5,283.58 6,775.56 

10 Kensington and Chelsea 5,324.58 6,749.35 

 

 
Table 3 - DSG 2019/20 Schools block allocations per pupil – Lowest Funded 
London Authorities 
 

Rank 
 

Local Authority 
 

2019/20 schools 
block primary 
unit of funding 

(£s) 
 

2019/20 schools 
block secondary 
unit of funding 

(£s) 
 

23 Harrow 4,137.79 5,637.69 

24 Hillingdon 4,278.46 5,697.71 

25 Croydon 4,293.34 5,460.88 

26 Havering 4,054.28 5,494.97 

27 Redbridge 4,037.49 5,372.22 

28 Sutton 4,104.09 5,141.16 

29 Bromley 4,200.43 5,183.14 

30 Bexley 3,961.51 5,317.31 

31 Kingston upon Thames 4,057.44 5,172.17 

32 Richmond upon Thames 3,853.54 5,289.35 

 

 

2.7.7 The minimum funding guarantee (MFG) will continue to be applied, hence no 
school or academy will see a reduction of more than minus 1.5% per pupil 
compared to its 2018/19 budget (this excludes sixth form funding). MFG 
protects schools’ budgets from large changes in funding based on factor 
changes. It protects school funding on a £ per pupil basis. This means it will not 
protect a school against falling roll numbers. 

 Early years 

2.7.8 The Early Years block allocation for Croydon is based on a nationally set rate 
of a: 

 £5.13 hourly rate for three and four year olds; and 

 £5.66 for two year olds  

Page 120



The allocation will be updated following the January 2019 census.  Based on 
the indicative 2019/20 allocation, the following components of the draft budget 
for 2019/20 will be proposed to the Schools Forum on 21st January 2019: 

 £5.66 for two year olds  

 A (provisional) increase in rate for three and four year olds in 2019/20 to 
£4.73 (£4.50 in 2018/19). 

High needs 

2.7.9 The 2019/20 High Needs allocation is £61.35 million based on the October 
2018 census, with further adjustments expected for January 2019 census data, 
February 2019 Individualised Learner Record data and adjustments for hospital 
education funding. The budget for 2019/20 was authorised by the Schools 
Forum on the 21st January 2019.   

2.7.10 At Q1 2018/19, the High Needs block forecast overspend was £12.202 million 
(including previous years overspends). Based on this forecast, on the 28th 
November 2018, Schools Forum agreed to transfer funding of 0.5% in 2019/20 
(from the 2019/20 funding to be used for the 2018/19 overspend) from the 
provisional Schools Block to the High Needs Block.   At that time, the 0.5% 
equated to £1.235 million. 

2.7.11 The Q2 position has increased the High Needs Block forecast overspend to 
£12.643 million.  In addition, as the final allocation of the Schools Block was 
slightly higher than that of the provisional allocation – the 0.5% top slice would 
increase to £1.238 million, resulting in an overall projected DSG overspend for 
2018/19 of £11.405 million. 

2.7.12 Table 4 illustrates previous year’s movements between the schools block and 
the high needs block and year end overspend. 

Description  Amount 
£ million  

2015/16 High Needs Outturn            2.568  

2016/17 DSG Top Slice            1.466  

2015/16 Overspend Carry Forward            1.102  

    

2016/17 High Needs Outturn            5.721  

2017/18 DSG Top Slice            2.246  

2016/17 Overspend Carry Forward            3.475  

    

2017/18 High Needs Outturn            8.650  

2018/19 DSG Top Slice            1.219  

2017/18 Overspend Carry Forward            7.431  

    

2018/19 High Needs Outturn          12.643  

2019/20 DSG Top Slice            1.238  

2018/19 Overspend Carry Forward          11.405 

 

2.7.13 The above transfer to the High Needs Block is in addition to the funding 
allocation of £1.966 million received for 2018/19 and 2019/20.   

Page 121



2.7.14 The budget pressures are principally attributable to the increase in demand, 
which has led to an over-reliance on the independent / non-maintained sector, 
due to shortage of local state funded special schools and / or resourced 
provision.  This is being addressed and a strategy developed to move to a more 
sustainable framework. 

2.7.15 Croydon Council has a long term plan to increase special schools, Enhanced 
Learning Provision and post 16 specialist places, including a new free special 
school with 150 places opening in September 2020.  Through this strategy the 
intention is to provide an effective pathway of local education provision for 
young people which is an efficient use of resources and supports young people 
in becoming independent in or near their local community. 

 2.7.16Management of the high needs block and reducing the overspend requires that 
together there is an approach that manages reliance on EHCP plans for 
children with lower levels of SEN, reduces demand and ensure placements of 
children are delivered through the continuum of state-funded education 
provision at efficient values. 

 

2.8 Academies 

2.8.1 Academies are funded directly from ESFA on an academic year basis. 

2.8.2 As stated previously, mainstream and special academies funding is included 
within the DSG allocation for the LA for transparency and is not actually paid to 
the LA but passed directly to academies. The removal of funding from the DSG 
allocation for academies is known as recoupment. 

2.8.3 This amount will be subject to change depending on the number of schools that 
convert to academies during the year. Of the 56,826 pupils on roll full time and 
part time at main point of registration in October 2018, 37,886 (67%) are in 
academy schools. This is an increase of 4% since October 2018.  

2.8.4 Croydon currently has four open free schools, two primary and two secondary. 
The existing free schools (The Harris Invictus Free, Paxton Academy Sports 
and Science, Krishna Avanti Primary school and Coombe Wood School) are all 
funded by the ESFA in the same manner as academies are funded. Funding 
for non-mainstream free schools (e.g. special or alternative provision free 
schools) are funded differently. 

2.8.5 Croydon has plans to open the Addington Valley Academy a special free school 
for 150 pupils aged from 2-19, with Autism Spectrum Disorder and learning 
difficulties in September 2020.  

 

2.9 Pupil Premium 

2.9.1 Pupil Premium funding is awarded in addition to the DSG and is allocated on a 
per pupil basis for pupils who meet the criteria. The aim of the funding is to raise 
the attainment of disadvantaged pupils and close the gap between them and 
their peers. Funding is currently awarded on a per pupil basis for any pupil who 
has:- 

 been eligible for Free School Meals in the last 6 years. 

Page 122



 children (aged 4 to 15) who have been looked after for one day or more, 
adopted from care or leave care under a special guardianship or residency 
order, and 

 children whose parents are in the armed forces are also eligible. 

2.9.2 The 2019/20 funding allocation is yet to be announced (anticipated in mid-2019) 
and rates per pupil remain the same as 2018/19. The 2018/19 allocation was 
updated in December 2018 to take account for the October 2018 census data. 
This resulted in an allocation of £21.424 million for Croydon, based on per pupil 
rates of £1,320 for children in reception year 1 to year 6, and £935 for pupils in 
year 7 to year 11 and £2,300 for looked after children (LAC) and £300 for 
children whose parents are in the armed forces being distributed to the schools 
fully.  The 2018/19 allocation was higher than the 2017/18 allocation, mainly 
due to the increased per pupil rate for LAC (from £1,900 to £2,300). 

 
2.10 Revenue Funding 

2.10.1 The Council is required to provide some education functions as a statutory duty. 
These include statutory education welfare, the Virtual School for Looked After 
Children, exclusions, children who are electively home educated, the 
commissioning of Alternative Provision, and intervention in schools causing 
concern. In addition, the School Improvement team has oversight of standards 
in primary, secondary, special schools and pupil referral units. They generally 
focus on improving service delivery, raising standards, narrowing the gap, 
enriching the curriculum and building learning communities. Other services 
include 16-19 services (NEET tracking), the schools music service, and 
commissioning of Octavo (the school improvement mutual). 

2.10.2 In 2018/19, a new DSG block i.e. the Central School Services block (CSSB) 
was created with the aim of funding LA’s for statutory duties they hold for both 
maintained schools and academies. It brings together: 

 Funding for ongoing responsibilities such as admissions 

 Funding previously allocated through the retained duties element of the 

education services grant (ESG) 

 Residual agreed funding for historic commitments  

2.10.3 The CSSB was resourced by virement from the School block which is where 
the above commitments have to date been funded from. Please note the CSSB 
does not include (and is not intended to) funding for any central front line 
budgets and commitments held in the Early Years and High Needs blocks  

2.10.4 The aim of the CSSB is to improve transparency and recognise the continued 
need to use DSG funding (within laid out parameters) to fund centrally managed 
commitments which support front line and support service functions.  

2.10.5 The Council faces financial challenges in the coming years as a result of 
reductions in funding and grants provided by central government.  Over the 
medium-term to 2019/22 the Council has a projected funding gap of £26 million. 

Page 123



2.10.6 The focus of the work to date has been to get to a balanced position for 2019/20 
that will be presented to Cabinet in February and Council in March. No 
additional savings are expected from within the Education budget. 

2.10.7 It is assumed that capital receipts will continue to be allocated where 
appropriate to fund transformation programmes and projects that support the 
assumptions made in the MTFS, this includes the transformational activities in 
the Children’s Services Improvement Plan. 

 
 

2.11 Capital Funding 

2.11.1 The four year education capital programme, along with the necessary funding 

required for the supply of these places, was presented to Council in January 

2019 as part of the council’s Croydon’s Education Estates Strategy.  

2.11.2 Based on Croydon’s recent School Capacity (SCAP) Survey and forecasts of 

pupil numbers submitted to the DfE in July 2018, our latest estimates suggest 

that there will be sufficient places in Croydon primary and secondary schools 

to accommodate children for the next three years. Currently, there is a higher 

level than necessary of spare capacity / surplus places in some of the primary 

school planning areas and council staff are currently working with the relevant 

schools to manage this spare capacity / surplus places. 

2.11.3 The cost of this programme over the 4 year period is estimated at £62.967m 

over the period 2019/20 – 2021/22.  This is predominantly funded from a 

combination of council borrowing and other funding grants, as detailed in Table 

5 below. 

2.11.4 Full details of the programme are included in Appendix 2 of this report. 

 

Table 5 – Education capital programme (to be updated) 
 

Funding Source 2018/198 
£m 

2019/20 
£m 

2020/21 
£m 

2021/22 
£m 

School Condition Funding 3.715 0 0 0 

Basic Needs 0 6.833 0 0 

Special Provision funding 0 0.969 0.969 0 

ESFA – Addington Valley 
School 

0 10.000 3.510 0 

Borrowing 17.184 23.636 11.182 5.020 

Total Cost of Education 
Programme 

20.899 41.438 15.661 5.020 

 
 

  

Page 124



3. CONSULTATION 

3.1 All Departments have been consulted during the preparation of this report. 
Individual projects and programmes within the budget will also be subject to 
necessary consultation as required. 

 

4 FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 The report is submitted by Lisa Taylor – Director of Finance, Investment and 
Risk (Deputy S151 Officer). 

 

5 COMMENTS OF THE COUNCIL SOLICITOR & MONITORING OFFICER 

5.1 The Solicitor to the Council comments that the Council is under a duty to ensure 
that it maintains a balanced budget and to take any remedial action as required 
in year. 

Approved by: Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on behalf 
of Jacqueline Harris-Baker Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring 
Officer 

 

6 HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT 

6.1 There are no direct Human Resources considerations arising from this 
report, but items from savings packages and action plans that need to be 
developed in response to the report are likely to have an HR impact. Where 
that is the case, the consultation and planning must be in line with HR policies 
and procedures and HR advice must be sought from the assigned provider. 
Council HR should be kept informed of proposals.   

Approved by: Sue Moorman Director of Human Resources 

 

7 EQUALITIES IMPACT 

7.1 The funding allocations and formulae are set nationally and are therefore 
already subject to an equality assessment. 

7.2 In setting the Education Budget 2019/20, the Council has taken into account 
the need to ensure targeted funding is available for work on raising the 
attainment of disadvantaged pupils who are likely to share a “protected 
characteristic” (as defined in the Equality Act 2010) and close the gap between 
them and their peers.  This will help the Council meet its equality objective to 
improve attainment levels for white working class and Black Caribbean 
heritages, those in receipt of Free School Meals and Looked After Children, 
particularly at Key Stage 2 including those living in six most deprived wards 

Approved by: Yvonne Okiyo Equalities Manager 

 

8 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

8.1 There are no direct implications contained in this report. 

Page 125



 

9 CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT 

9.1 There are no direct implications contained in this report. 

 

10 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS/PROPOSED DECISION 

10.1 The recommendations are to scrutinise and note the budget position for 
education funding. There is no direct action requested at this point. 

 

11 OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

11.1 Given the current budget position there is no requirement for additional action 
at this time. 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance Investment 
and Risk (Deputy S151 Officer) 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 

APPENDICES:  

Appendix 1 Croydon LBC Response to the Consultation 
on the implementation of new arrangements 
for reporting deficits of the dedicated schools 
grant  

Appendix 2 Capital Programme Budget Summary 

  

Page 126



APPENDIX 1 

Croydon LBC Response to the Consultation on the implementation of new 

arrangements for reporting deficits of the dedicated schools grant  

 

The Department for Education (DfE) is consulting on new arrangements for reporting 

deficits of dedicated schools grant (DSG) 

The response deadline is the 7th December 2018 

Overview of proposal 

Any authorities that propose to leave part or all of their accumulated DSG deficit 

outstanding will need to provide a clear explanation as to why their deficits could not 

be recovered in the short term and provide thorough evidence to support their 

proposals. They will also need agreement from their Chief Finance Officer (CFO).  

We expect a range of evidence to support local authority recovery plans. We would 

expect this to have already been presented to schools forums. We are aware that DSG 

deficits are usually caused by high needs pressures, and in these cases the evidence 

required in the recovery plans will typically include what we already look for in block 

movement disapplication requests. Authorities will, however, need to address 

whatever the main causes of overspending on the DSG have been.  

The evidence should include: 

 A full breakdown of specific budget pressures locally that have led to the local 
authority incurring a cumulative DSG deficit of over 1%. Where this has resulted 
from high needs pressures, information  should include the changes in demand 
for special provision over the last three years, how the local authority has met 
that demand by commissioning places in different sectors (mainstream and 
special schools, further education and sixth form colleges, independent 
specialist provision and alternative provision), and if there have been any 
reductions in the provision for mainstream school pupils with high needs 

 Where the deficit has resulted from high needs pressures, an assessment and 
understanding of the specific local factors that have caused an increase in high 
needs costs to a level that has exceeded the local authority’s high needs 
funding allocations; and a plan  to change the pattern of provision where this is 
necessary, as well as to achieve greater efficiency and better value for money 
in other ways; together with evidence of the extent to which the plan is 
supported by schools and other stakeholders 

 A detailed recovery plan showing how the authority intends to bring its DSG 
reserve back into balance within three years, showing clearly how expenditure 
will be contained within future funding levels 

 If the authority judges that it cannot recover the whole of its cumulative DSG 
deficit within three years, it must explain the reasons for this. If the authority 
wishes to defer recovery of some of the cumulative deficit, it must show in its 
recovery plan that it is able to at least contain its expected in year expenditure 

Page 127



within its expected in year DSG income by the end of the three-year period 

 Details of any previous movements between blocks, what pressures those 
movements covered, and why those transfers have not been adequate to 
counter the new cost pressures 

 Assumptions on assumed future transfers between blocks of the DSG, if 
permitted in future years, and evidence of support from the schools forum and 
wider school community for these 

 

Response to proposal 

Croydon along with other Local Authorities across the country has experienced an 

increase in demand on the High Needs (HN) DSG budget. This demand has 

outweighed the resources available from national government. The impact on Croydon 

with its rapidly increasing school-age population can be measured in the increase of 

over 800 children with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) over the past 3 

years, there are now approximately 2500 EHCP’s in the borough. This increase is not 

reflected in the funding received as 45% of the HN funding is based on historic costs. 

Consequently, the HN DSG budget has moved from a position of being almost £3m in 

surplus in 2012/13 to a £8.6m deficit at the end of 2017/18 financial year.  

Croydon welcomes the above proposal as it signals that national government is 

recognising the serious issue of funding not matching the demand within the HN block. 

We would also strongly request that the formula used to calculate the HN funding be 

reviewed and updated following on from this consultation.  

Croydon has set out a 5 year strategy for its HN with key areas to be targeted. The 

intention is to improve the provision while reducing the expenditure in order to ensure 

that we can fulfil our statutory duty to be meet the needs of all SEN pupils.  

We would therefore propose: 

1. A detailed recovery plan showing how the authority intends to bring its DSG 
reserve back into balance within five years, showing clearly how expenditure 
will be contained within future funding levels 

2. For the cumulative deficit, the recovery plan should be on a more long term 
view beyond the five year plan, with support from national government. 

 

 

Page 128



Planning 
Area 

Provision Location   APPENDIX 2 

    
2018/19 
Revised 

Budget Q2  
 2019/20   2020/21   2021/22  

 Totals 
2018/19 to 

2021/22  

     £   £   £   £   £  

  Table 1 - Primary School Places           

  Permanent Expansions           

North West 2FE West Thornton Academy, Canterbury Road 3,668,537  159,596  70,000  35,241  3,933,374  

North West 3FE Chestnut Park Academy 187,453  45,000  53,338   285,791  

North West 3FE Ark Bayes New Free School (2019-20)      -    

Central 3FE Harris Academy, Purley Way 854,417  149,756  50,000  43,520  1,097,693  

Central 2FE Heathfield Academy, Aberdeen Road 491,000  94,958  65,000  63,467  714,425  

Central 1FE Ark Oval Academy 78,924  -        78,924  

East 1FE St John's C of E 103,845  57,000  57,000  47,000  264,845  

East 1FE Heavers Farm   47,000  47,000  47,130  141,130  

South 1FE Christ Church 288,562  47,000  47,000  67,667  450,229  

South 2FE Collegiate New Free School (2019-20)         -    

South West 1FE Chipstead Valley 160,316  47,000  47,000  63,381  317,697  

South West 1FE Woodcote 211,101  -        211,101  

South West 1FE Smitham 3,567,812  72,000  72,000  32,000  3,743,812  

  Additional Educational Projects 1,138,743        1,138,743  

  Bulges         -    

Central 1FE Krishna Avanti Free School 18-19         -    

East 1FE The Robert Fitzroy Academy 2019-20   300,000      300,000  

  Additional Educational Projects 1,753,095        1,753,095  

Various Contingency Provision 250,000  600,000  336,173  -    1,186,173  

  Table 1 Sub-Totals 12,753,805  1,619,310  844,511  399,406  15,617,032  

  Table 2 - Secondary School Places           

North 6FE School at Arena 150,000  -    -    -    150,000  

North 2.3FE Archbishop Lanfranc - (PSBP2) 1,581        1,581  

North 6FE Ark Blake New Free School Morland Road (2019-20)         -    

North 6FE New Free  School - Harris Academy (Site TBC)         -    

South 6FE Coombe Wood Free School (2018-19)         -    

  Table 2 Sub-Totals 151,581   -    -    -    151,581  

  Table 3 - SEN Places           

South 2FE St Nicholas Special School 4,135,493  13,240,000  7,201,986  472,825  25,050,304  

South 1FE(Bulge) Red Gates Special School 347,098  20,000  -      367,098  

South ELP for Boys and Girls with ASD (TBC) 900,000  100,000  -      1,000,000  

South Enhanced Learning Provision for MLD (14 places) (TBC) 900,000  100,000  -      1,000,000  

South New Free Special School (150 places) for ASD 100,000        100,000  

South John Ruskin College/Springboard 700,000  5,000      705,000  

South Post 16 SEN Temp. Modular - Coulsdon College Site   -    -      -    

East Beckmead School (Forest Academy)   -        -    

North Beckmead School 702,749  -        702,749  

North Priory School 58,071  -        58,071  

South East Girls Provision at Salcott Crescent 41,957        41,957  

Various Nurture Provision in 4 Primary Schools         -    

Various Invest to Save Projects – Red Gates Primary School 968,855  968,855  968,854  -    2,906,564  

Central Post 16 SEN Centre of Excellence with Croydon College 1,750,000  1,550,000  -      3,300,000  

South East Addington Valley Academy ESFA funded project   10,000,000  3,510,000    13,510,000  

  
HARRIS FEDERATION SEN RB (25 place ASD resource 
base) Riddlesdown 

408,379        408,379  

  HAZELGLEN PKA VICTORIA HOUSE  38,070        38,070  

  OASIS ARENA SEN RB 101,000        101,000  

South East Timebridge SEN School (LA Support) feasibility   100,000  -      100,000  

  Table 3 Sub-Totals 11,151,672  26,083,855  11,680,840  472,825  49,389,192  

  Table 4 - Major Maintenance           

Various Major Maintenance Works 3,653,440  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  9,653,440  

Various Fire Safety Works 2,000,000  1,000,000      3,000,000  

  Table 4 Sub-Totals 5,653,440  3,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  12,653,440  

  Table 5 - Other Education Schemes           

North Elmwood Juniors Kitchen Replacement   325,000      325,000  

South Kenley Internal Re-modelling Works   120,000      120,000  

South St Giles Internal Re-modelling Works   110,000      110,000  

Various 
Actual and Planned Expenditure on Other Education 
Programme Capital Projects 

1,206,421  147,000  272,000  206,588  1,832,009  

Various Basic Need Allocation (Remainder)   4,233,299      4,233,299  

  Table 5 Sub-Totals 1,206,421  4,935,299  272,000  206,588  6,620,308  

              

  Totals  30,916,919  35,638,464  14,797,351  3,078,819  84,431,553  

Page 129



 

Page 130



REPORT TO: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY 
SUB- COMMITTEE  

5 JANUARY 2019 

SUBJECT: WORK PROGRAMME 2018-19 

LEAD OFFICER: 
Simon Trevaskis, Senior Democratic Service and 

Governance Officer- Scrutiny  

CABINET MEMBER: Not applicable  

 

ORIGIN OF ITEM: The Work Programme is scheduled for 
consideration at every ordinary meeting of the 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Sub - 
Committee.   

BRIEF FOR THE COMMITTEE: To consider any additions, amendments or changes 
to the agreed work programme for the Committee in 
2018/19. 

 
1.   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This agenda item details the Committee’s work programme for the 2018/19 

municipal year.  
 

1.2 The Sub-Committee has the opportunity to discuss any amendments or 
additions that it wishes to make to the work programme. 

 
 
2. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
2.1 The work programme  

The proposed work programme is attached at Appendix 1.   
 
Members are asked to note that the lines of enquiry for some items have yet 
to be confirmed and that there are opportunities to add further items to the 
work programme. 
 
 

2.2 Additional Scrutiny Topics 
Members of the Sub-Committee are invited to suggest any other items that 
they consider appropriate for the Work Programme.  However, due to the time 
limitations at Committee meetings, it is suggested that no proposed agenda 
contain more than two items of substantive business in order to allow effective 
scrutiny of items already listed.  
 

2.3 Participation in Scrutiny 

Page 131

Agenda Item 10



Members of the Sub-Committee are also requested to give consideration to 
any persons that it wishes to attend future meetings to assist in the 
consideration of agenda items. This may include Cabinet Members, Council 
or other public agency officers or representatives of relevant communities. 
 
 

3 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The Sub-Committee is recommended to agree the Scrutiny Work Programme 

2018/19 with any agreed amendments. 
 
3.2 The Sub-Committee is recommended to agree that topic reports be produced 

for relevant substantive agenda items in the future. 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:     Stephanie Davis  
   Democratic Services and Governance 

Officer- Scrutiny  
020 8726 6000 x 84384  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:    None 
 
APPENDIX 1  
Work Programme 2018/19 for the Children and Young People Scrutiny Sub-
Committee. 
 

Page 132



Children & Young People Sub-Committee 2018/19 Work 
Programme 

Meeting Date Item 

19 June 18 - Learning & Development Session 

18 September 18 

- Children’s Improvement Plan Update 

- Recruitment & Retention Update 

- Performance Data 

- Children’s Statutory Complaints Update 

- Children’s Safeguarding Board Annual Report (S) 

27 November 18 

- Children’s Improvement Plan Update (S) 

- Children’s Complaints Overview Report  

- Academies  

- Special Educational Needs 

- Practice Week  

14 January 2019 - Review of New Safeguarding Arrangements Proposals  

5 February 19 

- Children, Young People & Learning Q & A  (S) 

- Education Budget (S) 

- Education Standards (S) 

12 March 2019 

- Children’s Improvement Plan Update & Children’s Social Care 
Annual Report (S) 

- Children’s Complaints Report 

- Update on SEN Strategy 

- Task and Finish Group- Exclusions and Off Rolling  

 

  

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous sub-committee meeting
	6 Cabinet Member Question Time: Cabinet member for Children Young People and Learning
	7 Education Quality and Standards
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8

	8 Education Budget 2019/20
	10 Work Programme 2018/19
	Work Programme




